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          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: My name is Joel

          3  Rivera. I'm the Chair of the Health Committee. Here

          4  in City Hall. The topic of today's hearing is the

          5  Mayor's Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget for the Health

          6  and Hospitals Corporation, and the Department of

          7  Health and Mental Hygiene.

          8                 HHC is a $5 billion a year public

          9  enterprise that serves many of the City's uninsured,

         10  as well as the general public. With over 1 billion

         11  in City money dedicated to HHC each year, it is

         12  crucial that the Corporation maintain the highest

         13  standards of transparency and accountability.

         14                 Today we will focus on the

         15  Corporation's capital program.

         16                 The Department of Health and Mental

         17  Hygiene's Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget is $1.5

         18  billion. In developing this Executive Budget, the

         19  Department has included new funding for the

         20  expansion of primary care capacity and funding for a

         21  rodent control pilot program in the Bronx. We will

         22  discuss a number of budgetary issues, in particular

         23  we look forward to hearing details regarding funding

         24  provided to DOHMH for the New York City 2030 Air

         25  Quality study and the Department's primary care
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          2  information project expansion, which looks to

          3  implement the first electronic medical record system

          4  to be designed for ambulatory care settings.

          5                 Mr. Alan Aviles, President of the

          6  Health and Hospitals Corporation, and Dr. Thomas

          7  Frieden, the Commissioner of the Department of

          8  Health and Mental Hygiene will provide testimony

          9  shortly. Before hearing from our witnesses, I would

         10  like to note that we have been joined this morning

         11  by my colleagues. To my left by Council Member Diana

         12  Reyna, and we have Council Member Maria del Carmen

         13  Arroyo, and to my right we have Council Member Helen

         14  Sears and we'll be joined momentarily by the rest of

         15  our Committee. And we have Council Member Alan

         16  Gerson. How can I miss Alan Gerson and his district.

         17                 So, at this point in time you may

         18  begin, Mr. President.

         19                 MR. AVILES: Good morning, Chairman

         20  Rivera, members of the Health and Finance Committees

         21  and other distinguished members of the New York City

         22  Council. I am Al Aviles, President of New York City

         23  Health and Hospitals Corporation, and thank you for

         24  the opportunity to discuss the Fiscal Year 2008

         25  Executive Budget and provide you with an update of
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          2  our status on our capital projects.

          3                 The Executive Budget contains a 1.5

          4  percent PEG for Fiscal Year '07 and a four percent

          5  PEG for Fiscal Year '09 and beyond for HHC. We've

          6  submitted a PEG proposal to OMB which has been

          7  accepted to reduce our City subsidy by the targeted

          8  amounts.

          9                 As I mentioned at the Preliminary

         10  Budget hearing, funding for several City Council

         11  sponsored programs that was restored to last year's

         12  budget was not baselined. As a result, HHC will

         13  receive $21.8 million less in Fiscal Year '08 for

         14  the operation of our Child Health and Communicare

         15  Clinics, behavioral health programs, HIV and TB

         16  programs, as well as our Pharmacy Fee Waiver

         17  Program.

         18                 Specifically, we will receive $12.2

         19  million less for the operation of Child Health

         20  Clinics and Family Health Communicare Clinics; $6.2

         21  million less for substance abuse, mental health and

         22  mental retardation, developmental disabilities

         23  programs; $2.4 million less for the provision of

         24  waivers of the $10 outpatient pharmacy fee; and $1

         25  million less for HIV and TB services. I would urge
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          2  the Council to continue its support of all of these

          3  programs.

          4                 In addition, funding in the amount of

          5  $3 million, not including Article 6 matching funds

          6  for the HIV testing expansion program, included in

          7  last year's budget, and $1 million in funding for

          8  the TEMIS program expansion was not baselined.

          9                 As you know, TEMIS stands for

         10  Technology Enhanced Medical Interpreting System. It

         11  enables remote simultaneous translation services to

         12  patients and providers, via wireless headsets.

         13                 TEMIS currently operates at Bellevue,

         14  Gouverneur, and at certain locations at Kings County

         15  Hospital, and will be operational at our East New

         16  York Diagnostic and Treatment Center by the end of

         17  this month.

         18                 TEMIS interpretation is now available

         19  in eight languages, Spanish, Mandarin, Cantonese,

         20  Fukinese, Bengali, French, Haitian, Creole and

         21  Polish. There are a total of 27 interpreters on

         22  staff at Bellevue who can provide simultaneous

         23  translation through TEMIS to patients and providers

         24  at Bellevue, Gouverneur, Kings County and East New

         25  York. A portion of the granted capital funds allowed
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          2  HHC to renovate and expand the call center at

          3  Bellevue to accommodate the increased interpreter

          4  staff. The hours of TEMIS availability were also

          5  expanded to cover ten hours per day, 10:00 a.m. to

          6  6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.

          7                 In order to expand TEMIS to be

          8  available to patients served at Lincoln, Harlem,

          9  Metropolitan, Elmhurst and Queens Hospitals, HHC

         10  would need an additional $2 million in funding.

         11                 I'm going to bring up a few images

         12  that relate to our capital program. This is one that

         13  just reflects the Bellevue Hospital Center TEMIS

         14  Interpretation Unit, which as you can see is

         15  basically a complex of cubicles and each of them is

         16  outfitted to allow an interpreter to connect to the

         17  TEMIS system. These interpreters are highly trained

         18  and simultaneous translation, a much more difficult

         19  skill than sequential translation, and it allows the

         20  patient to actually get the illusion that the

         21  provider is directly speaking to that patient in his

         22  or her language, because as the provider speaks to

         23  the patient, simultaneously that patient hears their

         24  language. It's been an extraordinarily successful

         25  program.
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          2                 Last year, with funding from the City

          3  Council and through the extraordinary effort and

          4  innovation of facility staff, we tested more than

          5  100,000 patients for HIV infection, a 65 percent

          6  increase above the year before.

          7                 In the process we identified more

          8  than 1,500 patients who were HIV positive and did

          9  not know it, and linked those patients to care.

         10                 This year, the $5.2 million,

         11  including Article 6 matching funds made available by

         12  the Council, have enabled us to continue our HIV

         13  testing expansion initiative. We've increased the

         14  use of rapid testing and continue to expand testing

         15  in a broad range of patient care settings.

         16                 Our role is to test at least 150,000

         17  individuals this year. For the first nine months of

         18  this fiscal year, we have tested more than 97,000

         19  individuals, which is more than the total number of

         20  individuals tested for the previous 12-month period

         21  at this time last year.

         22                 We continue to reach out to more

         23  patients with testing throughout our outpatient

         24  clinics, connect with more adolescents and focus on

         25  the growing population of HIV-infected seniors. As a
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          2  result, HIV-infected individuals would not otherwise

          3  have been identified have gotten into care early,

          4  when the disease can best be managed. We believe our

          5  efforts will also be effective in reducing the rate

          6  of HIV transmission, and in lessening the stigma of

          7  HIV.

          8                 Moving to the capital portion of the

          9  budget, HHC has made significant capital investments

         10  to ensure that our public hospital system is

         11  positioned to serve future generations of New

         12  Yorkers. We are pleased that the Executive Budget

         13  contains a funding commitment of $300 million over

         14  the next ten years towards our ongoing capital

         15  needs.

         16                 This past year we completed work on

         17  the new ambulatory care pavilions at Kings County

         18  and Queens Hospital Centers, we also started or

         19  continued construction on several other major

         20  projects, including modernization of Harlem Hospital

         21  Center, a new pavilion for behavioral health care at

         22  Kings County, a new ambulatory care pavilion at

         23  Jacobi, and the expansion of the emergency

         24  department and outpatient clinics at Lincoln.

         25                 I just wanted to show you the work
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          2  that is being done on the portion of the Harlem

          3  modernization project preparation, which includes

          4  the restoration storage and ultimate relocation of

          5  historic murals at Harlem. These three shots

          6  reflect, at the lower right, the Verdes Hayes mural,

          7  above that -- I'm sorry, I got them mixed up. The

          8  Seabrook, the Georgette Seabrook is in the lower

          9  right-hand, the Verdes Hayes is above that, and then

         10  one of the two Austin murals to the left. The Verdes

         11  Hayes has already been removed and put in storage.

         12  The other two are in, still in preparation for

         13  imminent removal and storage and they will all be

         14  located to the new Harlem Hospital pavilion once

         15  it's completed.

         16                 And we're thankful, of course, to the

         17  Council, because a portion of the funding for this

         18  work was provided by former Council Member and

         19  current State Senator Bill Perkins.

         20                 In addition, our capital dollars have

         21  been invested in our long-term care facilities in

         22  our community health clinics. Design is underway for

         23  the modernization of Gouverneur. Last year we

         24  completed the construction of the impressive new

         25  home for our Bedford Stuyvesant Alcoholism Treatment
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          2  Program, and we've upgraded the physical plants of

          3  some of our community-based health centers,

          4  including the Junction Boulevard Family Health

          5  Center in Queens. With funding from Council Member

          6  Michael McMahon, we have also completed renovations

          7  in the new and expanded home for our Mariners Harbor

          8  Child Health Clinic at Staten Island, which will

          9  open in June of this year.

         10                 And, again, this is just a photo of

         11  the Mariners Harbor site. It's a site that was

         12  previously owned and operated by the St. Vincent's

         13  system and was spun off as part of the bankruptcy

         14  proceeding, and it will be ready for use very

         15  shortly.

         16                 As part of our commitment to earlier

         17  diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease,

         18  we continue to upgrade and increase the number of

         19  cardiac catheterization centers. New units opened

         20  last year at Bellevue and at Jacobi, and a Kings

         21  County unit will be completed later this year. In

         22  all, we will have new or renovated catheterization

         23  labs at six of our hospitals.

         24                 Over the past year, we have also

         25  installed new 64 slice computerized tomography or CT
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          2  scanners at four of our hospitals - Lincoln, Queens,

          3  Woodhull and Coney Island. We want to acknowledge

          4  the City Council for the $1.25 million provided for

          5  the Coney Island Hospital CT scanner. That scanner,

          6  as you can see here, has been fully installed and

          7  has been operational for the last couple of months.

          8                 With three new labor delivery and

          9  recovery units completed in 2006 at Coney Island,

         10  Kings County and Lincoln, all HHC hospitals can have

         11  both state-of-the-art maternity suites. The Cancer

         12  Care Pavilion at Elmhurst Hospital is nearing

         13  completion. We're grateful for the Council's

         14  financial support for this project, and we have an

         15  image of that as well. You can see it here, it's at

         16  the very corner of the campus of Elmhurst Hospital

         17  Center and it as well will be ready to begin

         18  operation later this year.

         19                 Another cancer care center is

         20  currently in development at Kings County, for which

         21  $5 million was generously provided by the City

         22  Council. The design is now complete and we

         23  anticipate starting construction later this summer.

         24                 In support of our corporate-wide

         25  initiative to improve family planning and other
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          2  services for women, beginning with the development

          3  of a women's options center at Kings County funded

          4  by the Council, the Administration allocated $6

          5  million for additional women's options centers at

          6  Elmhurst, Lincoln and Jacobi. The Elmhurst Center is

          7  anticipated to open this fall, construction will

          8  commence at Lincoln this summer, the design phase of

          9  the Jacobi project has begun. 7.6 million in

         10  additional funding is needed for the final phase of

         11  the women's options centers at Bellevue, Coney

         12  Island, Queens, and Woodhull Hospitals. And again,

         13  just to give you a sense of how that money has been

         14  spent, this is the Kings County -- was the Kings

         15  County Women's Options Center.

         16                 I am pleased to report that progress

         17  has been made towards the development of senior

         18  housing on the campus of the SeaView Hospital

         19  Rehabilitation Center and home on Staten Island.

         20                 This project is a result of a

         21  collective effort among the Mayor's Office, HPD, HHC

         22  and Council Member James Oddo.

         23                 As evidence of our commitment to

         24  enhance uninsured Staten Islander's access to health

         25  services, I've taken the following actions in recent
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          2  weeks. First, I announced at the end of April a

          3  one-year extension of our Staten Island Health

          4  Access Program or SIHA. SIHA is a temporary program

          5  designed to expand access to medical care for

          6  low-income uninsured residents on Staten Island's

          7  North Shore, including the growing population of

          8  undocumented immigrants.

          9                 SIHA was originally designed to

         10  bridge the health care needs of North Shore

         11  residents until the new community health center of

         12  Richmond was established and its service capacity

         13  expanded. The SIHA program began in December 2005,

         14  and was scheduled to end on June 30th, 2007. The

         15  program will be extended through June 30th, 2008

         16  with an additional $2 million commitment from HHC to

         17  support doctors' visits, diagnostic and lab services

         18  and prescription drugs.

         19                 HHC also funds facilitated enrollment

         20  services conducted by the Jewish Community Center of

         21  Staten Island through the SIHA program, so that

         22  individuals who are eligible for public health

         23  insurance can have access to this important

         24  resource.

         25                 Nearly 3,000 uninsured Staten
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          2  Islanders have taken advantage of the program and

          3  654 individuals have been assisted with obtaining

          4  government sponsored health insurance to date.

          5                 In addition, last week HHC purchased

          6  a community health facility at 155 Vanderbilt Avenue

          7  in Staten Island for $1.37 million. The current

          8  tenant in this site, St. Elizabeth Ann's Health Care

          9  & Rehabilitation Center, operate an HIV day program.

         10  When the current tenant vacates the site, one

         11  possibility for the use of a portion of this space

         12  would be the relocation of the Stapleton Child

         13  Health Clinic.

         14                 We are also open to exploring with

         15  Richmond University Medical Center the co-location

         16  of other services. And on your screen is a shot of

         17  that recently acquired facility on Staten Island.

         18                 This concludes my written testimony.

         19  I look forward to listening to your comments, and

         20  answering your questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         22  much. Before we begin with the line of questioning,

         23  I want to introduce my colleague, Council Member

         24  Jimmy Oddo, who has joined us, as well as Council

         25  Member Simcha Felder, from Brooklyn, who has joined
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          2  us as well, and Council Member Rosie Mendez.

          3                 In your testimony, and in the packet

          4  that's been presented to us, it shows that there is

          5  a budgetary surplus of $395 million in capital

          6  funds, and HHC has committed $128 million, $128.5

          7  million of capital needs, and has left out there

          8  $258.2 million. That still needs to be taken care of

          9  and I understand that we're here today, you know,

         10  addressing the Council to see if that can be taken

         11  on our side.

         12                 But has there been an effort to get

         13  the funding from in-house, since there is a 1.5

         14  times the amount in terms of the surplus?

         15                 MS. ZURACK: I'm not sure of the

         16  source of that document. Are you looking at a

         17  multi-year period, and there may be appropriations

         18  that are going to be rolled over?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes. It's the

         20  Fiscal 2008 to 2011 that shows the $395 million in

         21  excess appropriation that is not currently

         22  identified what it's going to be utilized for, in

         23  comparison to the $128.5 million in commitments

         24  that's already been designated and the $258 million

         25  that's --
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          2                 MR. AVILES: As part of the $300

          3  million ten-year capital plan? Because if that's

          4  what we're talking about, about 150 million of that

          5  is earmarked for regulatory compliance and code

          6  compliance, as well as for some needed upkeep

          7  related to plant integrity and safety issues.

          8                 The balance of the other $150 million

          9  would be used for routine equipment replacement

         10  during that period of time. The exact equipment that

         11  would be earmarked for replacement, as well as some

         12  more minor infrastructure capital improvement has

         13  not been yet fully identified.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: But with such a

         15  large surplus, wouldn't it be a wise decision to use

         16  some of it for the TEMIS program and other capital

         17  needs that are not currently being funded?

         18                 MS. ZURACK: No, these items, and I

         19  apologize, because I didn't really understand the

         20  first question, these items have always been in the

         21  HHC capital budget. HHC had originally planned to go

         22  to the marketplace to issue its own bonds to cover

         23  these items, and it was determined through

         24  discussions with the City that it was cheaper for

         25  the City to do it. So, what you're really seeing is
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          2  sort of a timing of line itemizing these items that

          3  had always been in the HHC capital plan for years

          4  and years and years, and they're really routine

          5  maintenance of the physical plant, so they've been

          6  ongoing. And as I said, originally these would have

          7  been funded with HHC bonds, but we decided for

          8  efficiency sake that it would be cheaper for the

          9  City to issue the bonds on our behalf, and then

         10  there was the process of putting that in the City

         11  capital budget and ultimately the City will line it

         12  out to match those specific projects. I mean, we

         13  have a list of very detailed projects that have

         14  always been on HHC's plans, and we'll get you that

         15  list very shortly, but it's not a surplus.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So the 395 is not

         17  a --

         18                 MS. ZURACK: It's not a surplus. It's

         19  not a surplus, it's just a switch in the source of

         20  funding.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.

         22                 At this point in time my colleague,

         23  Council Member Jimmy Oddo has a question, and then

         24  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo, then Council

         25  Member Alan Gerson, and we've been joined by Council
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          2  Member Oliver Koppell.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Chairman. And good morning, everyone. I

          5  just have to point out that Council Member Maria del

          6  Carmen Arroyo made a comment to me that it seems

          7  that there's a Staten Island focus on some of the

          8  testimony. And it was a joke, and it was taken in

          9  its intended light. But I hope and I have to say

         10  this, and I don't want to start the hearing off on a

         11  negative note, but I hope my colleagues understand,

         12  that please don't get the impression that Staten

         13  Island is getting more than its fair share from HHC

         14  based on this testimony. In reality we have said now

         15  for several decades that we are underserved. And

         16  while I appreciate the reference to myself and

         17  Council Member McMahon and our efforts, and I

         18  appreciate the projects alluded to, the refrain that

         19  you are hearing from Staten Islanders louder than

         20  ever is that we are tired of being underserved by

         21  HHC.

         22                 So, I don't want anyone in this room

         23  or anyone watching to think, my goodness, HHC is

         24  Staten Island-centric, because, in fact, it is not.

         25                 And I would also ask the Chair's
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          2  indulgence, to kind of give me a little leeway in my

          3  next kind of questioning.

          4                 Mr. Aviles, what does HHC think about

          5  breastfeeding?

          6                 MR. AVILES: We --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Does HHC have a

          8  policy about breastfeeding?

          9                 MR. AVILES: We are strong supporters

         10  of encouraging breastfeeding for mothers who deliver

         11  in our facilities.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is HHC

         13  establishing a multi-disciplinary team in each of

         14  its hospitals to encourage breastfeeding, given all

         15  of the medical evidence to date about the advantages

         16  to the mother and the child of breastfeeding?

         17                 MR. AVILES: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can you tell me

         19  where on Staten Island and what hospital and what

         20  HHC facility that new multidisciplinary program is

         21  being started?

         22                 MR. AVILES: No, Councilman, we do not

         23  have an acute care facility on Staten Island.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, the

         25  multi-disciplinary team, the benefits of
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          2  breastfeeding that you're working in the Bronx and

          3  Manhattan and Queens and Brooklyn, will not be made

          4  available to any of the folks on Staten Island?

          5                 MR. AVILES: I would hope that both of

          6  the hospitals on Staten Island, which are non-profit

          7  organizations, that are, I assume, equally devoted

          8  to the care of --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The question is

         10  what HHC is doing on Staten Island in that regard?

         11  And the answer is nothing.

         12                 MR. AVILES: The answer is that we are

         13  doing a great deal. As you know --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, no. The

         15  question, Mr. Aviles, is vis-a-vis the

         16  multi-disciplinary breastfeeding program that you

         17  are starting in four of the boroughs, what is HHC

         18  doing on Staten Island? The answer is?

         19                 MR. AVILES: The answer is that any of

         20  our initiatives that are focused solely on our

         21  activity in acute care facility do not happen on

         22  Staten Island because we do not have an acute care

         23  facility.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, we will add

         25  breastfeeding initiative, along with mammographies,

                                                            25

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  colonoscopy and all the other screenings that HHC --

          3                 MR. AVILES: That's not true.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That HHC

          5  directly provides mammographies and colon screens,

          6  and don't give me the nonsense about working with

          7  the profit hospitals, HHC does not directly provide

          8  those screenings and add this breast feeding program

          9  to a list, a growing list of services that HHC

         10  provides directly to the citizens in four of the

         11  five boroughs.

         12                 MR. AVILES: I think that's very

         13  unfair, Councilman, because the reality --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You know what's

         15  unfair, Mr. Aviles, your treatment of Staten Island

         16  is unfair. For decades you have failed miserably.

         17  That's unfair. And to come back to my office

         18  yesterday and to find out that the nurses at Staten

         19  Island University Hospital are desperate to run this

         20  program, and read a letter from the Department of

         21  Health, Deborah Kaplan, to say regrettably no

         22  additional funding for breastfeeding earmarked to

         23  the HHC is available. That's what's frustrating and

         24  that's what's unfair.

         25                 MR. AVILES: Well, that's not a letter

                                                            26

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  from us, it's from the Department of Health. But be

          3  that as it may, as you know we have --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Not a letter

          5  from you. Pass the buck, as you always do.

          6                 MR. AVILES: Council member, I thought

          7  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Pass the buck,

          9  as you always do.

         10                 MR. AVILES: I thought you were asking

         11  me questions, which generally requires an

         12  opportunity for an answer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right. Go ahead.

         14  Go ahead, and don't spin it off to someone else.

         15                 MR. AVILES: I'm not spinning it off

         16  to anybody else. Colonoscopies and mammographies,

         17  because we do not have a dedicated facility, we have

         18  entered into contracts with both Staten Island

         19  University Hospital and Richmond University Medical

         20  Center --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: That's not good

         22  enough. That's not good enough. If you think that's

         23  living up to your responsibility --

         24                 MR. AVILES: -- For them to provide

         25  mammographies and colonoscopies --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: -- Then you

          3  failed miserably.

          4                 MR. AVILES: That is how we have

          5  created additional capacity and have allowed the

          6  facilities on the Island --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And you haven't

          8  reached into your pocket for a dime to pay for that.

          9                 MR. AVILES: Excuse me?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You haven't

         11  reached into your pocket. And that's Laray Brown's

         12  testimony.

         13                 MS. BROWN: No, no, no.

         14                 MR. AVILES: Where do you think that

         15  money comes from?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You reached to

         17  the privates?

         18                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Since when?

         20                 MS. BROWN: This year we can give you,

         21  we'll send you, Council Member Oddo, the -- excuse

         22  me -- we can send you the dollars that we have in

         23  fact paid to both Staten Island University and

         24  Richmond University Medical Centers.

         25                 Two years ago, we had put aside
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          2  dollars and they had not drawn the dollars, if

          3  that's what you're referencing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

          5                 MS. BROWN: However, this year what we

          6  did was, because the hospitals did not draw the

          7  dollars down directly, we provided the funding

          8  through the Healthy Women's Partnership because they

          9  have an existing mechanism to fund those hospitals.

         10  We provided the dollars to them, and as a matter of

         11  fact, we now have evidence that the dollars have

         12  been drawn down, have gone to those hospitals for

         13  the colon screenings, and, in fact, I was told

         14  directly by a couple of the physicians from Staten

         15  Island University and Richmond University about

         16  individuals who have come, gotten colon screening,

         17  and in fact there were incidence of pre-cancerous

         18  conditions that were addressed, vis-a-vis that

         19  relationship. We will provide you that information.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The two years

         21  into the program now suddenly the money has been

         22  drawn down. So, up until when? When was the money

         23  drawn down, a week ago, a month ago?

         24                 MS. BROWN: No. We can provide you

         25  with the information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do that. Please

          3  do that.

          4                 MS. BROWN: That the hospitals now are

          5  tapping the funds. The availability of the funds was

          6  there. The fact that they did not draw the dollars

          7  down is not our fault.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If you in your

          9  heart-of-hearts believe that that is an equal

         10  treatment of Staten Island relative to the other

         11  boroughs, your sense of fairness blows my mind.

         12                 Let me ask you, what is the public

         13  response of HHC to State Senator Andrew Lanza's

         14  legislation in Albany mandating that HHC spend a

         15  certain percentage of its capital budget on Staten

         16  Island?

         17                 MR. AVILES: It was my understanding

         18  that it was not limited to our capital budget. That

         19  it went more to operational expense, specifically to

         20  underwrite the deficit at the voluntary hospitals on

         21  Staten Island.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And your public

         23  position on that is?

         24                 MR. AVILES: That the support of

         25  voluntary hospitals across this City is really
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          2  within the purview of the State Department of

          3  Health, that that is not part of HHC's mission. But

          4  having said that, the work that we are doing, and we

          5  will continue to do to expand primary care capacity,

          6  will have the affect of helping to divert some of

          7  the uninsured patients that are served, particularly

          8  by Richmond University Medical Center on the North

          9  Shore, which has a disproportionate share of the

         10  indigent care on Staten Island.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How much is the

         12  capital plan? Is the capital plan $1.1 billion?

         13                 MR. AVILES: It's $1.2 billion over

         14  the next five years.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How much of that

         16  is being spent on Staten Island next year?

         17                 MR. AVILES: Next year or next five

         18  years?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Next five years.

         20                 MR. AVILES: About $30 million, and we

         21  have a proposal for a major modernization at Seaview

         22  for $128 million. We anticipate about 75 million of

         23  that would be spent during the next five years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: What percentage

         25  of the overall budget would you say that is?
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          2                 MR. AVILES: Well $100 million of 1.2

          3  billion is about nine percent.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, if I can

          5  interject? I mean, I can understand my colleague's

          6  frustration. Obviously he represents an area that

          7  needs services. Coming from the Bronx, in other

          8  agencies, not HHC, but the Bronx has been slighted

          9  through other agencies as well, so I can understand

         10  the level of frustration that exists.

         11                 My question is, how much could it

         12  cost to develop an acute care facility in Staten

         13  Island so that way there would be equity in terms of

         14  Citywide?

         15                 MR. AVILES: First of all, I don't

         16  know that anyone, especially State Department of

         17  Health, but including both of the hospitals on

         18  Staten Island, would support the creation of another

         19  acute care facility.

         20                 The reason why there are now two

         21  acute care facilities, when once there were five, is

         22  because the demand for acute care services,

         23  inpatient beds, has gone down dramatically. Not just

         24  in Staten Island, other portions of the City, and

         25  the State. So, I don't think the answer is the
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          2  development of another acute care facility.

          3                 But as I have said consistently since

          4  I've been in this role over the last two years,

          5  there is a real need, particularly because of

          6  demographic changes that have occurred in recent

          7  years and continue to occur, especially on the North

          8  Shore of the Island, there is a growing number of

          9  uninsured patients, particularly new immigrants. And

         10  that primary care capacity needs to be expanded.

         11  That has been our focus.

         12                 We have supported the creation of the

         13  Community Health Center of Richmond. We have spent

         14  about $4 million to date there for developmental

         15  cost and working capital, in addition to another one

         16  and a half to $2 million in actual capital costs, so

         17  that they can expand that site. They're in the midst

         18  of beginning that physical expansion of that site.

         19                 We have said we will support a second

         20  anchor site so that they have a federated model with

         21  at least two major sites, and we are prepared to put

         22  dollars into that. We have created the Staten Island

         23  Health Access Program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         25  that's a drop in the bucket.
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          2                 MR. AVILES: Where 2,500 patients --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If this were in

          4  any other borough in the City of New York, people

          5  would be going crazy.

          6                 I mean, you're making it sound like

          7  you're doing this, that and the other thing, that is

          8  a drop in the bucket relative to your overall

          9  budget, relative to what you do. If this were in the

         10  Bronx --

         11                 MR. AVILES: Councilman --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: -- If this were

         13  in Manhattan, if this were in Queens, people would

         14  be going crazy right nows.

         15                 MR. AVILES: Councilman --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And you've

         17  gotten away with it.

         18                 MR. AVILES: Councilman, let me make

         19  two points. One is that you have consistently said

         20  we fail to support Richmond University Medical

         21  Center because it has such a disproportionate share

         22  of indigent care in the City. The reality is that it

         23  has a much greater share of indigent care of the

         24  Staten Island University Hospital. That is less than

         25  six percent of indigent care burden. There are 18
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          2  hospitals in this City that have a higher burden of

          3  indigent care throughout the other boroughs. We

          4  don't support any of those hospitals either.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, you want

          6  to frame the issue as supporting Richmond

          7  University, as supporting Staten Island?

          8                 MR. AVILES: Frame it how ever you

          9  want.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If you want to

         11  frame the issue that way, fine. But I frame the

         12  issue this way: you have a responsibility to five

         13  boroughs, if you could look me in the eye and tell

         14  me you're living up to your responsibility to the

         15  fifth borough, then, you know, I don't know what we

         16  do at that point.

         17                 MR. AVILES: Councilman, would you say

         18  it's fair if we're attempting to allocate a portion

         19  of our resources that is in direct relation to the

         20  number of uninsured and the number of individuals

         21  living under the poverty line in Staten Island?

         22  Because that number is about three percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You're doing

         24  more for Staten Island than it deserves, is that

         25  what you're saying?
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          2                 MR. AVILES: No. We are saying that

          3  we're making efforts that are ramping up what we are

          4  doing to address the needs there. And if we were

          5  going to go strictly by the numbers, we're

          6  practically where we need to be. That's not the way

          7  we view the problem. We have said we're prepared to

          8  invest more resources, as long as it goes to the

          9  right place. We're not about displacing or picking

         10  up the cost of other providers. We're about

         11  increasing capacity so we meet more of the need,

         12  particularly for the uninsured and the low-income

         13  population of Staten Island.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, as we sit

         15  right now --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         17  Oddo --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You're

         19  comfortable with the level of services that you're

         20  providing to that --

         21                 MR. AVILES: How many times do I have

         22  to say that we're committed to continuing to grow

         23  the capacity --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: What does that

         25  mean? What does that mean?

                                                            36

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Jimmy, why don't

          3  we have, you know, a moment of recess for five

          4  minutes, so we can cool down. President, if you want

          5  to use the restroom. Jimmy, if you want to use the

          6  other restroom. Please do not go into the same

          7  restroom.

          8                 Just let's take a five-minute recess,

          9  we'll come back and we have another line of

         10  questions.

         11                 Five minutes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In your

         13  testimony you make it sound like you're doing so

         14  much, it's a disgrace.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Five minutes.

         16                 (Recess taken.)

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, I think

         18  it's safe to proceed. I'm going to ask at this point

         19  in time that the exercise is with restraint and

         20  respect for each other. Obviously I'm going to ask

         21  my colleagues that are still here with us to please,

         22  you know, direct your line of questioning in a

         23  respectful manner, question-based, answer-based type

         24  of manner, not in a very, very loud disrespectful

         25  way. I'm going to ask for that, please.
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          2                 The next line of questioning.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: How do you do

          4  that?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: How do you do

          6  that? I don't know. I haven't learned that tact yet.

          7  I have to take it from you, Simcha, so I don't know.

          8                 But the next line of questioning will

          9  come from Maria del Carmen Arroyo, then from Alan

         10  Gerson thereafter.

         11                 Thank you, President Aviles.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         13  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 And I came in here today thinking it

         15  was going to be a really boring, dull hearing.

         16  Always a pleasure to see both of you. And I always

         17  say publicly I think HHC is the premiere health care

         18  institution in this world, and it's a little biased,

         19  but it is something that I think we need to

         20  appreciate. And I think what the frustration that

         21  our colleague is expressing is that those of us who

         22  benefit from the services that HHC provides in the

         23  outer boroughs, is just something that Staten Island

         24  would like to have, and maybe the message just

         25  doesn't get across in that manner, but that is in
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          2  the spirit in which the frustration comes out in.

          3  And I know this is a capital budget hearing, but you

          4  testified regarding the activities surrounding HIV

          5  testing and education, and a focus on adolescents in

          6  the emerging senior population. And as Chair of the

          7  Committee on Aging, I have a very serious interest

          8  around how we as a City will be able to respond to

          9  this emerging population and we created this

         10  Committee, the Health Committee and the Committee on

         11  Aging Task Force to help us design a concept for how

         12  we can do that and get funding into the budget to

         13  begin focused intervention and programs for the

         14  senior population.

         15                 And apparently you also have a focus

         16  on the growing population of HIV-infected seniors;

         17  can you give me some more details about what that

         18  focus is, what your intentions are?

         19                 MR. AVILES: As an overall part of the

         20  initiative to expand testing, we really are trying

         21  to routinize HIV testing to make it more a part of

         22  the routine medical care that all of our patients

         23  receive, and not to simply offer it in HIV clinics

         24  or STD clinics.

         25                 So, part of what has gone on as we
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          2  have ramped these numbers up, as we have offered the

          3  testing in our emergency departments and inpatient

          4  units and primary care clinics, including our adult

          5  primary clinics, we will begin to extend it as well

          6  to our dedicated senior clinics, and some of our

          7  facilities do have dedicated senior clinics, others

          8  treat seniors within the context of their adult

          9  primary care. So, in those settings the HIV testing

         10  is already being offered to many of the seniors that

         11  we serve. But it is part and parcel, the effort to

         12  really have our clinicians view HIV testing as they

         13  would view so much of the other testing that they do

         14  that's related to either preventive care or to the

         15  early diagnosis of disease, early diagnosis is

         16  critical to linking patients at a point in the

         17  disease process where we can offer them the best

         18  treatment and help and ensure the best outcomes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: Are

         20  you considering modifying what you expect your

         21  primary care providers to cover with patients?

         22                 The overall sentiment that came out

         23  of the work, the task force work, was that

         24  individuals who, and I have a personal story that I

         25  tell that occurred last summer that this gentleman
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          2  in his late sixties, active, active with a primary

          3  care provider relationship and died, got sick and

          4  died and we found out that he had full-blown AIDS.

          5  We would never know how long he had it, whether he

          6  knew he had it, but that that conversation did not

          7  occur with his provider. And how many opportunities

          8  do we miss with ongoing relationships, we're not

          9  even discussing individuals who don't have a

         10  relationship with a provider. Most seniors for the

         11  most part have an ongoing relationship, and how can

         12  we change the focus of how those providers interact

         13  with that population, sensitively, appropriately for

         14  the age group in question, and we hope that we will

         15  be able to do funding in the budget this year to do

         16  a pilot over the communities that are most affected,

         17  but to keep people healthy. Because this individual

         18  was sexually active and had had relationships with

         19  five or six women in the residence where he lived,

         20  and these women are all in their late sixties, early

         21  seventies, who in the month of September of 2006 had

         22  to be confronted with the reality that they had been

         23  in contact with someone who was infected, and how do

         24  they deal and cope with that when education and

         25  prevention could have put them in a different
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          2  position. We feel very strongly about that. But I'm

          3  hopeful that as you focus on this population, that

          4  part of the discussion is about how providers engage

          5  their patients when they have them in their office

          6  and not to miss opportunities to get as much

          7  information and education out there to all of our

          8  New Yorkers, but in particular those populations

          9  that we thought we didn't have to worry about, and

         10  it turns out that that's no longer the case. So, we

         11  can't focus on the HIV-infected seniors, we have to

         12  focus on seniors in general, when we talk about

         13  prevention and education. So, that's my two cents

         14  about that.

         15                 Additional funding, you mention it

         16  both on page three of your testimony and in page

         17  five. Page five you need 7.6 million in additional

         18  funding for the next phase of the Women's Option

         19  Center at Bellevue, Coney Island, Queens, and

         20  Woodhull; where is the money coming from? And is

         21  that part of the money that the Chair referenced

         22  earlier that seemed to be not appropriated?

         23                 MR. AVILES: Those capital dollars are

         24  not yet appropriated or available, those are

         25  additional capital dollars that we would need in
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          2  order to now extend the Women's Option Centers,

          3  those renovated type of units to those additional

          4  facilities.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: But

          6  there is quite a pot of money that is not

          7  appropriated, so how do you identify additional from

          8  what's not appropriated?

          9                 MS. ZURACK: It's just not lined out

         10  in detail due to the process, and we can give you

         11  the line items of the money that's currently before

         12  you. And it's, as I had said earlier in the

         13  testimony, it has been for years these other items

         14  in the capital plan of HHC, it just had been planned

         15  to be funded with HHC bonds. The process for using

         16  City GO bonds instead of HHC bonds involved putting

         17  a lump sum in which will be lined out, and we can

         18  give you the detail of how it will be lined out.

         19                 These programs are additional to

         20  that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         22  What's the chance that you're going to get it? And

         23  if you don't get it, what happens to the ongoing

         24  development of these projects?

         25                 MR. AVILES: Well, we are going to
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          2  continue to advocate for those capital dollars, and

          3  obviously there are many others who are strong

          4  advocates in this area, who join us in that

          5  advocacy.

          6                 But the reality is that at the moment

          7  those capital dollars are not available. The $300

          8  million in capital funds that will be made available

          9  to us over the next ten years is part of the new

         10  bond issuance by this City. All of that has really

         11  already been allocated with regard to essential

         12  needs, much of which is related to maintaining the

         13  present infrastructure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: So

         15  we don't know where it's going to come from? Is that

         16  what you're saying?

         17                 MR. AVILES: It would have to be an

         18  add on the City's capital budget at some point.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: So,

         20  who in this audience needs to support that? Anybody

         21  here from the Mayor's Office that's listening to

         22  this? And what commitment are you getting from there

         23  that this is going to happen?

         24                 MR. AVILES: Well, there has been a

         25  strong commitment in the past. That's how we've
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          2  gotten this far in terms of the number of centers we

          3  have done.

          4                 Obviously, the capital budget is,

          5  there are a lot of competing demands for the capital

          6  dollars. I hope we'll be able to garner both the

          7  support of the Council and the support of the

          8  Administration at an appropriate time to actually

          9  have those capital dollars in place so that we can

         10  plan for those additional units.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: In

         12  particular I'd like to know, and you don't need to

         13  give me this answer now, we can talk later, the

         14  translation interpretation system for Lincoln

         15  Hospital, what is it going to cost? And how is it

         16  that we can work together to make that happen? Okay?

         17                 MR. AVILES: Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         19  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much. Next we have Council Member Gerson and Council

         22  Member Sears, and then we'll be done.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         24  much, Mr. Chair. It's still morning. Good morning.

         25                 As you know, the Mayor announced an
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          2  allocation of $16 million over a period of I believe

          3  three to five years for treatment of 9/11-related

          4  diseases and symptoms at the Bellevue Center.

          5                 Could you tell us the status of that

          6  allocation? What have you received? What do you

          7  anticipate? What timetable do you anticipate for

          8  receiving the allocation? And how does that relate

          9  to the actual need in terms of your ability to serve

         10  persons who are seeking service, claiming

         11  9/11-related symptoms, in seeking service from the

         12  Bellevue Center?

         13                 MR. AVILES: For this fiscal year it

         14  looks like we have received about $3 million, and we

         15  will receive similar amounts over the course of the

         16  next four years, and we have proceeded to expand

         17  services at Bellevue. There is now a new physical

         18  unit, which is considerably expanded from the

         19  program that has existed before, which is now called

         20  the World Trade Center Environmental Health Center.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me, Mr.

         22  President. Just when you say new expanded unit, the

         23  physical unit, is it physically expanded in terms of

         24  space, or in terms of personnel?

         25                 MR. AVILES: Both.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Both.

          3                 MR. AVILES: Both larger space has

          4  been allocated to accommodate more staff and more

          5  patient activity.

          6                 Marlene Zurack is our Chief Financial

          7  Officer, is reminding me that there is an additional

          8  commitment beyond the initial commitment of 16

          9  million that effectively doubles the total funding

         10  available over the course of the next four years.

         11  So, there's a $33 million total at this point. A lot

         12  of that is to both ensure that we can adequately

         13  expand the capacity as we do aggressive outreach and

         14  that we can create a satellite at Gouverneur so that

         15  we can screen and treat patients there, and that

         16  ultimately we can also create a satellite at

         17  Elmhurst Hospital Center.

         18                 A lot of the money initially will go

         19  into an aggressive outreach program, which includes

         20  media promotion, but also includes working with

         21  community-based organizations.

         22                 I have to stress that a lot of what

         23  has been accomplished in terms of identifying

         24  individuals previously were not served, but

         25  certainly needed those services because of their
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          2  exposure, was accomplished through a coalition of

          3  community-based organizations, the Ground Zero

          4  Coalition, who we continue to work with very

          5  closely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The 33 million

          7  to which you refer, that includes the original 16?

          8                 MR. AVILES: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So how much of

         10  that 33 million do you anticipate in Fiscal Year

         11  '08?

         12                 MR. AVILES: So, there's a huge ramp

         13  up in the next fiscal year of about 13.7. Some of

         14  that reflects the extensive outreach that's planned

         15  for this coming year.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, of the

         17  13.7 million, can you give us a rough breakdown, how

         18  much of that will be spent on outreach, and how much

         19  will be spent on actual provision of medical

         20  service? And how much will be dedicated to service

         21  in Gouverneur?

         22                 MR. AVILES: I believe the number for

         23  Gouverneur in the next year is the ball park of

         24  700,000 to a million dollars.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's part of
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          2  this pool of money that we're talking about?

          3                 MR. AVILES: Yes.

          4                 And then at the moment I think there

          5  is 3.5 million allocated for promotion and outreach,

          6  and the balance is for service delivery at Bellevue

          7  and at Elmhurst.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, two

          9  follow-up questions on that, then we'll move on.

         10                 What do your physicians tell you

         11  about the need? Are they able to serve all seeking

         12  service on a timely basis with this allocation? Or

         13  is there a need for further allocation in the

         14  upcoming fiscal year to meet anticipated demand from

         15  experience?

         16                 MR. AVILES: Obviously a little bit of

         17  that is speculative because the aggressive promotion

         18  may pull out significantly more patients. But we

         19  have made assumptions that are fairly aggressive

         20  about our ability to pull out those patients who are

         21  truly at need. So, the amount of funding allows for

         22  very significant capacity enhancement. So, we're

         23  anticipating that certainly over these next couple

         24  of fiscal years that this funding will be sufficient

         25  for us to generate the capacity that's needed to
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          2  meet the need, and in fact, we have already seen

          3  since the most recent expansion efforts that a

          4  pipeline that was as great as 600 patients waiting

          5  for appointments has now been brought down to about

          6  180. We're seeing all patients who have urgent needs

          7  within a day or two with appointments, and those who

          8  have much less urgent needs have appointments that

          9  now I think stretch out to the first week of July.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is this

         11  something that you could provide the Council with a,

         12  say, quarterly report, in terms of a breakdown of

         13  patients seeking 9/11-related treatment, the waiting

         14  time, the degree of severity? And I ask this,

         15  because as you pointed out, there is a degree of

         16  uncertainty here, and we as a City, and certainly we

         17  as a Council want to remain on top of this, and if

         18  we need to do a budget enhancement, you know, we

         19  don't want to provide, we must do so, we don't want

         20  to deny New Yorkers with 9/11-related ailments, the

         21  treatment they need. So, is it something you could

         22  reasonably provide, a quarterly, you know, brief

         23  report?

         24                 MR. AVILES: Sure. Why don't we reach

         25  out to your office and just talk about the format
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          2  and the type of data you'd like to --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Terrific. And

          4  our office will coordinate with our Chair Rivera to

          5  get that done. I think that will be mutually

          6  helpful.

          7                 MR. AVILES: Sure.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just on the

          9  capital side, but related to 9/11, I'm sure you're

         10  familiar with, or your team is familiar with the

         11  laboratory in the NYU, Bellevue Campus that is

         12  overseen by Dr. Rahm, and I think it may be

         13  physically located within an NYU-owned building.

         14                 MR. AVILES: Are you talking about the

         15  Bellevue Laboratory? Or are you talking about the

         16  DNA?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, I'm

         18  talking about the pulmonary laboratory overseen by

         19  Dr. Rahm.

         20                 MR. AVILES: Oh, in connection with

         21  the World Trade Center Clinical Program.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Absolutely.

         23                 MR. AVILES: Yes, okay. Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And my

         25  question to you is, on the capital side, is there --

                                                            51

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  does the capital budget allow for the, I believe

          3  what has been identified as needed enhancements and

          4  expansions of the laboratory to undertake your very

          5  basic medical research to identify toxicity reaction

          6  at the cellular level to 9/11-related toxins and

          7  emissions. And we were told, we, the Council, when

          8  we took our tour, were told that there was a $3

          9  million or so request for the enhancement or

         10  expansion of the laboratory; is that included in the

         11  capital budget?

         12                 MR. AVILES: We included what Dr.

         13  Rhidman (phonetic) as the head of the World Trade

         14  Center Clinical Program, what she requested of us.

         15  That was put together by her in collaboration with

         16  her colleagues, including Dr. Rahm.

         17                 Whether that there are issues purely

         18  on the research side, as opposed to the treatment

         19  side, some of which may implicate NYU and the

         20  research that happens on the NYU side, I'm not

         21  certain. We'd have to look at that and get back to

         22  you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Can we follow

         24  up, in the interest of time Mr. Longham from my

         25  office is present and he has the detailed
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          2  information.

          3                 MR. AVILES: Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If we could

          5  follow-up almost immediately, because if it's not

          6  included in the FY '08 budget, that's something we

          7  certainly want to see included, and I don't want to

          8  get hung up by the technicality that it may be in an

          9  NYU building, as opposed to a Bellevue building,

         10  since it's serving the mutual purpose. So, if we

         11  could follow that up right away.

         12                 And my very last question, the

         13  Gouverneur enhancement, are we going to see major

         14  work go forward in FY '08 for Gouverneur Hospital?

         15                 MR. AVILES: Are you talking about

         16  modernization?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         18                 MR. AVILES: It's in design, so it

         19  will take awhile. I don't think we're looking to

         20  break ground --

         21                 MS. BROWN: Construction next year.

         22                 MR. AVILES: Break ground maybe this

         23  time next year.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But certainly

         25  the design phase will be finished in the upcoming?
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          2                 MR. AVILES: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's been in

          4  design for awhile now, hasn't it?

          5                 MS. BROWN: Planning and then design.

          6                 MR. AVILES: The design phase, as I'm

          7  sure you know, is quote protracted because it goes

          8  through preliminary design, it goes through value

          9  engineering, it has to go through a final design,

         10  then it has to go to the architect for detailed

         11  drawings, so --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But we can

         13  count on that getting done within the next fiscal

         14  year at the latest?

         15                 MR. AVILES: That's the projected time

         16  line.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let's beat the

         18  projected time line.

         19                 MR. AVILES: We also have to get CON

         20  approval by the State Department of Health.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I realize

         22  that.

         23                 Okay, well, thank you very much, and

         24  we'll certainly follow up.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          3  much, Council Member Gerson.

          4                 Next we have Council Member Sears and

          5  Council Member Mendez. And we've been joined by

          6  Council Members Peter Vallone from Queens, and

          7  Council Member Maria Baez from the Bronx.

          8                 Council Member Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         10  much, Mr. Chair. And good morning.

         11                 MR. AVILES: Good morning.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think before

         13  I ask the one and only question, I really have to

         14  make a comment. The fact is that the Health and

         15  Hospital Corporation is probably the only health

         16  provider in the world that has as many tertiary care

         17  facilities as it does, primary care facilities, and

         18  it is incredible that it can treat the millions of

         19  people that it does. There is always room for

         20  expansion, there is always room for enhancement and

         21  considering the changing dynamics of the City, I

         22  think that we need to work with the Health and

         23  Hospital Corporation and not diminish the importance

         24  of the institution.

         25                 Having said that, you have a large

                                                            55

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  capital program, and my question is because I really

          3  was just reading from different spots, is that there

          4  is a backlog on capital projects, hundreds and

          5  hundreds and hundreds, and I'm not so sure they

          6  affect you, but there is a moratorium, will be, on

          7  new capital projects.

          8                 So, my question to you is, capital

          9  projects are ongoing and within all our hospitals.

         10  And one of the reasons -- what the Hospital Task

         11  Force objective was when we had those meetings

         12  around the City was to look at what are the major

         13  reasons that hospitals have the problems they do.

         14                 And, certainly, modernization,

         15  refurbishing and everything else and capital is a

         16  major, major problem. So my question to you is, with

         17  all of the projects, capital projects that you have

         18  that are ongoing, that are just going to be ongoing

         19  forever, because that is what the challenge of

         20  health care is, will you be caught in a backlog that

         21  will push you back to what you wish to do with your

         22  11 institutions?

         23                 MR. AVILES: That hopefully won't

         24  happen. Certainly we plan enough ahead, which

         25  includes obtaining CON approval, especially for
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          2  major modernization projects. We have plenty on our

          3  plate now that will roll out over the course of the

          4  next two or three years.

          5                 Obviously we will reach a point where

          6  we get to the next development phase, and we will be

          7  submitting additional CONs. I think for the most

          8  part, we have always had very good relationships

          9  with the State Department of Health, and we have a

         10  great deal of credibility, in terms of our ability

         11  to accurately design projects so they're brought in

         12  on time and on budget, and with the justification

         13  for the project including any changes in capacity,

         14  are really well documented and are generally found

         15  to be well-founded by those at the State Department

         16  of Health.

         17                 So, while over the long-term that may

         18  become an issue, it is not an issue for us at the

         19  moment.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What is the

         21  latest facility that has been modernized, and within

         22  the capital project?

         23                 MR. AVILES: That's actually been

         24  finished? We just finished an ambulatory care

         25  pavilion, as you know, at Queens Hospital, and we

                                                            57

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  just finished an ambulatory care pavilion at Kings

          3  County. Those are the two majors. We have an

          4  ambulatory care pavilion that is ongoing at the

          5  moment at Jacobi, which is one of the major

          6  modernization projects in process. We have another

          7  very large $150 million project at Kings County,

          8  which is the new behavioral health facility, which

          9  will allow us to unify all the behavioral health

         10  services on that campus. That should be completed

         11  summer of next year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What's the last

         13  one on your list?

         14                 MR. AVILES: The one that's most

         15  recent? The Gouverneur project is the one that we

         16  just recently put into the pipeline, it's in design.

         17  And I'm being reminded, of course, that Harlem is in

         18  progress, ground has been broken there, that project

         19  will be completed in late 2009.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         21  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Council member. Council Member Mendez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Good morning.

         25                 MR. AVILES: Good morning.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I would like

          3  to know what the Department is doing to address the

          4  racial and ethnic disparities in access to health

          5  care and the outcomes of that care, and are there

          6  any programs that have been developed or in the

          7  process of being developed to address these

          8  disparities, feel free to talk about the racial and

          9  ethnic, in terms of the insured and under-insured,

         10  and feel free to talk about it in terms of boroughs,

         11  as well.

         12                 MR. AVILES: Well, you know, we are

         13  all about access, so in our view part of the issue

         14  of disparities is very much tied to access. It is

         15  often not the case that communities of color suffer

         16  from a higher incidence of some conditions, though

         17  they do of many, but it is often the case that a

         18  failure to provide access and to diagnose conditions

         19  early on has a major impact on outcomes for

         20  individuals of color.

         21                 For example, in heart disease and in

         22  cancer, we are doing a tremendous amount in order to

         23  be aggressive in our outreach and in pulling

         24  patients in for early screening. We are doing a

         25  tremendous among around chronic disease management,
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          2  for those chronic diseases where there is a higher

          3  incident in communities of color of those chronic

          4  diseases. So, for example, with regard to asthma and

          5  diabetes. We have a major initiative underway in

          6  connection with diabetes in particular which

          7  leverages our clinical information system so we have

          8  created what is called an electronic disease

          9  registry so that every single one of our adult

         10  diabetics under care is being monitored and tracked

         11  through this electronic tool, all approximately

         12  50,000 of them, and this allows our clinicians to

         13  monitor on a real time basis, the blood sugar levels

         14  of these diabetics, the blood pressure levels of

         15  these diabetics, the lipid or cholesterol levels of

         16  these diabetics to see whether they have had a

         17  retinal eye exam the last year and appropriate foot

         18  care. Diabetes is the major cause of end-stage renal

         19  disease, adult blindness, amputation of extremities

         20  in adults, as well as a major contributor to heart

         21  disease and stroke.

         22                 We've run a pilot at Queens at both

         23  of our facilities there, Elmhurst and Queens

         24  Hospital Center. They establish this electronic

         25  disease registry three years ago on a pilot basis
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          2  and used it for over two years to guide care there.

          3                 They started, their adult diabetics

          4  are where most of the adult diabetics are in our

          5  other facilities; that is to say, less than 25

          6  percent of them were well controlled. More than two

          7  years later, as a result of using that electronic

          8  tool, they are now close to 50 percent of their

          9  adult diabetics being well controlled. So, we have

         10  begun over the course of the last year to roll out

         11  that same electronic disease registry to all of our

         12  other facilities, and we have set the goal that by

         13  the end of the next calendar year, 2008, we will

         14  bring those adult diabetic patients up to the same

         15  level of achievement that we have seen in Queens.

         16  That is that we will reach about a 50 percent level

         17  of helping our adult diabetics obtain control of

         18  their diabetes.

         19                 Obviously that's not the end point,

         20  but it would be an enormous degree of progress that

         21  would have a profound improvement in the health of

         22  those communities.

         23                 I mean, on the broader question of

         24  disparities, I mean just to give you a rough sense

         25  of how it plays out over the City, focusing
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          2  particularly on economic disparity and the

          3  percentage of uninsured, the borough that leads all

          4  boroughs is Brooklyn, with 36 percent of the patient

          5  population below federal poverty level, and almost

          6  34 percent being uninsured. As you know, we have a

          7  major presence in the Borough of Brooklyn, including

          8  acute care facilities and a very extensive

          9  ambulatory care network.

         10                 In Queens the numbers are 17 percent

         11  below federal poverty, but 28 percent uninsured,

         12  reflecting in part the large numbers of new

         13  immigrant populations in that borough. For Manhattan

         14  it's 18 percent below federal poverty and 14.5

         15  percent uninsured. For the Bronx, it's 25 percent

         16  below federal poverty level, and nearly 20 percent

         17  uninsured, and for Staten Island it's roughly three

         18  percent below federal poverty, and three percent

         19  uninsured.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 There are also a lot of concerns

         23  being raised about the staffing of the Health

         24  Department, particularly in the middle and upper

         25  levels of management. Can you give us a breakdown of
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          2  the race and ethnicity of the upper and middle

          3  management of the Department, and what efforts are

          4  being made to assure that hirings and promotions are

          5  reflective of the population?

          6                 MR. AVILES: Excuse me, Council

          7  Member, I'm not sure whether you're referring to HHC

          8  or the New York City Department of Health, which is

          9  coming up right after us.

         10                 I mean, I can address that question

         11  for us, if you'd like, but your reference to the

         12  department --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Please do.

         14                 MR. AVILES: We have an extremely

         15  diverse workforce at all levels. We have an EEO

         16  office, which reports regularly to an EEO Committee

         17  of the Board of Directors and generates reports that

         18  track whether or not we have any statistical

         19  underutilizations in a myriad of job titles. So, we

         20  parched the data pretty finely so we can drill down

         21  to specific job categories, we have virtually no

         22  under-utilizations. We do have a small handful. We'd

         23  be happy to share with you the most recent report

         24  from our EEO Office. In those areas where we have

         25  experienced some underutilization tend to be highly
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          2  technical, for example, in information technology,

          3  but even in those areas, if you look at the reports

          4  over the last few years, you see steady increases

          5  and improvements in the profiles of those areas as

          6  well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And I

          8  understand that they're redoing the HHC Options

          9  Booklet and Fee Scale; what is the new booklets be

         10  ready for distribution?

         11                 MR. AVILES: We're very close to

         12  having that finalized. We wanted to make sure that

         13  our fee scale, in every dimension complied fully

         14  with the new charity care law that went into effect

         15  earlier this year, and we also took the opportunity

         16  to look at now prescription drugs are paid for so

         17  that we could incorporate that into the fee scale

         18  and financial counseling process and try to align

         19  those fees more closely with the income level and

         20  family size of our individual patients.

         21                 We work very closely with the

         22  Commission on the Public's Hospital System. We're

         23  indebted to them for their assistance, and we've

         24  worked with others in the community, as well,

         25  particularly to ensure that the booklet that we
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          2  ultimately produce conveys this information in as

          3  clear and understandable a way as possible, and we

          4  will be translating it into our top ten common

          5  languages.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And if I could

          7  just ask you about the current services that are

          8  currently outsourced by HHC, and how these

          9  outsourced services are working, and if you can

         10  comment particularly on the Sidexo Food Contract,

         11  please.

         12                 MR. AVILES: Well, that is an

         13  outsource only from the standpoint of management

         14  because we did not outsource our food service from

         15  the standpoint of our non-managerial workforce.

         16  Those who work in dietary operation for us continue

         17  to be our own employees, but those who manage the

         18  service do so under contract for us. And they are

         19  from a consortium that includes Sidexo.

         20                 That is going quite well. We have

         21  managed to reduce our operating cost and achieve

         22  some efficiencies as well, in terms of the bulk

         23  purchase of much of the food, and they have worked

         24  very closely with our facilities and worked very

         25  closely with some of the community advisory boards
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          2  and committees that have been put together,

          3  including residents for our long-term care

          4  facilities, in particular where the issue of food

          5  and the diversity of selection of food is especially

          6  important.

          7                 We recently did a patient

          8  satisfaction survey in all of our facilities, and by

          9  and large the patient's perception of the service,

         10  the quality of the food, the selection that they're

         11  being offered is at least as good as it was before

         12  we brought Sidexo into the picture, and in some

         13  instances it's slightly higher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And if I could

         15  just go back and just review the numbers that you

         16  gave me for the different boroughs at below federal

         17  poverty level and the uninsured. So, Brooklyn you

         18  said is 30 percent, 36 below the federal poverty

         19  level; is that correct?

         20                 MR. AVILES: Brooklyn is 36 percent

         21  below --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: With 34

         23  uninsured?

         24                 MR. AVILES: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And then going
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          2  back, Queens is 17 percent below federal poverty

          3  level, with 28 percent uninsured?

          4                 MR. AVILES: Correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Manhattan 18

          6  percent with 14.5 uninsured?

          7                 MR. AVILES: Correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: The Bronx 25,

          9  with 20 percent uninsured?

         10                 MR. AVILES: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And then

         12  Staten Island is last with three percent below the

         13  federal poverty level and three percent uninsured;

         14  is that correct?

         15                 MR. AVILES: That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay, thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this point in

         19  time we've been joined by a couple of more members.

         20  We've been joined by Deputy Minority Leader Council

         21  Member Inez Dickens, we've been joined by Councilman

         22  John Liu, we've been joined by Council Member Helen

         23  Diane Foster, and I believe that's it. We've also

         24  been joined by PS IS 499 who is up in the balcony

         25  taking a look at how great government is.
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          2                 And President Aviles, they just got

          3  here, so they weren't here earlier.

          4                 I just want to state for the record

          5  that wherever HHC is, it does a phenomenal job

          6  providing services to the people that it does

          7  represent, its constituents and to its clients. We

          8  do recognize a tremendous amount of work that HHC

          9  does on a day-to-day basis and the fact that it is

         10  an award-winning organization, you know, nationally

         11  recognized and the team that you have is top-notch

         12  and phenomenal. People get upset because they want

         13  to have you all over the place.

         14                 MR. AVILES: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You should take

         16  that as a sign of, you should be blushing I guess at

         17  this point.

         18                 But, you know, I just want to say

         19  that we do recognize the fine work that HHC does for

         20  the City of New York and we do appreciate that fine

         21  work.

         22                 MR. AVILES: Thank you. We appreciate

         23  those words.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 At this point in time I don't see any

          3  other line of questions. Thank you very much for

          4  being here with us today.

          5                 MR. AVILES: Our pleasure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          7  much, ladies and gentlemen. We're going to continue

          8  the hearing today on the Expense and Capital Budget.

          9  We are moving on to the Department of Health and

         10  Mental Hygiene, and of course we've been joined by

         11  Commissioner Frieden here with us today.

         12                 If you have any testimony, obviously,

         13  it can be sent to the Sergeant-At-Arms, so we can

         14  peruse it, and you may begin.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Good morning, Chairpersons Rivera and

         18  Council Members Felder, Vallone, all the other

         19  members of the Committees. My name is Tom Frieden,

         20  I'm Health Commissioner for New York City.

         21                 As we discussed in March, the

         22  Department has made progress on our Take Care New

         23  York Health Policy Agenda, after a complete and

         24  thorough RFP process that included bids from the

         25  leaders in health information technology. The
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          2  Department selected a vendor to provide electronic

          3  health records to more than 1,000 primary care

          4  physicians who serve 1 million patients in

          5  low-income at-risk communities.

          6                 We continue to implement our Tobacco

          7  Control Program, launching the largest anti-smoking

          8  media campaign in the Department's history. With

          9  support from the City Council we expanded the sports

         10  play and active recreation for kids program to

         11  increase physical activity among children in day

         12  care and pre-k settings. We conducted nearly 100,000

         13  voluntary rapid HIV tests in STD and TB clinics,

         14  City jails, homeless shelters, community

         15  organizations and medical settings. In collaboration

         16  with the Citywide Colon Cancer Control Coalition we

         17  published and distributed a guide to tools,

         18  resources and best practices for hospitals to

         19  increase the number of colonoscopies they performed,

         20  and our Nurse Family Partnership is currently

         21  helping more than 700 high-risk families in

         22  low-income neighborhoods improve their health and

         23  social outcomes for their children and the entire

         24  family.

         25                 In the year ahead, the Department has
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          2  a number of exciting initiatives. We will roll out

          3  prevention-oriented electronic health records to

          4  hundreds of physicians, creating what will be the

          5  largest such program in the country. We'll build on

          6  our success with the Nurse Family Partnership which

          7  is already the largest single Nurse Family

          8  Partnership Program in the country by expanding to

          9  traditional high-need areas.

         10                 We'll reduce teen pregnancy and

         11  address emerging public health threats through

         12  increased screening, treatment and surveillance.

         13                 I'd like to now highlight some of the

         14  new initiatives in the budget. Our budget includes

         15  $1 million in new CTL funding for a pilot expansion

         16  of our pest control program beyond the current

         17  complaint-based system to a program of active

         18  community surveillance. And I'll comment that rodent

         19  control is an enormous challenge. I don't think we

         20  do nearly as good a job as we need to do. At the

         21  same time I think it's not very clear, all the

         22  things that would be most effective. It's a

         23  multi-sectoral problem. We do very good coordination

         24  from other agencies, we're looking at ways that can

         25  be even more effective, and we're hoping that the
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          2  pilot in the Bronx, which has the highest levels of

          3  infestation, according to the data that we have,

          4  will show results.

          5                 This will use a method called

          6  indexing to track and improve the status of rodent

          7  infestation. We plan to pilot it in the Bronx in

          8  '08, and if successful, we'd hope to expand it

          9  Citywide.

         10                 As part of this effort, we'll reduce

         11  the time required to respond to complaints, improve

         12  our progress controlling rodent infestation and

         13  expand extermination as part of an integrated pest

         14  management program.

         15                 In accordance with the

         16  recommendations of the Administration's

         17  comprehensive report on the health impacts of 9/11,

         18  the budget includes nearly $8 million in FY '08 to

         19  further enhance our response to WTC-related health

         20  concerns.

         21                 With this funding, we'll administer a

         22  benefit program to reimburse New Yorkers affected by

         23  the disaster for costs associated with mental health

         24  and substance abuse treatment. The money will also

         25  fund a World Trade Center Health Coordinator, who
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          2  will manage issues across City agencies and develop

          3  a one-stop health resources Internet site through

          4  coverage, to provide thorough coverage of

          5  WTC-related health issues.

          6                 At the same time we're developing

          7  environmental health and safety protocols to assist

          8  with environmental hazard emergency planning and

          9  coordination.

         10                 The Department's Executive Budget

         11  includes an additional $1.5 million for the Primary

         12  Care Information Project, or PCIP. PCIP supports the

         13  adoption and use of electronic health records for

         14  primary care providers in New York City's

         15  underserved communities.

         16                 This funding will enable medical

         17  providers to adopt and use EHRs to improve patient

         18  care.

         19                 Beginning this fall, we anticipate

         20  that every month we'll add an additional 80 to 100

         21  new providers in this system. In addition, we will

         22  support providers using a variety of electronic

         23  health information packages.

         24                 As part of the Mayor's PlaNYC, 2030

         25  sustainability initiative, the Department has
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          2  received $2 million annually to design and oversee

          3  an ongoing study of air quality to measure air

          4  pollutant levels of our neighborhoods.

          5                 This study will supplement existing

          6  State and federal data, using these data along with

          7  information about traffic and vehicle neighborhood

          8  characteristics and fixed facilities which emit

          9  pollutants, which will be able to better

         10  characterize air quality throughout the City and

         11  monitor air changes over time, air quality changes

         12  over time. In the next year we'll finalize our plans

         13  for sampling sites and data collection.

         14                 The Department remains committed to

         15  providing elementary and intermediate school

         16  students with primary and preventive dental care,

         17  particularly sealant applications to prevent

         18  cavities. The oral health restoration in our

         19  Executive Budget will allow the program to

         20  transition more smoothly and phase in the oral

         21  health program peg included in the '07 adopted

         22  budget.

         23                 As part of the FY '08 savings,

         24  part-time dentists and the dental assistants who

         25  work assisting those dentists will be furloughed
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          2  this summer. Remaining staff will work at dental

          3  sites in DOH health center dental sites and

          4  community-based facilities.

          5                 This furlough will help us focus

          6  program resources toward the most productive use

          7  during the school year and is also necessary to

          8  achieve a final plan target. No further labor force

          9  reductions are currently planned for this program.

         10                 As part of the PEG program, we

         11  indicated that we would relinquish three facilities

         12  to generate savings in '08 and '09. We evaluated our

         13  capital portfolio to identify hospital locations. At

         14  this time we plan to relinquish to DCAS the

         15  Stapleton facility on Staten Island and the

         16  Westchester lead facility in the Bronx. We're still

         17  evaluating the options for the third site. We have

         18  no services at these facilities and the current

         19  tenants will not be negatively impacted. It's

         20  basically that the lease will be shifted with the

         21  Health Department to with DCAS and the oversight of

         22  the building will go to DCAS. Since we have no

         23  services or staff in these buildings, we have no

         24  services in these buildings, it makes more sense for

         25  us not to be the overseer of the building
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          2  operations.

          3                 The Department was asked, along with

          4  all other agencies to identify ways to contribute to

          5  the City's fiscal stability. Our plan will have no

          6  impact on the Health Department services, and uses a

          7  combination of one-time and recurring revenues, for

          8  many sources, as well as projected savings from

          9  improved program efficiency.

         10                 Administrative tribunal revenue

         11  collections have exceeded the original levels for

         12  multiple years. Other revenue sources include

         13  savings from increases in various revenues and

         14  reestimates of program spending in current and

         15  future years, in addition to one-time incurring

         16  revenue increases.

         17                 I'd like to thank the Council for

         18  your collaboration and partnership, and I look

         19  forward to continuing our work together in the

         20  coming year, and I will be happy to answer any

         21  questions you might have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Commissioner Frieden.

         24                 I just have a couple of questions

         25  myself, and then we'll be followed by Council Member
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          2  Vallone and Council Member Simcha Felder.

          3                 My first question goes into the

          4  rodent control. Obviously, over the past couple of

          5  months there has been a lot of attention towards the

          6  rodent infestation within the City of New York,

          7  especially in our restaurants and our small

          8  neighborhoods. I just wanted to get an update on how

          9  the training with the inspectors are going? Are

         10  there any new -- I know we have a $1 million

         11  initiative going forward, you know, to help with

         12  rodent control in the City of New York; how are we

         13  going to build a better mouse trap?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well, it's rats

         15  that we're most concerned about.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Rat traps.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think there

         18  are two different issues. One is that the events

         19  that got a lot of media attention related to

         20  restaurants. And we looked at the restaurant

         21  inspection program and we saw that this is a program

         22  that operates very well over 60,000 inspections a

         23  year. They're hand-held, computerized, standardized,

         24  high quality. At the same time, of those 60,000

         25  about 1,000 were complaint-generated inspections,
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          2  and there were a lot of improvements possible in the

          3  complaint-generated inspections.

          4                 They were not routinely complete

          5  inspections. As of now all complaint-generated

          6  inspections that are done are complete inspections.

          7  We also are looking at ways to improve the way the

          8  inspectors assess rodent problems. More than 100 of

          9  the inspectors have been through a training in

         10  better recognition and addressing rodent issues.

         11                 At the same time, we're looking at

         12  ways to improve our rodent control work generally.

         13  I'm sorry, restaurant inspections relating to

         14  rodents generally, including looking at having the

         15  people who operate food services establishments

         16  better trained in preventing and addressing rodent

         17  infestation. And also looking at how restaurants do

         18  in doing that.

         19                 At the same time, we're looking at

         20  the rodent problem more generally. The issue here is

         21  fundamentally one of food. The more food rodents can

         22  consume, the more rodents there will be. Given how

         23  rapidly rodents can reproduce and how hearty they

         24  are in the environment, there is no way that we can

         25  reduce the rodent population without reducing
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          2  substantially the food available to them in all

          3  sites. And what we would hope to do through the

          4  indexing program in the Bronx is to systematically

          5  look at an area, identify all of the potential food

          6  sources, all of the harborage areas where rodents

          7  can live and do a systematic way of reducing food

          8  sources, and exterminating until we get a real

          9  knock-down in the rodent population.

         10                 Through repeat indexing we hope to be

         11  able to document that. So far we've seen that this

         12  is not simple, that it is challenging to get

         13  substantial reductions in the rodent population. So,

         14  that's what our effort would be.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Obviously it's a

         16  difficult task at hand, and the Administration of

         17  Mayor Giuliani, when he was in office, he had lifted

         18  the ban of residential grinders within apartments,

         19  and where available there is a decrease of rats

         20  within those facilities, and obviously I have a bill

         21  in the City Council now, in terms of commercial

         22  grinders, for a pilot program to do just something

         23  similar. Because I think you hit the nail right on

         24  the head, when it comes to rodent infestation, that

         25  they feed on available food. And with conflicting
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          2  regulations of obviously the Department of Health

          3  doing everything in your power to minimize

          4  infestation, and obviously Department of Sanitation

          5  as well, there are conflicting pieces of regulations

          6  that make it very difficult for the City to manage a

          7  rodent infestation problem.

          8                 Now, is there an opportunity to get

          9  some support from the Department of Health on the

         10  Grinder Bill with legislation that would drastically

         11  reduce available organic waste and food byproducts,

         12  which is what the rodents consume? It's been

         13  utilized in other municipalities around the country

         14  very effectively. I think we have spoken about this.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have. I am

         16  not in agreement. I don't think there is evidence

         17  that disposals reduce populations. In fact, what

         18  they do is they transfer food, quite consumable

         19  food, from one place, which is a contained place, to

         20  another, which is an uncontained place in the sewer

         21  system. So, I think the likelihood of that actually

         22  reducing the rodent population is questionable.

         23                 There are also very serious

         24  environmental concerns that the Department of

         25  Environmental Protection could speak to more

                                                            80

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  relating to nitrogen loads and the environmental

          3  impacts of that.

          4                 The residential I think only related

          5  to new construction, not any existing construction,

          6  if I recall the legislation correctly.

          7                 Be that as it may, certainly garbage

          8  handling and containerization is a key area to look

          9  at in terms of reducing food sources for rodents.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I mean, it may be

         11  true, but the relocation of the rodents may be

         12  beneficial, because obviously we would rather have

         13  the rodents in the sewer lines, as opposed to

         14  restaurants doing pull-ups on the backs of chairs,

         15  or even in the homes. Because what didn't get as

         16  much attention, is unfortunately a mother rolled

         17  over on her baby in the Bronx in my district because

         18  of the fact that in her apartment there was a rat

         19  infestation problem and she felt concerned for the

         20  safety of her child, and unfortunately, it was a

         21  newborn child and she accidentally rolled over on

         22  her child because she was concerned of the safety of

         23  her child.

         24                 So, I think even if it may just

         25  relocate, you know, the rodent infestation from
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          2  above surface to below surface, I think that would

          3  be enough of a reason for us to consider doing a

          4  pilot program, and I would hope one day to be able

          5  to gain the support of the Department of

          6  Environmental Protection and the Department of

          7  Health, because this is a major health situation.

          8  We're talking about different, you know, rats have

          9  been able to, you know, distribute the plague in

         10  history, the rats have been the main incubators of

         11  many diseases, and I'm pretty sure New Yorkers want

         12  to have a, you know, a good mouse trap or rat trap

         13  and this would help in that manner.

         14                 On another note, I know that's a long

         15  discussion for another day, I just want to touch on

         16  another important thing to many members. The

         17  Department of Health has been the brain child of

         18  some pretty good, you know, programs like the SPARK

         19  Initiative and other initiatives that came out of

         20  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. Since

         21  it is a record surplus year, you know, for us in the

         22  City of New York, has there been any question

         23  between the Department of Health and the

         24  Administration on baselining some of these

         25  initiatives that have been proven time and time
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          2  again to be extremely beneficial to the City of New

          3  York, in terms of reducing obesity, diabetes, like

          4  the SPARK program and other programs, which is the

          5  brain child of the Department of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene.

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: What we have

          8  done in this fiscal year is look at our resources

          9  and try to have them reflect as well as possible the

         10  public health priorities, what will make a

         11  difference in people's lives, and we do have some

         12  additional resources that we're redeploying within

         13  the agency in order to increase funding for diabetes

         14  prevention and control, and for cardiovascular

         15  disease prevention and control, but we still remain

         16  very grateful for the Council's support and we very

         17  much look forward to continuing to have that. It's

         18  made an enormous difference. We've now trained

         19  thousands of pre school and day care teachers, and

         20  the result of that is that we have gone back many

         21  months later and found that they're still using the

         22  program, they're excited about it, and kids in their

         23  care are getting a lot more physical activity, as a

         24  result of which they are healthier.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The Council is
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          2  always supportive, and you know, we would like to

          3  one day see the Administration baseline some of

          4  these great programs.

          5                 But on another note, on the NYC 2030,

          6  I see you mentioning testimony, the allocation of $2

          7  million per year for air quality inspection, to

          8  determine whether or not the programs that are being

          9  implemented within this plan are being effective.

         10                 The Department of Health does a

         11  phenomenal job. I was just wondering, are you going

         12  to be collaborating with the Department of

         13  Environmental Protection, which, you know, would be

         14  another agency that can also do environment, you

         15  know, air quality inspection. And if they're not

         16  involved, why is that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We will work

         18  closely with DEP. We will also work closely with

         19  EPA, with DEC, the State Environmental agency, with

         20  academic institutions, to have active work in this

         21  area, as well as with other organizations.

         22                 As it happens, the Bloomberg School

         23  of Public Health, Johns Hopkins, has a large program

         24  here, we're already in communication with them. We

         25  want to get the best practices from around the world
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          2  really, and apply them here.

          3                 This relates to emerging evidence of

          4  the microclimate in different areas, really from

          5  area to area there can be very large differences,

          6  even within a neighborhood or a borough.

          7                 Do you want to say anything?

          8  Introduce yourself.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Now, how long

         10  will the air quality study take, and will the

         11  findings be released to the public?

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Every finding

         13  is going to be transparently available to the

         14  public. The time line, we really have to work out

         15  the exact methodology before we can say that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. All right.

         17  And then on the 11 positions that are being

         18  furloughed under the Oral Health Program, the Dental

         19  Health Program, are they going to be brought back

         20  during the normal school year? Is that the plan? I

         21  didn't hear that.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         23  They'll all return to work in September, and

         24  basically that's the plan.

         25                 But the fact is that the schools that
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          2  they work in are closed, and there really isn't

          3  other productive work that we have for the dentist

          4  and the dental assistants work with the dentists, so

          5  the productivity isn't there. We've looked at other

          6  potential things that could be done, but the real

          7  focus of our program is a dental hygienist function

          8  of dental sealant application. So, although we wish

          9  we could gainfully employ them over the summer, we

         10  have not identified a responsible way to do that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: There is no

         12  summer school programs that --

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've already

         14  covered the summer school program, but the number of

         15  students is fewer in concentrated schools. The

         16  school there is very packed in those, because

         17  they're working hard to catch up, so the amount of

         18  time available even at the end of that school day is

         19  very limited there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: What's the dollar

         21  amount we'll be saving from the furlough?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: About $200,000.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: About 200,000.

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: 150, sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And I believe
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          2  that's it.

          3                 Another note, with the Ryan White

          4  reauthorization, obviously we get some information

          5  on the funding later in August and September, I

          6  believe, on the federal side, of whether or not

          7  there is going to be a shortfall. Do we have safety

          8  gap measures that we're putting into place now, just

          9  to prepare just in case we do have a shortfall from

         10  the federal government?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're working

         12  on ways, we have some new contract types and my

         13  recollection is that we're delaying the initiation

         14  of those new contracts so we have a bit of a buffer

         15  in resources. The State is making some additional

         16  resources available for the drug program ADAP, and

         17  we're getting preliminary information from

         18  Washington about the amounts and looking at the

         19  implications that will have.

         20                 I think it is likely to have a

         21  service impact. That was our first estimate. I don't

         22  now what our current estimate is, given our latest

         23  information.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. Well, if

         25  you do get that information, we would appreciate it.
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          2                 At this point in time I want to give

          3  my colleagues the opportunity to ask a couple of

          4  questions. First we have Council Member Peter

          5  Vallone, then we have Council Member Simcha Felder,

          6  then Council Member Inez Dickens, and then Council

          7  Member Rosie Mendez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

          9  Thank you, Commissioner, for all the work you're

         10  doing. That air quality study is especially

         11  important to the people in my district, we have 75

         12  percent of the power for the entire City. The

         13  ashtray of our City, treated that way by the State,

         14  and we look forward to the results of that and it

         15  will be a huge help to us. And it was a pleasure to

         16  work with you on the transfat issue, issues such as

         17  that, and smoking, very controversial. Not things

         18  you had to take on, but things you did and will save

         19  lives and I just want to say how much we appreciate

         20  all the effort, all the work you've done.

         21                 Obviously in an area as important as

         22  yours, though, there are going to be areas where we

         23  each have concerns, and one of mine is the bottom of

         24  the second page, I guess, the funding you're putting

         25  in for World Trade Center-related concerns. You
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          2  know, as Public Safety Chair, that's something I've

          3  been involved with for awhile with you. And you say

          4  you have 7.7 million for mental health and substance

          5  abuse treatment services and some of that will go to

          6  a website which is a good idea. There is a recent

          7  study that just showed that instances of sarcoidosis

          8  and other horrible lung diseases are much more

          9  prevalent in our first responders than they ever

         10  were since 9/11. What are you going to be doing to

         11  be treating those sorts of problems that our first

         12  responders have been having, and are just coming to

         13  light now?

         14                 Let me have you answer that question

         15  first, before I go into my second part.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The resources

         17  that we have are for some information for a mental

         18  health and substance abuse benefit program. For

         19  first responders who have physical problems or

         20  mental health problems, there are a series of

         21  programs through the Fire Department, through Mount

         22  Sinai, through other partners. Our programs are to

         23  help us better understand, respond to issues that

         24  are arising. Clearly, both respiratory disease and

         25  psychological effects of WTC appear to be the two
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          2  most likely long-term impacts, and we're looking

          3  closely at those.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm not sure

          5  I heard the answer.

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And I forgot to

          7  say thank you very much for your interest in health

          8  issues.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         10  So, what is the City doing then, the City itself,

         11  for our first responders who are affected by lung

         12  diseases like sarcoidosis?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is a

         14  treatment program for -- there's basically three

         15  different programs, one is for the Fire Department,

         16  through the Fire Department. One is for any other

         17  first responder or responder through Mount Sinai.

         18  And then Bellevue has a Center of Excellence which

         19  will be for anyone else, or any of those groups that

         20  want to go to Bellevue. Those are three very high

         21  quality service centers.

         22                 At the same time as the Health

         23  Department, we have issued guidance to physicians

         24  throughout New York City and have sent detailed

         25  clinical guidelines on how to diagnose and treat and
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          2  manage the most common WTC-related health problems

          3  to all licensed physicians, nurse practitioners, and

          4  others in New York City, and we continue to get

          5  those out widely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And how are

          7  those programs funded?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Those programs

          9  are funded until now federally. The City has also

         10  made substantial new resources available. What I

         11  referred to in my budget testimony is specifically

         12  what is coming to the Department of Health and

         13  Mental Hygiene. There is also funding for the Health

         14  and Hospitals Corporation. We've also worked very

         15  closely with our federal congressional delegation to

         16  advocate for more dollars at the federal level.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Clearly you

         18  are addressing the issue, how do you then explain

         19  the feeling out there which is conveyed to me many

         20  times by first responders that not enough is being

         21  done in that area, and forcing some of them to turn

         22  to a cult, quite frankly, for apparent assistance.

         23  And this cult is in an area where there is an

         24  apparent lack of resources for our first responders,

         25  and moved in, which concerns me. So, I want to know
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          2  why that's out there.

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think there

          4  are real concerns here. If you look at any

          5  environmental disaster or environmental

          6  contamination issue, there are I think in 100

          7  percent such episodes in any state, anywhere in the

          8  US, there is a deep-seated distrust of the public

          9  sector and what government officials said.

         10                 We have tried to be completely open

         11  with all the information we have, with our WTC

         12  Registry, the same month it closed we released the

         13  findings. We publish things to registrants, to the

         14  public, in scientific journals to try and be as open

         15  as possible, to shed light on things that will be

         16  helpful.

         17                 At the same time there are people who

         18  are suffering. We don't have a full understanding of

         19  all of the problems that are going on and that leads

         20  people to turn to alternative therapies, which are

         21  very common for a variety of things.

         22                 I think it is important to address

         23  both the mental and the physical aspects. We know

         24  from past disasters that often the disability that

         25  comes from post traumatic stress disorder, from
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          2  anxiety and depression, not only can be disabling

          3  but also can also have major physical defects on

          4  individuals.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So what would

          6  you recommend to someone who did feel that they had

          7  some sort of lung problem arising out of 9/11; who

          8  should they call? What should they do?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: They should

         10  start with their physician and with a systematic

         11  evaluation of their problems.

         12                 If they want specialty care, there

         13  are specialty programs available, the three I

         14  mentioned earlier. There are guidelines available

         15  from the Health Department that their physician can

         16  access. And we will continue to update those

         17  guidelines as information becomes available.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Will your

         19  website assist in any way?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         21  We're going to be launching a comprehensive website

         22  that will include all information that we can find

         23  that we can kind of vet as being valid information

         24  about WTC and the health effects.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's
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          2  important. When do you see that going on line?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We hope by the

          4  fall at the latest.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, I'll

          6  follow up with you on that. That's an issue I

          7  somehow find myself embroiled in.

          8                 But the last set of questions is

          9  about the obesity epidemic. Your efforts on

         10  transfats are going to go a long way to helping in

         11  that regard, but I don't think either of us think

         12  that's going to solve the problem.

         13                 What else can we do? There have been

         14  recent studies about the lack of healthy choices in

         15  certain areas of this City. I know our Chair has

         16  been very active in that area. There is a

         17  proposition about limiting fastfood restaurants

         18  which may or may not be possible, but at least we're

         19  coming up with ideas and focusing attention on that

         20  very serious problem.

         21                 What can we do as a City? We moved in

         22  the transfat area because the federal government

         23  wouldn't, and they should and they didn't and now

         24  the entire country is following us.

         25                 What else can we do when it comes to
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          2  high fructose corn syrup, when it comes to a lack of

          3  healthy choices, what else is cooking at the Health

          4  Department to take care of this problem?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well, these are

          6  really difficult issues that I think are primarily

          7  in the federal court. As you know, the transfat

          8  issue will prevent heart disease, but will do

          9  nothing about obesity.

         10                 What we've tried to do is tip the

         11  balance on obesity to the greatest extent any

         12  locality can, by increasing physical activity

         13  programs, in day cares, in schools, in parks, by

         14  reducing energy dense food consumption through

         15  promotion of low-fat milk, fruit and vegetables.

         16                 Under Deputy Mayor Gibbs there is a

         17  food coordinator to try to address both food

         18  insecurity, as well as access, and address some of

         19  those deserts where you can't get reasonably priced

         20  healthy food.

         21                 Learning from other public health

         22  initiatives the things that are most likely to be

         23  effective are things that change the price of food

         24  so that healthy food is relatively cheaper than

         25  unhealthy food. That involves like the subsidies.
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          2  There is a farm bill being debated now in Congress

          3  that is critically important because economics will

          4  determine behavior and unless we change the balance

          5  and unhealthy food remains so much cheaper than

          6  healthy food, we will not reverse the tide of the

          7  obesity epidemic.

          8                 At the same time, we continue to

          9  expose our children to large quantities of

         10  advertising for unhealthy foods, and I think decades

         11  from now they'll look back and say what in the world

         12  were they thinking allowing that to go on.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, it's a

         14  scam, Commissioner, and you're absolutely right. And

         15  I look forward to working with you on that. The fact

         16  that they allow Wonder Bread to be called

         17  "wholesome," and they allow half of the things out

         18  there to be called healthy, is a travesty. People

         19  should go to jail for that, for putting this poison

         20  into our kids. Eating  Wonder Bread is like eating

         21  poisonous cement and putting it into your body. And

         22  to allow that to be called wholesome, and you're

         23  right, this is a federal problem. The federal

         24  government is co-opted by the food industry, and we

         25  will wait another 20 years before they move on it.
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          2                 And I'm very interested to continue

          3  to hear your musings on the problem, but I also want

          4  to know what you think we can do here in the City to

          5  perhaps change some of that advertising or take some

          6  action in that regard, maybe even advertise

          7  campaigns of our own.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'll turn it

          9  over to Dr. Lynn Silver, who is our Assistant

         10  Commissioner for Chronic Disease Prevention and

         11  Control.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: Good

         13  morning, Councilman Vallone. The City is taking a

         14  number of initiatives to address this on the food

         15  side as the Commissioner was mentioning. Deputy

         16  Mayor Gibbs's office recently created a Food Policy

         17  Task Force, with the participation of the Speaker's

         18  Office as well. That's working on three fronts,

         19  increasing access to food, through food support

         20  systems. We brought together City agencies that are

         21  very involved in procuring foods, and actually

         22  distributing foods, including the Department of

         23  Education, DCAS, Corrections, Department for the

         24  Aging, Juvenile Justice and others to examine

         25  together the City's food procurement practices and
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          2  try to improve all City funded food distribution.

          3                 The Mayor's Sustainability Plan is

          4  also addressing a number of built in environment

          5  issues, how is our City designed and structured to

          6  improve access to physical activity over the coming

          7  years. And as you know, and Councilman Rivera was

          8  citing, we're engaged in a series of programs to

          9  increase and access physical activity in as many

         10  venues as possible, including day care schools and

         11  work sites. Recently approved regulations for a day

         12  care, for example, also are encouraging more

         13  activity physical activity time in day care, as well

         14  as improved nutrition standards, but there is a lot

         15  to do yet.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That all

         17  sounds great. It also sounds very obtuse. Not in a

         18  bad way, it's just I'm sure you can't go into all

         19  the specifics right here, but what can we do? Let's

         20  focus on one area. The lack of healthy choices in

         21  certain areas of the City. You know, that's as you

         22  said driven by economics and nothing else, but it

         23  does exist, and what can we do as a City to help

         24  alleviate that problem? Is there anything the City

         25  Council can do regarding laws or actions? What can
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          2  you do as a Health Commissioner?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think we have

          4  to look at some of the economic incentives to

          5  businesses to offer healthy foods, whether that's

          6  supermarkets or green markets or others, the issues

          7  are complex but we would be delighted to explore

          8  them along with other intricate parties.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Green markets

         10  are a great idea. I'm trying to bring that into my

         11  neighborhood. But I'm sure the Chair and I will take

         12  you up on that and work with you on that in the

         13  future.

         14                 Again, there are some minor areas

         15  that we all have concerns, but I want to overall say

         16  you're doing an excellent job. I commend you for the

         17  lives you've saved, for the work you're doing, and

         18  look forward to working with you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Before we move on to the next

         23  questioner, I just wanted to state for the record

         24  that, you know, the Department of Health has a

         25  program, A Healthy Bodega Program, which goes into
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          2  local neighborhoods and tries to get more healthy

          3  foods onto the shelves.

          4                 There was an article the other day in

          5  one of our major publications that showed

          6  neighborhood-by-neighborhood difference in terms of

          7  what's available, and that's important, especially

          8  since, you know, we don't want to have a situation

          9  where the poor are only eating poor quality food,

         10  and the rich get to eat good quality food. And we

         11  don't want to have any more of our Council members

         12  go on a diet program that is unhealthy and not up to

         13  the standards of the Department of Health and Mental

         14  Hygiene. So, I just want to commend you on the

         15  effort and see how are we expanding that, how are we

         16  going to try to make sure that we have affordable,

         17  healthy food on the shelves, as opposed to

         18  affordable unhealthy foods?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We'd be happy

         20  to continue to follow up with you on that. I think

         21  it's very important, it's very challenging. The

         22  Administration is very committed to that. We have a

         23  food coordinator, Mr. Thomas. So, we'll look at all

         24  possible alternatives. We have some suggestions of

         25  ways to increase the accessibility and reduce the
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          2  price of healthier foods and we look forward to

          3  working with you on those.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Fantastic. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 The next line of questioning will

          7  come from Council Member Simcha Felder, then Council

          8  Member Inez Dickens, Mendez, then Gerson. And we've

          9  been joined by Council Member Robert Jackson.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 Good morning, Commissioner. How are

         13  you?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Good afternoon.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Good

         16  afternoon, Commissioner. How are you?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Fine. How are

         18  you?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Good. Thank

         20  God.

         21                 By raise of hands, how many people

         22  here work for the Health Department? Good. My name

         23  is Simcha Felder. When I call, please answer. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 I just have some, again, a
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          2  hodge-podge of questions. I shouldn't really be the

          3  one, or maybe I should be the one talking about

          4  healthy foods. I love chocolate. But you know, how

          5  many City agencies have contracts with some sort of

          6  vendor to provide machines in their buildings for

          7  food?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I don't have --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right. So,

         10  let me just tell you, a regular day at City Hall for

         11  me. Besides the coffee in the morning, which is I

         12  know very healthy. At some point in the day I get a

         13  craving. What I do is, if there's not enough

         14  chocolate in the Speaker's Office, you know, the

         15  little bowl that somebody has with a little, you

         16  know, some healthy stuff, some other stuff, I go

         17  down to the basement here at City Hall. And let me

         18  tell you, I find whatever I want to find, and most

         19  of what I find is not what you want me to eat.

         20                 So, you know, I don't know the

         21  details, but at a minimum, you know, there was this

         22  whole uproar, rightfully so, about what the kids are

         23  drinking in schools. I don't know if there are some

         24  vendor system in schools, but at a minimum, I can

         25  tell you that there are vendors that do vend fruits,
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          2  juices -- forget about juices, fruits, some have

          3  packages, small packages of carrots. And if they're

          4  available to me, I'm not opposed to eating anything

          5  healthy or healthful, but obviously, in buildings

          6  that the City itself has, if they're vending, if

          7  they're doing contracts with companies that vend

          8  junk, then you're certainly helping me continue in

          9  the way I'm going, which is not good.

         10                 So, I would just ask, you know, as my

         11  fellow Council members mentioned about what can be

         12  done, at a minimum we could set a standard in City

         13  buildings and City offices not to have machines that

         14  sell junk, if that's possible?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I agree with

         16  your concern.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Does that mean

         18  yes? I don't understand.

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's something

         20  that has to be looked at on a Citywide basis, since

         21  we don't operate those concessions from the Health

         22  Department's perspective.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right. I think

         24  that certainly, that's a most basic story, you know,

         25  like what do you say, Chair? I mean --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: On your behalf

          3  I'm going to make a very unpopular request to the

          4  Speaker, and that's to eliminate any junk food from

          5  City Hall. And I'll just make the reference that

          6  Simcha Felder had requested --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You could do

          8  that. But the secret to that bowl is that I'm the

          9  one paying for that chocolate. I bring the

         10  chocolate, they fill it.

         11                 But in any case, seriously, you can

         12  do whatever you want. Do whatever you want. But

         13  seriously I think this is a simple thing that may

         14  help.

         15                 On the other hand, at the same time,

         16  even the vendors in the street that sell fruits and

         17  vegetables, you know, they're the vendors that sell

         18  whatever they sell. It just would seem to me that

         19  during the winter it's impossible, but if you

         20  compare the number of vendors that do sell

         21  newspapers and junk, compared to the vendors that

         22  just sell fruit and vegetables, you know, it's

         23  certainly more. And I know it's not under your

         24  jurisdiction, but can you imagine if you gave some

         25  sort of benefit, if that was legal for somebody who
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          2  wants to sell newspapers and solely sells things

          3  necessarily, bags of things that are healthful,

          4  again, you could help an addict like myself eat

          5  better. So, that's that.

          6                 The other thing I wanted to ask you

          7  about that was a concern to Council Member Vallone a

          8  number of times, the satellite dishes. Has the

          9  Health Department, I'm just curious, done any

         10  studies, in terms of whether they pose a danger,

         11  whether they don't pose a danger, whether they're

         12  legal in their schools, not schools, and I know to

         13  his credit, Council Member Vallone has been very

         14  aggressive about this stuff, rightfully so, do you

         15  have any information about this?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have

         17  systematically reviewed the data and have not

         18  identified any health risks from the levels that we

         19  would expect here.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, it doesn't

         21  matter whether the schools, this whole issue about

         22  being near younger children or adults, your belief

         23  is that it does not pose a danger; is that what you

         24  said?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Good
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          2  afternoon.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I saw you were

          4  dying to come up, so I figured I'll ask some --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I've

          6  been here, right? I keep coming, I might as well say

          7  something.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'm

         10  Jessica Leighton, I'm Deputy Commissioner for

         11  Environmental Health.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can I just

         13  interrupt you for a minute?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm a little

         16  off usually, but particularly with this question.

         17  I'm also talking about the cell phone towers,

         18  obviously. But I just wanted to make that clear.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We've

         21  reviewed the literature and for the most part there

         22  have not been very clear relationships between cell

         23  phone use, cell phone towers and adverse health

         24  affects. I think more research is being done. More

         25  needs to be done on a federal level and nationally
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          2  among the academic institutions, but the literature

          3  that's come out so far does not show major adverse

          4  health effects from cell phone use or radiation from

          5  the --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 And finally, the issue with the

          9  rodents. I'm very curious. The rodent infestation,

         10  besides that which is in homes, and you talk about,

         11  it almost seems impossible, I don't want to say that

         12  but it almost seems impossible. We know in theory

         13  that let's say you live in an apartment building and

         14  you have an exterminator come in to take care of a

         15  roach problem, for example, and your neighbor next

         16  door is not keeping the place clean, it's a waste of

         17  money because you get rid of it for a day and then

         18  you have it.

         19                 Anybody in the City travels the

         20  trains, you know, I won't tell you it's my favorite

         21  pass time, I have crazy pass times, but I do look

         22  into the tracks to see how many guys are running

         23  around, you know, by the train comes. The train

         24  stations are infested with rodents. I don't see how

         25  you can possibly do anything about it when you have
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          2  such a mammoth train system running through the City

          3  that they can, you know, they're just full of it.

          4                 Now, one particular area that I have

          5  been asking for your help is that the railroad that

          6  runs where there was a proposed cross harbor

          7  project, there is a railroad that used to be a Long

          8  Island Railroad, now it's under somebody else's

          9  jurisdiction, it runs all the way from Bayridge, all

         10  the way from Brooklyn to Queens, that now it has a

         11  rare -- there's a train that goes there once a day,

         12  is infested with rats because people on a regular

         13  basis use it to dump garbage. That is not under the

         14  City's jurisdiction, and they should keep it clean,

         15  or they should keep it rodent-free.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: If there are

         17  any specific sites that you're aware of, please let

         18  us know. We will follow up.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: This is a very

         20  long site. And the answer I've gotten in the past is

         21  that it's almost like the City ticketing itself,

         22  because it's sort of under the --

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: But there's a

         24  Rodent Task Force that has multiple agencies on it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We work with

          3  Port Authority, with MTA, with others, and although

          4  I agree that it's a daunting task, I don't think it

          5  is an impossible one. I think it is possible to

          6  reduce levels of infestation, not to eliminate all

          7  of them but to reduce numbers, through careful

          8  management and judicious extermination.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can I ask just

         10  one last thing?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Please. And

         13  recycling, forgetting about garbage itself, but

         14  bottles, bottles that lay in people's cans, and

         15  paper, not necessarily, could that be a source of a

         16  rodent problem? Not pure garbage?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We don't think

         18  it's the main source. It's really the putrescible

         19  waste that is.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay. Thank

         21  you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Council member.

         24                 There is just a point of information

         25  by Council Member Vallone on the cell phone towers,
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          2  and then we'll go back to Council Member Inez

          3  Dickens, and then Mendez, Gerson and Jackson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chair. Just because my name was bandied about,

          6  and I always get nervous when Simcha does that. But

          7  I just want to state for the record, that I disagree

          8  with the conclusion, I believe that the conclusion

          9  that there was no harmful health effects to be

         10  found. There have been. There are worldwide studies

         11  that show there have been harmful effects to the

         12  radiation emitted by cell phone towers. Of course,

         13  there are many studies that show otherwise.

         14                 The federal government regulations

         15  which exist now are based on science from the 1980s,

         16  have not been changed since then, do not distinguish

         17  between adults and children when it comes to

         18  radiation levels. It's another scandal that that

         19  hasn't been changed yet. But what we can agree on,

         20  and I think we said this, is that much more research

         21  needs to be done. I believe you would agree that

         22  there is evidence on both sides of this issue, and

         23  most of these studies have been done by the phone

         24  industry, but there is evidence on both sides of

         25  this issue. In my opinion, until we know what the
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          2  effects are, we need to put the towers up

          3  responsibly. I'm not asking that they be stopped,

          4  but that they be put up in responsible areas, not

          5  based on income to the phone industry, but based on

          6  service and based on the health of our residents,

          7  until we know for sure the effects of these towers.

          8                 So, I wanted to state my position and

          9  I guess disagree with you. I'm not actually sure

         10  where you came out on it but I wanted to make sure

         11  that my position was clear.

         12                 By the way, we did pass a resolution

         13  at the Council calling on you to do a study of these

         14  effects, not just read what was out there but do

         15  your own study. The Mayor has refused to do that

         16  apparently.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         19                 At this point in time, we are running

         20  pretty far behind, so I'm going to ask the next

         21  questioners please be as concise as possible. We've

         22  been joined by the Chair of the Finance Committee,

         23  David Weprin. I don't know if he wants to make a

         24  statement before we move forward.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just it's always
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          2  a pleasure to see you, Commissioner, which ever hat

          3  you are wearing at the time, and we look forward to

          4  a good working relationship as we go through this

          5  budget, and I've got a couple of capital questions

          6  but I'll defer to colleagues at this point.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, thank you.

          8                 Next will be Council Member Inez

          9  Dickens.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you,

         11  Chairs. And thank you, Commissioner, for your

         12  testimony.

         13                 I have just a couple of short

         14  questions. Do you need the State approval to close

         15  the clinics that you discussed?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The facilities

         17  that we're talking about, we're not closing any

         18  clinics. There are no Health Department clinical

         19  services in those buildings. We're talking about

         20  essentially changing the ownership from the Health

         21  Department to DCAS.

         22                 In any facility that is Article 28,

         23  operated by the State, does require State

         24  notification, and I believe approval to close, but

         25  we don't operate any clinical service there. That's
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          2  why we're thinking of them, the Health and Hospitals

          3  Corporation does have Child Health Clinics at both

          4  places, changing the ownership does not alter

          5  whether they continue or don't continue to provide

          6  those services.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, with the

          8  change of ownership the Child Health Care Clinics

          9  will remain open?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Whether or not

         11  they remain is not related to who is the owner.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: But I'm going

         13  to still ask the question.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Regardless of

         16  who owns the building.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Will the

         19  Child Health Care clinics remain open at these

         20  sites?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's HHC that

         22  would make that determination.

         23                 Do you know?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Do you know

         25  whether they will remain open or not?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: To the best of

          3  my knowledge, the plan is to keep the one open in

          4  Gleeb and the one in Staten Island, there's

          5  discussions of possibly moving it to a different

          6  site that would be more accessible and better for

          7  the clinic to be at. That would be consolidating or

          8  moving -- moving to a better building in a more

          9  accessible place is something that's being

         10  considered for that site.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So the

         12  buildings that we're talking about, there's two

         13  locations then?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         16  And, so, in essence one will remain open in its

         17  present location and one will be closed and

         18  relocated; is that my understanding?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's my

         20  understanding, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

         22  the one that's relocated, that means that area will

         23  not be serviced where it is now; will you, or HHC,

         24  have to seek State approval for that relocation?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes. That's my
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          2  understanding.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: But that's

          4  not you. The one on Staten Island. That's not you,

          5  that's HHC?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

          8  I'd like my chairs to please ask HHC if they have to

          9  get State approval, and if so, will the Council be

         10  notified in advance that they are seeking this?

         11                 Because there has been a trend in the

         12  past where the Department moves them, and DCAS also,

         13  and then they're eventually closed and DCAS owns the

         14  building. So, there's some issues and concerns I

         15  have.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And we're happy

         17  to keep in touch on any plans that we have to move

         18  -- we've moved very cautiously on this. We've

         19  looked at the alternatives, and this has been what's

         20  made the most sense.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Because child

         22  care clinics look like they're in jeopardy here, and

         23  I'm getting a little nervous about what I hear about

         24  relocation and change of ownership and don't know

         25  who is going to notify the State and who gets State
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          2  approval and who doesn't.

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Anything under

          4  our jurisdiction, we'll certainly keep the Committee

          5  informed. For anything under HHC's jurisdiction, I'm

          6  sure they will as well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Prior to

          8  seeking the approval of your intent to do so, so

          9  that we will have an opportunity to have hearings on

         10  it for the impact on our communities.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We'll certainly

         12  keep communication lines open.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'm not quite

         14  sure what that means.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We'll let you

         16  know if we're planning to close any place.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'm nervous

         18  about what that means. I'm not quite sure.

         19                 One last question, on page three of

         20  your testimony you talked about consolidation of

         21  operations. Can you expand on this, please? Because

         22  I'm not quite sure what this means?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm sorry,

         24  where?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Page three.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right. So this

          3  basically relates to the fact that we currently have

          4  buildings where we have no services, or buildings

          5  where we have a small number of services and other

          6  buildings which we may be able to put together. So,

          7  it's a way of trying to operate more efficiently for

          8  the staff. These are for the Health Department's

          9  operations, not places where we have functions that

         10  people come to for services. So, basically the

         11  concept is, if you do something in two different

         12  buildings, can you do it in one building more

         13  efficiently?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Well, since

         15  we're talking about consolidations and closings,

         16  Manhattanville has been closed since about 2000,

         17  1999.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It has.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And it has

         20  left that whole area, which is grant and

         21  Manhattanville developments without services.

         22                 The residents of that area are in

         23  need of a health center in that location. It is

         24  difficult for them to commute to other locations

         25  that are not nearby, by the way.
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          2                 What is your plan, if any, for the

          3  Manhattanville? Are you willing to work with us in

          4  the City Council and with the area and with the

          5  community board to try to develop a plan where maybe

          6  Manhattanville can be reopened?

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

          8  We're committed to reopening the facility. We're

          9  quite open to suggestions about what might go into a

         10  reopened facility. There was one chemical dependency

         11  treatment, a methadone site there that we think is

         12  much needed in that area, methadone sites have been

         13  having a really hard time getting locations, we'd

         14  like to help them move back in. Beth Israel, which

         15  operates it, is very interested in moving back in. I

         16  think we need to look at what other services are

         17  both needed and feasible to continue.

         18                 Scottie, do you want to say anything

         19  more on it?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS-LEEKS:

         21  We've actually been meeting with various community

         22  groups, including -- I'm Scottie Owings-Leeks,

         23  Deputy Commissioner for Administrative Services.

         24                 We've been meeting with various

         25  community groups who have expressed interest in
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          2  services at Manhattanville. We also continue to be

          3  in dialogue with HHC, regarding the Child Health

          4  Clinic. One of the things we will need to do in the

          5  next year, is we will be renovating, fully

          6  renovating one of our health centers, Riverside, and

          7  our STD clinic that's there will be relocating to

          8  Manhattanville as swing space while that renovation

          9  occurs, and so that they could go back to Riverside.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Does that

         11  mean it will swing in and swing out again?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS-LEEKS:

         13  Yes, because the clinic currently operates out of

         14  Riverside, and so while we're renovating Riverside,

         15  we will offer those services at Manhattanville.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And that

         17  still will leave Manhattanville without service?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS-LEEKS: The

         19  idea is to plan for permanent ongoing services at

         20  Manhattanville. That's an ongoing effort and we're

         21  committed to working that through. But to let you

         22  know that one floor at Manhattanville will serve as

         23  swing space for the agency's STD clinic while it is,

         24  the other renovation is occurring.

         25                 There are two other floors there.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I appreciate

          3  your testimony, Deputy Commissioner. However, I do

          4  have some serious concerns about whether there will

          5  be a permanent health clinic at Manhattanville, not

          6  a one floor that serves as a suite area for another

          7  clinic that is actually a great distance and poses a

          8  problem for travel for the area residence of Grant,

          9  which is a huge development, as is Manhattanville.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In the past, as

         11  you know, there was an HHC Child Health Center

         12  there. HHC has expressed an intense return. The

         13  number of visits to that Child Health Center was

         14  relatively small and since that time Child Health

         15  Centers that are freestanding like that have

         16  continued to have, even the ones that are opened, to

         17  decline.

         18                 So, we need to look at what are the

         19  community needs that would have high levels of

         20  utilization. We're quite open to doing that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And as at the

         22  STD center, as the population increases in that

         23  area, because as you know there is a lot happening

         24  there, tell me how is that one at Riverside going to

         25  be able to in itself surface an increased
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          2  population?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The Riverside

          4  -- well, you know more.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS-LEEKS: The

          6  Riverside renovation for the STD clinic will indeed

          7  expand the STD clinic at that site.

          8                 Currently that particular clinic,

          9  that building actually, is in serious disrepair, and

         10  in order to make it operational in today's world, we

         11  need to close that clinic, that facility, the whole

         12  building, and do a gut renovation.

         13                 That STD clinic will be temporarily

         14  at Riverside, and we've discussed the movement of

         15  clients, if necessary, as we have done on other

         16  occasions, to try to provide some shuttle service,

         17  if necessary. But it's just imperative that we close

         18  that site in order to renovate. And for us, the

         19  Manhattanville site, best suits that purpose. I

         20  mean, transportation-wise we've looked at it, and

         21  while, yes, there is about a 20-block move, public

         22  transportation does go in the directions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Twenty blocks

         24  is a long way. And you have cited just one of the

         25  reasons why Manhattanville has to be reopened,
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          2  because of that 20-block span that you're talking

          3  about, and for families that have difficulty in

          4  maneuvering, for our seniors who cannot, the

          5  Manhattanville serves the best purpose, it's right

          6  in the middle of two developments. It could be the

          7  best location. I want to lobby on behalf of

          8  Manhattanville and that's what I'm doing now.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS-LEEKS:

         10  Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, you know,

         12  I want that to be taken seriously under

         13  consideration. Not to meet with the community just

         14  to make us feel better, but to have a serious

         15  dialogue on how we can.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've been very

         17  clear that we're serious in the dialogue. I take

         18  offense that --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Well, please

         20  don't, Commissioner. I'm very concerned because it's

         21  been closed so long.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We want

         23  something there that will make sense for the

         24  community. That's our goal.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The closest
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          2  hospital, there's one at St. Luke's, I'll tell you.

          3  But I apologize if you take offense to it. I didn't

          4  mean for you to be offended.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The fact is

          6  it's been closed too long.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Exactly. That

          8  is what I'm trying to get across.

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We take

         10  responsibility for that. We do want to move forward.

         11  We do have an interim plan. We would like to get the

         12  Beth Israel Program back there as soon as we can,

         13  and we do need to look forward. So, we would look

         14  forward to working with you, thinking through what's

         15  the best way to do that. It has been a struggle to

         16  figure out what's the best service available, and

         17  we've had several false starts, where we had

         18  something where it looked like everyone would be

         19  happy with it, then they're not, then something else

         20  and they're not. So, we're quite open.

         21                 In the meantime, we do have services,

         22  STD services that will be coming there as a result

         23  of the necessary renovation at Riverside. So, I just

         24  want to say, I agree with you. It's been too long.

         25  We are sincerely meeting to try to think through
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          2  what would make the most sense there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Well, I'm

          4  glad to hear that, and I'll hold you to that.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

          6  Please do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          9  Mendez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 Good afternoon, Commissioner, now

         13  that I look at my time.

         14                 I actually attended public schools,

         15  so I have a couple of questions regarding public

         16  schools. When I was in public school we had a

         17  doctor, a nurse, and we had regular dental services,

         18  so I've been -- and we used to have to bring in

         19  actual forms every time to show that we had been to

         20  a dentist, otherwise they would not allow us to stay

         21  in school. So, if knowing that there is an

         22  inadequate child dental capacity in the City, why is

         23  the Department reducing the budget of the School

         24  Dental Program, and where does a readily accessible

         25  service in many communities that otherwise would not
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          2  exist?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: Good

          4  afternoon. I'm Louise Cohen, Deputy Commissioner for

          5  Health Care Access and Improvement in which the

          6  dental program resides.

          7                 I think as we have mentioned that we

          8  agree that dental services are extremely important

          9  and we think it's critical that every child has both

         10  a medical home and a dental home.

         11                 As you know, however, our services

         12  are a relatively small proportion of the City's

         13  dental services that serve low-income Medicaid

         14  eligible and uninsured children, and our aim is,

         15  with our program, is to have the most public health

         16  and prevention benefit that we can. So, that we can

         17  reach as many children as we can, particularly with

         18  primary prevention, especially sealants, which has

         19  been shown to be effective in preventing dental

         20  decay. We want to make sure that every child has

         21  access to insurance enrollment and to referrals for

         22  dental care.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: It was

         24  mentioned in the testimony about the furloughing of

         25  some employees. Can you tell me how many employees
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          2  will be furloughed and can you please give me the

          3  breakdown by dentist, dental hygienists and dental

          4  assistants and by full- and part-time employees?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: There will

          6  be a furlough of 19 part-time dentists, 14

          7  part-time, and 17 full-time dental assistants.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Can you repeat

          9  that again? Nineteen part-time?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: Nineteen

         11  part-time dentists, 14 part-time dental assistants,

         12  and 17 full-time dental assistants. I'm sorry, seven

         13  full-time dental assistants.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And will these

         15  furloughed employees be able to receive unemployment

         16  during the furlough period? And what will happen to

         17  their health insurance benefits?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: They will

         19  be eligible to receive uninsurance, if they're

         20  eligible for it, and they will be eligible for COBRA

         21  for their health insurance benefits.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: What

         23  additional outreach is being done to the parents and

         24  students by the Department -- what additional

         25  outreach to parents and students is the Department
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          2  conducting for the School Dental Clinics?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have

          4  continued to do outreach in the schools that we're

          5  in, as well as in the communities those schools

          6  serve, as well as focusing on outreach around the

          7  current five sites that are in Department of Health

          8  clinics. So, that includes providing information for

          9  parents through the schools. We have developed a

         10  couple of new brochures. We're going to be ensuring

         11  that particularly through the summer as we try to do

         12  some outreach around our health centers, and for the

         13  fall that there will be sufficient information for

         14  parents and children in schools to find out about

         15  how to access our services and other dental services

         16  in the City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Besides doing

         18  outreach through the school, what other outreach has

         19  been done to the parents and students? Is there any

         20  outreach through community-based organizations near

         21  the schools?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have

         23  done that and we would like to continue to do that

         24  and do that more efficiently and more effectively.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Can someone
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          2  tell me about the turnover rate of school nurses in

          3  the public schools?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Specifically

          5  turnover rate? I don't have detailed information,

          6  but we could get back to you on that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. And if

          8  you could give me a breakdown, the turnover rate,

          9  but also give it to me by month?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Is it for

         11  school nurses?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Correct.

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Okay, we'll try

         14  to give you what we can.

         15                 The problem is, anyway we'll give you

         16  whatever information we can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: What's the

         18  problem?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There's a

         20  question?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Well, I know

         22  some school nurses, and I understand that there is a

         23  big turnover rate. It's unclear what's being done to

         24  try to retain the nurses in the schools, and many of

         25  them are, when they're being called for their
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          2  trainings, have already left, not even being in the

          3  school system for two weeks; were you aware of this?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Actually, I'm

          5  not familiar with the high turnover. We have trouble

          6  hiring nurses, and particularly have trouble finding

          7  nurses to go to the highest need neighborhoods.

          8                 This has been our biggest challenge.

          9  We still have a significant number of nursing

         10  vacancies. We've used agency nurses to try to fill

         11  those, even with the agency nurses we're not always

         12  able to fill. We're looking at ways to change the

         13  way we contract so that we'd be able to fill those

         14  more effectively. We're also looking at ways to make

         15  the job of School Health Nurse more satisfying, but

         16  we do a lot of training. We've done an electronic

         17  health records system for nurses, we've done a lot

         18  of professional development. So, there's quite a bit

         19  we do to try to retain nurses, and there are certain

         20  titles for which I'm familiar for which we have a

         21  high attrition rate. That's not one of them, but

         22  that doesn't mean we don't have one. So, I'll be

         23  happy to look into it and give you the information.

         24                 The month is complicated because of

         25  leave absences and things like that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. There is

          3  a vacancy, but there also is a high turnover, and I

          4  am willing to meet with you at some later point and

          5  get you whatever information that I can give you on

          6  that. And I think it would be important to do a

          7  follow-up on that.

          8                 You talked about asthma and the

          9  PlaNYC for 2030, and my predecessor had funded a

         10  program in our public schools an asthma free school

         11  zone. As a result of that study, we have determined

         12  that when the school buses who usually have diesel

         13  emissions, and other cars were made to power down,

         14  there were less asthma attacks by children in the

         15  schools, the attendance rates went up astronomically

         16  in the schools. I saw the difference in our district

         17  and I would like to see that expanded and I want to

         18  know if the Administration has looked a those

         19  studies and have considered doing a broader Citywide

         20  project of this?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We certainly

         22  are supportive of the asthma free school zone

         23  initiative. We do agree that school buses are a

         24  significant cause of particulate emissions. PlaNYC

         25  has definite focus on reducing emissions. School
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          2  buses is definitely one area, and it's an area that

          3  I think we need to look hard on.

          4                 One of the initiatives for PlaNYC is

          5  specifically reducing school bus emissions.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And I asked it

          7  earlier of HHC, I'm going to ask, there are concerns

          8  that have been raised about the staffing of the

          9  Health Department, particularly in the middle and

         10  upper levels of management; can you give us a

         11  breakdown of the race and ethnicity of upper and

         12  middle management of the Department, and what

         13  efforts are being made to ensure that hirings or

         14  promotions are reflective of the population?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: This is an

         16  issue that we take very seriously and have for many

         17  years. We've looked increasingly at different ways

         18  to recruit, retain and promote individuals so that

         19  we would have the best possible mix reflective of

         20  our diverse City.

         21                 We do a lot to grow our own staff.

         22  Most of the promotion is done within the Health

         23  Department, are from within. Most of the hiring to

         24  higher titles is done by promotion within the Health

         25  Department.
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          2                 We also reach out very systematically

          3  through job fairs, through colleges, where we would

          4  be more likely to be able to recruit

          5  under-represented minority individuals. We've

          6  developed networks of minority organizations, media

          7  outlets, colleges, university. We would be happy to

          8  share with you that information.

          9                 We also have specifically worked with

         10  a mentoring program to identify promising

         11  candidates, promising individuals from within the

         12  Department to try to move them forward, to train

         13  them, to have them take higher positions with

         14  greater responsibility, and I'm actually pleased

         15  with some of the results of that that's resulted in

         16  people moving up to positions of more responsibility

         17  within the Department.

         18                 In terms of information, we have

         19  looked at this over the past year and over the past

         20  few months. We have looked at all Health Department

         21  employees, we've looked at all managers, people with

         22  an M title, and we've looked at higher level

         23  managers, M3 or above, and we've compared that with,

         24  just for comparison's sake, both the adult

         25  population of New York City overall, we've also
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          2  compared it with the adult population in New York

          3  City who have a college degree or more. Just

          4  understand that for many of the jobs, that's a bare

          5  requirement. And for all managers, looking at all M

          6  designations, New York City, we have about 25

          7  percent African-American, about eight percent

          8  Hispanic, about eight percent Asian Pacific

          9  Islander, and about four percent classified or

         10  unknown or didn't respond to the questions,

         11  obviously they're voluntary questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Can you repeat

         13  those numbers again, please?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Twenty five

         15  percent African-American, eight percent Hispanic or

         16  Latino, eight percent Asian-Pacific Islander, and

         17  four percent unknown. That's a substantial

         18  under-representation of the Latino population, with

         19  respect to the population as a whole in New York

         20  City. In New York City, if you look at the adult

         21  population, holding a college degree, 11 percent are

         22  Hispanic. So, eight percent is below, although not

         23  substantially below, that 15 percent, 14 percent are

         24  African-American, 15 percent Asian Citywide.

         25                 So, we've looked at various ways of
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          2  looking at this, all of which is to say that we

          3  recognize this as an area that requires focused and

          4  constant effort, and that we're committed to trying

          5  to do better on.

          6                 We do face significant problems with

          7  respect to both candidate pool and respect to our

          8  salaries at the managerial and higher levels. The

          9  salaries that the Health Department offers are

         10  substantially below market for technical staff,

         11  physicians, scientists, managers, and that makes it

         12  even more difficult to recruit the candidates that

         13  we would like to be able to recruit.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And we're

         15  talking here about upper and middle management,

         16  because certainly when my colleague Simcha Felder

         17  asked who works for the Health Department and all

         18  the hands went up, it didn't seem representative of

         19  the ethnic and racial composition in this City.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We agree that

         21  this is an area that we need to continue to work on.

         22  I personally spend a great deal of time trying to

         23  both encourage people to apply and encourage people

         24  to come at high levels.

         25                 We do face the reality that for many
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          2  of our highly technical positions there is a very

          3  limited number of qualified under-represented

          4  minority candidates, and even more limited number

          5  that are willing to come for substantially below

          6  market rate salaries, which is what we're required

          7  to offer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Commissioner.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.

         12                 Council Member Gerson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 Good afternoon, Commissioner. And I

         16  would be remiss if I did not again take the occasion

         17  to acknowledge and thank you for your leadership in

         18  dealing with the health and response to 9/11

         19  Citywide, and of course, in the community I

         20  represent.

         21                 So, let me start there. You testified

         22  that there is still a lot of science that we do not

         23  know as to cause and effects of many of the

         24  exposures which occurred on and after 9/11. I don't

         25  see how anyone can quibble on that, of course.
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          2                 Therefore, would you therefore and

          3  the Department support a relatively minor capital

          4  allocation in the area of $3 million to upgrade

          5  research laboratories, or a research laboratory in

          6  the NYU Bellevue complex, which undertakes, or for

          7  the purposes of expanding its capacity, to undertake

          8  basic scientific research.

          9                 As I believe you or your Department

         10  is aware, many of us took a tour of the Bellevue NYU

         11  complex and it was brought to our attention that

         12  there exists laboratories that with a relatively

         13  minor upgrade and with the resulting capacity then

         14  to attract NIH grants could actually do additional

         15  basic, you know, science, scientific research,

         16  putting toxins under the microscope and setting

         17  cellular reactions, I'm sure you know better than me

         18  what they could do. And we were told by the

         19  researchers there that this is not being done. My

         20  concern -- well, would it not be a good idea to

         21  expand the capacity for that type of work?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Without me

         23  knowing the details of the work, it's hard for me to

         24  address it. But there is in the Administration's

         25  budget substantial capital dollars and operating
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          2  dollars for Bellevue, NYU, to expand clinical

          3  services, not just there but also at satellite

          4  clinics around the City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That I'm aware

          6  of, and that's outstanding, and we've got you

          7  covered with your predecessor, that would be your

          8  predecessor from HHC and you played a major role in

          9  assuring that, and I'm asking you, though, the same

         10  question I asked him. In addition to the clinical

         11  services to help us bridge the knowledge gap, if we

         12  can, and we'll certainly follow-up with your office,

         13  with the information that was brought to our

         14  attention to make sure it's accurate and to make

         15  sure we're doing everything we can, I'll just state

         16  my one concern is that this not get caught up in

         17  kind of a bureaucratic catch-22 because of this

         18  moratorium that is being posed upon capital support

         19  to facilities in non-City-owned buildings, and if

         20  the particular best cost-effective lab happens to be

         21  technically within the NYU part of the NYU Bellevue

         22  complex, I would not want us to see a loss or

         23  inability to support the capital improvement

         24  necessary for the basic research for that reason.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I can't comment
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          2  on that budget because I'm not familiar with the

          3  details. But I'll be happy to look into it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, so,

          5  we'll follow it up and certainly we'll need to

          6  follow up within the next few days as we approach

          7  budget adoption.

          8                 But in terms of the general

          9  principal, I mean do we need to do better as a

         10  society, shall we say, or do we need to do more in

         11  terms of the basic research to bridge the knowledge

         12  gap?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There certainly

         14  is a need for more basic research. What the relative

         15  role of the federal, State and City governments is

         16  in funding that research is I think something open

         17  to discussion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Absolutely.

         19  But if there is this need, then with a little bit of

         20  investment we can begin to meet that need. That's

         21  certainly something we should consider. Do you

         22  agree?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's something

         24  we should consider, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Then I'll look
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          2  forward to considering that with you in the next few

          3  days.

          4                 The 7 million you spoke of for

          5  substance abuse and mental hygiene programs related

          6  to 9/11, I take it that's in addition to the

          7  commitments to expand the clinical services?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, that's

          9  separate. It's 7.7 million for the WTC coordinator,

         10  as well as the benefit program.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's not

         12  part of the Bellevue and satellite --

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's right.

         14  That's in addition.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, very

         16  good. I take it that reflects a need for ongoing,

         17  you know, emotional mental counseling services, and

         18  that need, I take it you would agree extends to

         19  adolescents and younger children; would you agree

         20  with that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: All

         22  individuals, sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I ask that

         24  because we are at a point where many of the

         25  in-school counseling programs that were put in place
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          2  by Project Liberty have recently expired or are

          3  going to expire, as you know, so does it make sense,

          4  in view of this ongoing need to which you just

          5  testified in this expiration that we should enhance

          6  in school capacities to at least identify and begin

          7  to respond to emotional issues?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're looking

          9  hard at in-school mental health issues. To think

         10  about the kids are there, so we know often the

         11  biggest barrier is seeking care, but if kids are

         12  already there, that there's a real opportunity,

         13  particularly in the middle and high school levels.

         14                 I've met with Chancellor Klein on

         15  multiple occasions to discuss the issue of mental

         16  health services in the schools, and we're thinking

         17  about how to expand that in a more systematic

         18  fashion and hearing that we'll be starting soon --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: As soon as I

         20  finish.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I gather we'll

         22  be discussing that as well, but there is certainly

         23  an opportunity for more to be done in terms of

         24  mental health in the schools and a great need.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Does it make
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          2  sense as part of that effort, as a good step that an

          3  expansion of guidance counseling would --

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have to look

          5  at what makes sense. We looked very carefully when

          6  designing this program to see if there were specific

          7  neighborhoods where they could be targeted, and

          8  actually the effect is pretty wide spread across the

          9  City. That's why we established it as a benefit

         10  program that people can call a number to get

         11  authorization to go to their usual source of care.

         12  That's a benefit program that we're operating.

         13  Separately we're looking at mental health services

         14  in the schools and what makes the most sense there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And do you

         16  think we'll see something in place for the upcoming

         17  school year beginning in September?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are some

         19  programs. We're looking at ways to possible increase

         20  them with Chancellor Klein and the Department of

         21  Education approach to giving principals the

         22  authority to select services. We're looking at the

         23  opportunity of principals to select services that

         24  include mental health and mental health services

         25  component.
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          2                 We're also looking with the State

          3  which has expanded some services for children,

          4  mental health services for children, trying to make

          5  sure that that gets moved forward rapidly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I'm sure

          7  my colleague, Council Member Jackson, would agree

          8  the sooner the better that we make these programs

          9  available to our schools.

         10                 Returning to the Bellevue and related

         11  satellite clinical services, is there a need for a

         12  pediatric pulmonologist as part of the clinical

         13  services provided?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I believe

         15  they're hiring one.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Well,

         17  then that's good news, because that's something that

         18  we asked for, the community has asked for. So, is

         19  that being hired for the Bellevue location?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, I believe

         21  so.

         22                 Okay, can you confirm that with us

         23  after the hearing? And if it is being hired that

         24  would be the next weeks, months? The short

         25  timetable.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you have

          3  the budget to hire one?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Bellevue has

          5  the budget to hire.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Bellevue has

          7  the budget as a result of the allocation?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, that's my

          9  understanding.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And you agree

         11  it makes sense clinically that there should be a

         12  pediatric --

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: If there are

         14  patients to be seen, there should be an expert there

         15  to see them, absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think you

         17  need to pull the microphone a little closer.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Sorry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, then I'm

         20  just going to wrap up with rats, so-to-speak.

         21                 We heard about the pilot program, but

         22  what about the rest of the rodent abatement effort,

         23  the budget for that? Is that remaining the same as

         24  in the current fiscal year? Is it being enhanced at

         25  all? Is it being cut back? If we take out the 1.1
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          2  million --

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is no

          4  other increase in the program in the current budget

          5  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No other

          7  increase?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No.

          9                 I think, as I said earlier, that we

         10  simply don't provide the services that the public

         11  expects in rodent control. We need to try to do what

         12  works, do more of it. It's a very serious issue in

         13  many communities and I think it's something that we

         14  need to do a better job at.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And this is

         16  clearly an issue that we have had, this has come up

         17  in many and countless community meetings and

         18  discussions with agencies, and, Commissioner, let me

         19  suggest to you that one of the clear needs for which

         20  we don't need to extend money on additional studies,

         21  one of the clear needs is for greater coordination

         22  among the relevant agencies. So, for example, we

         23  have Department of Health as a lead agency in much

         24  of the City, but just last night at a meeting we had

         25  a situation where the Department of Parks takes care
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          2  of rats within Park Department property, but, of

          3  course, rats don't respect the boundary lines and

          4  there was lack of coordination between efforts

          5  within the park and just across the street outside

          6  of the park, and then we have the role of the

          7  Department of Sanitation, because clearly how

          8  garbage is picked up with the degree of frequency,

          9  how it is stored, until it is picked up has a

         10  bearing on the rodent population. Council Member

         11  Felder talked about the underground subway area, and

         12  there are other agencies involved there, then when

         13  you put it all together, you have parks on top of

         14  subways, across the street from -- you know what I'm

         15  getting at. Is your Department the Department that

         16  we looked to for coordinating all of the above? Is

         17  there a master coordinator?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That would be

         19  us. That would be us.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That would be

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The big rat

         23  coordinator.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There you go.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Really, as you
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          2  say, it is overwhelmingly an issue of sanitation. We

          3  work very closely with many other agencies, and

          4  we're looking carefully at, for example, Parks and

          5  DOT and other agencies, can we get best practices

          6  for extermination for reduction of food sources, and

          7  this is something that we're looking at closely with

          8  the Bronx pilot, and if it's successful, then we

          9  would expect to expand that Citywide.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm concerned,

         11  and I appreciate the imperative and the benefits of

         12  a targeted pilot program, but that's what, a

         13  one-year pilot?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We'll see how

         15  it does over the next year or two, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Year or two.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Actually it's

         18  baselined. It's baselined.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Your pilot

         20  program?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, but

         23  until you get the results that you could begin to

         24  import elsewhere in the City, I'm talking about a

         25  year, two years?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are some

          3  things we can do now in other places, and we'd be

          4  happy to be in touch with you about that. At the

          5  same time, to be blunt, there is a long history for

          6  going back decades, many decades of the City

          7  declaring war on rats, trying a new approach and

          8  then it not working. And this seems to get

          9  rediscovered every few years.

         10                 We would like to do something that we

         11  have more confidence, will actually make a

         12  difference here.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm just

         14  concerned that we can't have, if you add to what I

         15  said all the construction, which is going on in

         16  Lower Manhattan and throughout the City, all the --

         17  make sure you don't leave any food, Council Member,

         18  the rats will -- if you add all the construction

         19  that is going on, that exacerbates the entire

         20  situation.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, we can't

         23  wait one or two years, so I'll conclude on this, if

         24  I heard you to say that even before the pilot

         25  program is continued, you would consider kind of a
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          2  mini pilot or whatever you want to call it,

          3  coordinated effort, and where there is an identified

          4  need we could follow-up then with your office.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely, and

          6  thank you for your interest on this issue, I think

          7  it is something where we need to do better.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. And

          9  maybe with some more money as well, outside of the

         10  pilot program. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, we lost

         13  Council Member Perkins, so we have to have somebody

         14  fill that roll, since he always raised the issue of

         15  rats on a regular basis.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And right now

         17  the Chief Rat, is that --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         19  Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 Commissioner, good afternoon. I'd

         23  like to follow-up on a couple of items.  My

         24  colleague, Council Member Inez Dickens raised the

         25  issue of Manhattanville and I think that you sort of
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          2  responded to it, and you agree that it's been too

          3  long since the center has been opened, and I think I

          4  have part of the responsibility because I have not

          5  been diligent in following up along with several

          6  leaders of the community that had been trying to get

          7  that clinic open. So, I think that I bear a little

          8  responsibility. But I say to you that talk is cheap,

          9  and I want, and even though I bear some

         10  responsibility for not being diligent in following

         11  up, but we want to see some action. We want the

         12  clinic open, we want the services there, and quite

         13  frankly, yesterday or tomorrow is not soon enough.

         14  So, I say to you publicly here, and I will follow up

         15  with you privately, that we must get that clinic

         16  open. There is no excuse, no excuse whatsoever, even

         17  with the amount of monies that the Mayor is asking

         18  each agency to commit to, to save, with the $5

         19  billion budget, $5 billion, not million, there is no

         20  excuse for Manhattanville clinic, or Manhattanville

         21  Health Clinic, or Manhattanville Child Clinic,

         22  whatever you want to call it, there is no excuse for

         23  that facility not to be reopened. So, let me just

         24  say that, and I think that you agree with me, you

         25  have said that it should be reopened. You said that
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          2  the HHC agrees that it should be reopened, the whole

          3  issue is what goes there.

          4                 Well, if we have to put ourselves in

          5  a room and close the door and agree not to come out

          6  until we decide and then implement it, and I'm not

          7  talking about a year or two years from now, I'm

          8  talking about now. The same thing I've talked about

          9  with the budget, when I've talked about the State

         10  budget and with CFE and with education funding,

         11  sometimes we've got to lock people in the room until

         12  it's done.

         13                 And, so, Commissioner, I'm saying to

         14  you I'm willing to be locked into a room with you

         15  and whoever else, in order to make sure that

         16  facility has opened up that meets the needs, not

         17  only of you as the Commissioner of Health, but the

         18  community.

         19                 And, so whatever is proposing to go

         20  in there with the STD clinic as far as transition,

         21  let me just say that in theory I have no

         22  disagreement with that, because clearly we must be

         23  able to make sure that our children and adults are

         24  not transmitting sexual transmitted diseases. But

         25  also, you know, we have individuals here that have
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          2  been involved in discussing that, and so we need to

          3  follow up on that rather quickly.

          4                 But let me ask on that from a

          5  budgetary point of view. Does this Executive Budget

          6  have any negative impact on that clinic or facility

          7  being reopened?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No. Once we

          9  come to a plan and we're happy to continue a meeting

         10  we'll move forward.

         11                 The City doesn't do construction as

         12  fast as I would like, but we'll move forward as fast

         13  as we can to get it done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. So,

         15  I'll be following up on that. Thank you.

         16                 Let me just ask, and David Weprin did

         17  mention that the rat man is no longer in City

         18  Council, but he still wears that little rat on his

         19  lapel, Bill Perkins. But in following up on the

         20  rodent, I mean clearly all you have to do is watch

         21  the news and all those rats scurrying around in a

         22  restaurant, and I could just see it right now, and

         23  it was just crazy, crazy, crazy, let me just say

         24  that.

         25                 But you have, and if you discussed
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          2  this before while I wasn't here, please let me know,

          3  the $1 million in Fiscal 2008 and the outyears, an

          4  additional 11 personnel to commence a pilot program

          5  in the Bronx, did you discuss that in detail?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We discussed

          7  it. I don't know how much detail, so I would be

          8  happy to give you a bit more, if you'd like.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did you

         10  discuss what area of the Bronx it's going to be

         11  piloted --

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The entire

         13  Bronx, with a focus on the levels of highest

         14  infestation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, and

         16  what major areas is that right now?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right now? It's

         18  mostly the South Bronx, Mott Haven, that area that

         19  has the highest levels.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And this is a

         21  pilot project?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's baselined

         23  and it's pilot, so we can see if it works.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, and

         25  assuming that it works very well, is there
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          2  anticipation to go Citywide? Because rats are a

          3  Citywide problem?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We would very

          5  much like to. If we can find an approach that works,

          6  we would like to take that Citywide.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did you

          8  discuss about the 11 additional City personnel, what

          9  positions will they consist of? Was that discussed

         10  in the testimony?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Good

         12  afternoon.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good

         14  afternoon.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'm

         16  Jessica Leighton. I'm Deputy Commissioner for

         17  Environmental Health.

         18                 We're going to be hiring a number of

         19  different people to work on this project. It

         20  includes, we have a line for a rodentologist.

         21  Someone who can really help us figure out what's the

         22  best thing to do in this community.

         23                 We have a number of sanitarians

         24  working on the projects, exterminators, we have

         25  people to assist with understanding data that we're
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          2  doing regarding rodents. I think a unique part of

          3  this project is what we talked about a little before

          4  is the indexing approach where we're going to go out

          5  to communities and properties proactively to see if

          6  there are rodent problems on the property, and then

          7  issue orders, violations to those properties, so

          8  we'll be, rather than waiting for complaints in

          9  those areas that have had a lot of complaints, we'll

         10  actually be going out and surveying a community.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But the 11

         12  personnel you talk about, they are?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         14  Inspectors, exterminators, people to try to help --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you have

         16  exterminators on your staff itself?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We do

         18  have exterminators on our staff.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We also

         21  order the landlords to hire exterminators when we

         22  find violations, and obviously there is a need for

         23  general extermination in the City. But we really

         24  feel that it's not just a question of exterminating.

         25  There needs to be a more proactive approach. So,
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          2  pest control is not just a question of

          3  extermination, it's garbage handling, it's dealing

          4  with food issues.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And that's my

          6  next question, though. Are you coordinating your

          7  activities with other City agencies? And if so,

          8  which ones?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Well,

         10  we have a rodent task force that meets quickly, and

         11  it includes I believe about 19 City agencies. On

         12  this specific project we'll be working very closely

         13  with the Parks Department and with the

         14  Transportation Department, and as always, we'll work

         15  with sanitation and Department of Education.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I assume

         17  since the pilot project is for the entire Bronx, but

         18  you're going to be focusing in on the higher needs

         19  areas, which you say basically the South Bronx. I

         20  assume you're coordinating that, besides the

         21  agencies you're indicating, with the Bronx Borough

         22  President's Office?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We'll

         24  get whoever involved in that community --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What about
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          2  City Council members?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'll be

          4  glad to get City Council Members involved.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because, you

          6  know, getting rid of rats is a collective effort.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          8  Absolutely, we very much view it as a community

          9  issue, and to really address a problem in the

         10  community, we need community focus, including

         11  landlords, tenants, people really need to know that

         12  garbage is the main thing and if they're improperly

         13  getting rid of their garbage, it's going to create

         14  problems.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And will the

         16  Department continue to use 3-1-1 to funnel rodent

         17  complaint calls, or will there be another aspect

         18  since this is a pilot project in the Bronx?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Okay.

         20  So, complaints in the areas that are slightly lower

         21  risk in the Bronx area, will be addressed

         22  immediately as they have been, and, in fact, our

         23  response time has gone down and we hope to even

         24  reduce our response time more.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What is that,
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          2  please?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: What is

          4  the actual response time?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Our

          7  target is about ten days, and it's about that to get

          8  out to the community at this point. And we can send

          9  you more data on that, too.

         10                 For the higher-risk areas, we're not

         11  even going to wait for complaints, we're going to

         12  get out there, and really address the problem before

         13  we get a complaint in that neighborhood.

         14                 If complaints come in simultaneously,

         15  we'll already be out there addressing the problem.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I assume

         17  that's also in coordination with the community

         18  boards; is that correct?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: We'll

         20  work with everyone in the community.

         21                 I mean, our goal is really to try to

         22  get the community to understand it is a community

         23  issue that we all need to be involved in addressing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Considering

         25  the high publicity of the rats in the restaurant,
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          2  are there more calls concerning rat complaints? And

          3  if so, what is the number of complaints about rats

          4  or does the City get every year?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I

          6  believe there is about 25,000 rat complaints. Or

          7  that was inspections. Let me get the number.

          8                 But our two programs, our restaurant

          9  program and our rodent program, are now working

         10  extremely closely to try to address any problems

         11  that restaurants may have related to rodents.

         12                 So, we've really, you know, based on

         13  the situation that happened a few months ago, we've

         14  really made that effort, used that opportunity to

         15  really try to collaborate more with our program,

         16  within our programs.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And has that

         18  budget for that area, has that been increased as a

         19  result of the fact that everybody is so scared out

         20  for all of these rats and rodents running around in

         21  restaurants, that the day before or two days before

         22  got a green light by inspectors?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Right

         24  now we're still evaluating the needs of the program,

         25  so haven't actually determined what the fall need is
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          2  for addressing rodents in restaurants.

          3                 So, yes, it was 26,000 complaints in

          4  FY '06 for rodents.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In FY '06,

          6  okay.

          7                 Do you happen to know, and if you

          8  don't know, I guess we can find out a little later,

          9  this is now going into '07 and especially after

         10  that, how many at this point in time in '07?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In the first

         12  four months of the Fiscal Year we actually had a

         13  decline from '06 from 11,000 to 9,000 but that's

         14  really before the incident.

         15                 We did see an increase in complaints

         16  after the incident.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: After that.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Well,

         20  thank you very much. I will follow-up on the

         21  Manhattanville Health Clinic.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         25  Council member.
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          2                 Council Member Sears, and if I could

          3  just remind my colleagues, we're into the mental

          4  health portion, so if you could kind of limit your

          5  questions to one question so we can get back on

          6  schedule.

          7                 Council Member Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          9                 Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         10                 Well, I have two, but they're so

         11  short, because they're both waiting to be asked. The

         12  first one is the school dental clinics and there is

         13  this proposal to close several of them. In so doing,

         14  what was the criteria that was used for the closing

         15  of them? And where are those students going, and if

         16  they are going to the central health stations, which

         17  seem to be very high in capacity. What are the

         18  alternatives?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: First of

         20  all, let me say that we are actually not closing any

         21  dental sites. The fact is that the sites that are in

         22  schools during the summer, most of these schools are

         23  closed. Therefore, historically we have not had

         24  services --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are those
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          2  dental clinics going to stay open? Because I

          3  received notice about one, and I'm not being

          4  parochial about some of these dental clinics

          5  closing.

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to be

          7  clear, we have fixed dental sites, five of them, and

          8  we're not planning to close any of them.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have

         11  increased the number of sites in schools from about

         12  40 to about 60, 62 --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We are looking

         15  at the best way to deploy those sites in schools,

         16  and the staff of those sites so that they can rotate

         17  and serve more children.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, the

         19  summer school, I don't know how many are open. I can

         20  tell you Citywide so many are open who need those

         21  services, and perhaps you can review which ones you

         22  do keep open during the summer.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We did discuss

         24  this earlier in the hearing but the summer school,

         25  scheduled where there are big schools that are open,
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          2  we provide services; however, what we have found is

          3  that it's a compressed school day, the kids are

          4  really focusing on going through it so they don't

          5  have to repeat the year. And it's very unproductive

          6  to put dentists in that context.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, so if any

          8  Council member really wants to bring one particular

          9  site to your attention in the summer, they can feel

         10  comfortable to do that? Because in some of the

         11  schools, they're the after school programs and

         12  they're not catching up their enhancements, and

         13  there are two-, three-, four-hundred students in

         14  those summer schools.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Where we can

         16  work productively we would be happy to.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 The next question is, it has to do

         20  with tuberculosis, and where, conceptually what are

         21  the levels of the cases of tuberculosis. Because I

         22  was looking at some of the stuff that was compared

         23  by the City Council, and you had a large budget in

         24  '06, in '07, that shrunk a little bit from -- in

         25  '07 it was 32 million, I'm just rounding them off,
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          2  modified to 30 million and then in '08 it goes up to

          3  32. So, I just want to know where are we with

          4  tuberculosis?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And do we have

          7  any strains that are not responding to the medicine

          8  that we have today?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The big picture

         10  is since the early '90s til now we've had a 90

         11  percent reduction in tuberculosis among people born

         12  in this country, who have had a 95 percent reduction

         13  in the multi-drug-resistant strains of tuberculosis.

         14  Because tuberculosis remains a global epidemic, and

         15  New York City is a global City, we continue to have

         16  many cases among people who are born and infected

         17  with tuberculosis overseas.

         18                 They don't come in with the active

         19  disease but it may breakdown in their body years

         20  lady. Such that now about 70 percent or more of all

         21  of our cases are among people who are born abroad.

         22                 What we've found is that the epidemic

         23  is shifting from 15 years ago, largely an inter-city

         24  epidemic, now though it still affects the inter-city

         25  disproportionately, a large number of immigrant
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          2  people who may have jobs as stock traders, or

          3  teachers. So, we've ended up having to do a large

          4  number of investigations in worksites to ensure that

          5  anyone who may have been exposed learns about it, is

          6  offered testing for tuberculosis and if infected is

          7  offered preventive treatment so they don't develop

          8  it in the future.

          9                 The number of such investigations has

         10  actually increased over the last couple of years,

         11  although the number of cases of tuberculosis has

         12  decreased, and we think that's related to the fact

         13  that there are more people with tuberculosis in the

         14  workforce, even though the number is fewer, cases.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Or they are

         16  unaware they have it? I mean, I'm not following you.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: When people

         18  develop tuberculosis, they're sick. They have cough,

         19  fever, night sweats, so they become aware. But until

         20  they're diagnosed, they're infectious. Once they're

         21  put on treatment, they rapidly become

         22  non-infectious.

         23                 So, the program has been dealing with

         24  federal budget cuts that have been substantial and

         25  are likely to continue. The challenge with
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          2  communicable diseases, such as tuberculosis is to

          3  maintain services so we don't have a resurgence. In

          4  the 1980s New York City let down its guard, as did

          5  the nation, and we had a resurgence of tuberculosis.

          6                 We want to continue those services

          7  despite the declining federal support.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, is that

          9  reflected in your '08 budget?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, basically

         11  we're preserving services in tuberculosis control.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So there is no

         13  cut in that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is no

         15  cut.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         17  much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         19  Council member. Council Member Kendall Stewart.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair. Commissioner, I just wanted to ask a few

         22  simply questions. I know I was told only one, but

         23  seeing that I would have some sort of a deeper

         24  understanding of some of these problems, other than

         25  my colleagues. I just wanted to raise, first of all,
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          2  you spoke, I looked through your testimony and I

          3  didn't see anything on prostrate cancer. Is it that

          4  we are not really focusing on the fact that

          5  prostrate cancer is really destroying minorities

          6  throughout the City of New York and we're not really

          7  taking a concerted effort to really do something

          8  about it?

          9                 Could you just talk about that a

         10  little?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Prostrate

         12  cancer is a terrible problem. It, also as you note,

         13  disproportionately affects especially affects the

         14  African-American community.

         15                 Unfortunately, although the prostrate

         16  specific androgen test is widely done, it is not a

         17  test that has been proven to reduce the risk of

         18  either prostrate cancer or dying from prostrate

         19  cancer. It's something which the national advisory

         20  bodies suggest that physicians discuss with their

         21  patients. In fact, testing is quite widespread, even

         22  though it's not a clear recommendation to be done.

         23                 Prostrate cancer is a major concern,

         24  and certainly one of the areas is making sure that

         25  anyone diagnosed gets informed of all of the
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          2  options, the pros and cons of the different options

          3  and gets the optimal quality care, and through the

          4  Health and Hospitals Corporation that would be the

          5  lead on that, as well as community centers, such as

          6  the Ralph Lauren Center in Harlem and elsewhere,

          7  where services can be provided. But it is one of

          8  those situations where medical science hasn't yet

          9  come up with what we need to prevent the disease or

         10  to make a big difference in the natural history

         11  through early detection and treatment, insofar as we

         12  know.

         13                 It's an area of substantial

         14  controversy within the medical field, and we

         15  continue to follow the recent development so that if

         16  anything new comes out or is clearly beneficial, we

         17  could scale that up.

         18                 HHC does a great deal of work in this

         19  area, and could address that, as do the voluntary

         20  hospitals of course.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         22  Just skipping a little. In Brooklyn, we have quite a

         23  number of seniors, and we have quite a lot of senior

         24  centers, et cetera.

         25                 However, I was trying to investigate
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          2  what institutions that have any form of screening,

          3  testing or treatment of Alzheimer's, and it seems to

          4  me that SUNY Downstate has a small program there

          5  that is funded by the State for $100,000, and we

          6  seem not to be playing a role in dealing with this

          7  issue. Could you comment on that also?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: This is another

          9  area where medical science has not identified either

         10  appropriate preventive or effective preventive or

         11  effective screening and early detection programs. I

         12  think this, and other areas highlights that we need

         13  to do better in the whole field of geriatric

         14  medicine and primary care across the aging process.

         15                 There are things that can be done to

         16  improve the quality of life and preserve the quality

         17  of life of people as they age, and we work closely

         18  with HHC and the Department for the Aging on this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, what

         20  you're saying, basically you support me if I try to

         21  enhance this program at SUNY Downstate?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I don't know

         23  the program, so I can't comment on that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         25  The next question I have is on infant mortality. In
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          2  the Executive Budget here it says, the $4.8 million

          3  was not restored; are you concerned about that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We thank the

          5  Council for its support in the past, and hope that

          6  this support will continue in this and future years.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, you're

          8  concerned that, it needs to be restored you're

          9  saying?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Okay. How

         12  about, there is a simple program we have started to

         13  call Nutrition for Life, are you aware of that? You

         14  know of that program, Nutrition for Life? This is a

         15  health and educational program targeting high risk

         16  and pregnant women; do you know about that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, I don't

         18  know the details of it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         20  It's a relatively inexpensive program, $74,000, to

         21  help women with their health and education to deal

         22  with those folks who are high risk. And I know that

         23  this was not in the Executive Budget, it was not

         24  restored, or it's not even mentioned to be restored.

         25  I think this is a worthwhile program and if you have
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          2  any way to really restore this, I think you should

          3  play a role in helping us. Because you would know

          4  the benefit of nutrition.

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We would need

          6  to look at the scientific basis of any program

          7  that's recommended in that area, absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right,

          9  thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         11  Council Member. I'm just going to ask you a couple

         12  of quick capital questions, then I'm going to turn

         13  it over to my co-chair for a wrap-up and then we'll

         14  hear from the mental health portion. The

         15  Commissioner will put on his mental health hat and

         16  we'll be joined by Chair Koppell for that portion.

         17                 Regarding animal care and control,

         18  Commissioner, the Department is legally mandated to

         19  provide animal care and control services for all

         20  five boroughs. And 15.2 million is committed to

         21  acquire a site in the Bronx in Queens, as well as

         22  renovating existing facilities. How long has the

         23  Department been in search of the site, and has it

         24  been identified, and if you could give us the

         25  status?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have been

          3  looking for years and we have found potential sites,

          4  each of which has not worked out.

          5                 We currently have a potential site

          6  that we think is very promising. It can be modified

          7  to meet the needs of ACC as a shelter, we do feel a

          8  need for a shelter in both Queens and the Bronx. The

          9  ULURP process has begun for the City to acquire the

         10  site by DCAS, I'm told. The target is spring of '08,

         11  about one year. We would hope that that happens in

         12  the Bronx. We had a potential site but we were not

         13  optimistic of getting ULURP through because of

         14  nearby residential facilities, and I would comment

         15  that animal care and control is an area where the

         16  resources that we have probably are not what we need

         17  to do a really good job, both in terms of the

         18  capital and in terms of the expense in that area.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Where is the site

         20  that you identified in Queens?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm not certain

         22  of the details but we'll get back to Council

         23  members, the Committee as well as the relevant

         24  Council members.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, sure.
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          2                 If it does move forward, we really

          3  would appreciate help from the Council on this,

          4  because there is always some opposition potential in

          5  the community, people are concerned about noise

          6  understandably. But there are things that can be

          7  done in the design of the shelter that can greatly

          8  reduce concerns, and it is a need in the community.

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Okay, I agree.

         10                 The second question. Primary Care

         11  Information Project 2 in the January Plan had a

         12  commitment of 17 million for Fiscal Years '07

         13  through '011. In the April Plan they have rescinded

         14  15 million of these funds, due to the project not

         15  being eligible for capital funding. That leaves

         16  about $2 million left in the plan for this project.

         17                 What will that money, remaining $2

         18  million go for, and what are you doing to deal with

         19  that situation?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The

         21  determination in the end of the day is that most of

         22  the Primary Care Information Project efforts were

         23  not capital eligible. We had hoped they would be.

         24  Therefore we were given an expense budget to do that

         25  same program so there is no reduction in the
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          2  program. The remaining $2 million in PCIP is for the

          3  correctional health component where it's under the

          4  ownership of the Department so it is clearly capital

          5  eligible, and the remainder of the capital funds are

          6  being used for other IT capital projects. But there

          7  is no loss for this program. The PCIP project is

          8  tremendously ambitious, we're hopeful that we will

          9  have very successful installation starting this

         10  fall, and looking forward to that happening in

         11  neighborhoods throughout New York City.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you.

         13                 I'm going to turn it over to Chair

         14  Rivera.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         16  much, Commissioner. Thank you very much, Chair

         17  Weprin. I just have two follow-up questions. One of

         18  them is, what are your plans for dealing with the

         19  triggers of asthma in the high incidence

         20  communities, and why is there no funding for

         21  community-based asthma in the Health Department

         22  budget?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In terms of

         24  dealing with the triggers of asthma, one of the

         25  issues has to do with air quality, and doing
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          2  everything we can to improve air quality in New York

          3  City. We think this is probably important, as a

          4  cause of asthma.

          5                 PlaNYC attempts to do that.

          6  Congestion pricing attempts to do that. This is a

          7  very important issue that has not just economic

          8  implications, but also health implications.

          9                 At the same time, the most common

         10  trigger for asthma among children is second-hand

         11  smoke in the home. More than a quarter of kids, and

         12  about a quarter of kids who have asthma have someone

         13  who smokes in the home. So, we have undertaken a

         14  concerted effort to educate people living with

         15  asthma, as well as kids, through the School Health

         16  Program, HHC, through community partners, about the

         17  importance of having a smoke-free home to project

         18  the health of kids. Kids with someone who smokes are

         19  not only -- in the home, are not only more likely to

         20  grow up as smokers, but they're more likely to have

         21  ear infections, lung infections, asthma attacks and

         22  severe asthma.

         23                 At the same time, we have looked at

         24  what's the best way to reduce asthma as a problem

         25  for individuals. We don't know what causes asthma.
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          2  We do know in individual cases what may trigger it

          3  and we want to reduce those triggers. We also know

          4  that treatment is very, very effective. That with

          5  good treatment people can control their asthma. Our

          6  focus therefore have been to work with healthcare

          7  providers to improve the care of people living with

          8  asthma so that they're on preventive medicines and

          9  don't have asthma attacks or have fewer number and

         10  less severity of asthma attacks. That's been the

         11  focus of our efforts. We're looking particularly at

         12  Harlem and East Harlem where we have a concerted

         13  program to try to drive down asthma attack rates and

         14  asthma hospitalization rates, working with

         15  hospitals, community organizations, schools and

         16  others.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: Good

         18  afternoon. Lynn Silver, Assistant Commissioner for

         19  Chronic Disease. We're also working on expanding the

         20  identification of children with asthma and

         21  appropriate referrals in community sites. Some of

         22  this is done with our regular budgets, some with

         23  City Council funds. In particular, we've expanded

         24  work in day care sites in our three district public

         25  health office neighborhoods with early
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          2  identification and referral to make sure kids get

          3  appropriate care.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I mean, this ties

          5  into the unfortunate situation we're going through

          6  every year with the budget dance between the

          7  Administration and the City Council that if

          8  unfortunately for some reason or another the funding

          9  doesn't come out of the Council, this program will

         10  cease to exist or reduce the services?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, the

         12  program is reliant on Council funding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And there will be

         14  no effort to try to get a baseline, because it

         15  obviously is imperative or?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: My role as

         17  Commissioner is always to advocate for as much

         18  resources as possible for public health and then to

         19  have those resources spent as effectively as

         20  possible.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And in

         22  collaboration with community-based organizations,

         23  that's on a constant basis? I mean, the

         24  collaboration with the Department and the

         25  community-based organizations that has a deconnected
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          2  route in the community, how is that relationship?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're always

          4  looking to work as effectively as possible with

          5  community organizations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. And then

          7  one last point on that topic. There was a report

          8  that came out in New York Magazine about two months

          9  ago that stated that when people go to use their

         10  inhalers, there is no medication left, and that's

         11  why we have a lot of hospitalizations, in terms of

         12  asthma attacks. There's a new technology -- well,

         13  not a new technology but as a counter they can go on

         14  to the asthma pumps. I know we had a hearing on this

         15  about a month ago, and we asked the pharmaceutical

         16  company, are they planning on putting the counter on

         17  the actual asthma pumps so people can actually know

         18  how many doses they're taking. Has the Department of

         19  Health looked into doing, you know, putting out some

         20  information on knowing how many doses you actually

         21  have in your inhaler? Because that seems to be a

         22  problem in why people have emergency visits to the

         23  hospitals?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We can look

         25  into it. The larger problems that we've seen are the
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          2  failure of physicians to prescribe preventive

          3  medication and the fact that many patients don't

          4  take them. But we can certainly look into other

          5  issues as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

          7                 And then the last question overall.

          8  We have put in additional funding for the Nurse

          9  Family Partnership Program; how are these programs

         10  operation? What are the stats? Have you been able to

         11  hire the nurses that you need for the program and to

         12  keep it up an running?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: As of May 1st,

         14  the program is serving 721 clients. The breakdown by

         15  borough was as follows, 250 in the Bronx, 181 in

         16  Brooklyn, 138 in Harlem, 125 in Queens, in Jamaica,

         17  Queens. And we've started a targeted Citywide

         18  initiative for high-risk, first-time mothers from

         19  all over New York City that currently has 27

         20  first-time mothers in it. The program is moving

         21  rapidly. It is currently the largest single NPF

         22  program in the country. However, we have faced

         23  barriers. Nurse recruitment has been a challenge.

         24  We're developing referral patterns for mothers, so

         25  that's moving along well.
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          2                 We have been in discussions for more

          3  than two years to try to improve nurse salaries for

          4  this program. And I remain optimistic that that will

          5  be able to happen in the not-too-distant future.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And what seems to

          7  be the problem with the nurse recruitment? Is it

          8  salaries?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Also, this is a

         10  job that means going into high-risk neighborhoods,

         11  walking up, dealing with -- I think the nurses who

         12  are in the program find it highly motivating because

         13  they see people's lives being helped and turned

         14  around, but getting people there is sometimes

         15  challenging.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: What type of

         17  recruitment drive do we have?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Extensive

         19  efforts. We're out at nurse fairs, it's not just us,

         20  it's VNS, it's a community organization, HHC that's

         21  running the program. We're looking at whether we can

         22  offer other incentives for people to join the

         23  program and that's what we've been discussing with

         24  the Office of Management and Budget, with the Office

         25  of Labor Relations, the Department of Citywide
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          2  Administrative Services, to try to get a system in

          3  place that would increase our ability to hire

          4  nurses. But we've made and continue to make

          5  extensive efforts with specific recruitment efforts

          6  and recruiters in this area.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. That

          8  ends my line of questioning. Thank you very much,

          9  Commissioner. And to your team, thank you for

         10  providing half of our crowd here today.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner. Do you have a separate Mental Health

         15  team?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're ready.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We're going to

         18  take a two-minute break and then we're going to

         19  reconvene with Chairman Koppell's Committee, which

         20  name is too long for me to enumerate.

         21                 (Recess taken.)

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, the Finance

         23  Committee is back in session, and we're now joint

         24  with the Committee on Mental Health, Mental

         25  Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Disability
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          2  Services, chaired by Council Member Oliver Koppell.

          3                 We're also supposed to be joined with

          4  the Subcommittee on Drug Abuse, chaired by Annabel

          5  Palma, but she had a family emergency so she's not

          6  able to be here today. Everything is okay, but she

          7  spoke to me earlier and indicated I should express

          8  her regrets and she will be getting a copy of all

          9  the testimony and studying it appropriately.

         10                 Chairman Koppell, did you have a

         11  statement?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I do. I do, Mr.

         13  Chairman. Thank you.

         14                 Good afternoon. I'm Council Member

         15  Oliver Koppell, Chair of the Council's Committee on

         16  Mental Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug

         17  Abuse and Disability Services.

         18                 Of course, we have the Executive

         19  Budget of the Division of Mental Hygiene to discuss

         20  this afternoon. We appreciate the presence of Dr.

         21  Frieden, the Commissioner of Department of Health

         22  and Mental Hygiene. We miss Dr. Sederer, and wish

         23  him well in his new capacity, and we look forward to

         24  his successor. I don't know whether Dr. Frieden

         25  wants to say anything about that today, but if he
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          2  does, we'd be interested to know where that process

          3  is.

          4                 The Division's budget is

          5  approximately $681 million. Of course the budget of

          6  the Department as a whole is $1.5 billion. We want

          7  to particularly hear about the implementation of New

          8  York New York III Agreement, with respect to the

          9  development of supportive housing for people with

         10  mental illness, particularly the homeless with

         11  mental illness, which is the subject of interest to

         12  the Committee and we held a hearing on that subject

         13  and we're looking forward to hearing about progress.

         14                 I know that in the prior hearing

         15  you've already expressed your support for Council

         16  Initiatives that we have had in the health area, in

         17  the mental health area particularly, we've had

         18  initiatives in terms of geriatric mental health,

         19  children under five and certain substance abuse

         20  programs, and we are hoping to repeat the funding of

         21  those programs, but we're disappointed that they're

         22  not included in the Executive Budget. So, we're

         23  looking forward to your report, Commissioner, and

         24  we'll have some questions after we hear it. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

          3  much. Good afternoon, Chairpeople Koppell and

          4  Weprin, and members of the Committees. My name is

          5  Tom Frieden. I'm Commissioner of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene for New York City. With me is Dr. Jorge

          7  Petit, who is Associate Commissioner of the Division

          8  of Mental Hygiene, as well as Dan Lehman (phonetic),

          9  who is Associate Commissioner within the Department

         10  of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         11                 Did I just give you a promotion?

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER LEHMAN: Deputy

         13  Commissioner for Finance and Planning.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Finance and

         15  Planning.

         16                 I was just seeing if I had

         17  unintentionally gotten someone's title wrong.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So, what is it

         19  now?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Deputy

         21  Commissioner for Finance and Planning.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Good, thank you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: As I discussed

         24  in March, the Department has made significant

         25  progress in addressing behavioral health needs of
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          2  New Yorkers. We've implemented an initiative to

          3  screen and treat depression, particularly among

          4  older adults, women and Asian New Yorkers. We've

          5  used technological invasion and direct outreach to

          6  help physicians integrate mental health and chemical

          7  dependency services into primary care settings.

          8                 We've improved New Yorkers' ability

          9  to live free of dependence on alcohol and other

         10  drugs by increasing access to buprenorphine and

         11  using evidence-based practices such as screening and

         12  brief intervention for problem drinking.

         13                 At the same time, we're working to

         14  improve the performance of providers and enhance the

         15  quality of mental hygiene services. We're creating

         16  incentives for providers to expand their cultural

         17  competence, and to coordinate services for adults

         18  whose mental health problems are compounded by

         19  substance abuse.

         20                 The Early Intervention Program is a

         21  comprehensive program providing services to infants

         22  and toddlers with developmental disabilities and

         23  delays, ensuring that the right kids get the right

         24  services at the right time is a key goal of our EI

         25  program and a departmental priority.
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          2                 In order to achieve this goal in FY

          3  '07, we've made several significant improvements,

          4  including the introduction of families as partners.

          5                 The service model encourages active

          6  participation by families and care givers in their

          7  children's development in order to enhance the value

          8  of the program and achieve the best possible

          9  outcomes for children.

         10                 FAP is now operational in all five

         11  boroughs, and the program has gotten positive

         12  feedback from families and providers, and I would

         13  add that the scientific evidence is clear that

         14  programs that involve parents can make a big

         15  difference in kids' lives and programs that don't

         16  may make very little or no difference. So, that's a

         17  very, very important program enhancement.

         18                 In the year ahead we have many

         19  exciting initiatives planned. In conjunction with

         20  HRA, we're implementing the manage addiction

         21  treatment services program to provide comprehensive

         22  case management and supportive services to people

         23  who use more than $30,000 a year of Medicaid funded

         24  chemical dependency services. The program began less

         25  than three months ago and it's already above its
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          2  target, serving more than 200 clients. We're also

          3  collaborating with the Department of Homeless

          4  Services and the State Office of Alcoholism and

          5  Substance Abuse Services to provide access to

          6  ambulatory detoxification services in homeless

          7  shelters.

          8                 I'd also like to highlight several

          9  initiatives that are in the executive budget. We're

         10  moving forward with the implementation of New York

         11  New York III, which you mentioned in your remarks.

         12  It's a historic City State Agreement for 9,000 units

         13  of supportive housing for people with special needs

         14  over the next nine years. The budget includes

         15  funding for staff to develop and manage the

         16  contracts, plus 4.8 million in '08 and 9.6 million

         17  in '09 to actually fund the housing and supportive

         18  services.

         19                 We have used New York New York

         20  funding to contract for services for 850 scatter

         21  site and 3,000 congregate units. These units will be

         22  available for vulnerable individuals, including

         23  individuals who are chronically homeless, or are at

         24  risk of chronic homelessness, most of whom have

         25  mental health and/or substance abuse conditions that
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          2  impair their abilities to live independently. In

          3  accordance with the recommendations of the

          4  Administration's comprehensive report on the health

          5  impacts of 9/11, the Department's budget includes

          6  about $7.7 million in '08 to further improve our

          7  response to WABC related health concerns. With this

          8  funding, we plan to administer a benefit program to

          9  reimburse New Yorkers affected by the disaster for

         10  costs associated with mental health and substance

         11  abuse treatment services.

         12                 The new money will also fund a World

         13  Trade Center Health Coordinator who will develop

         14  one-stop WTC health resources internet site to

         15  provide through coverage of WTC-related health and

         16  mental health issues.

         17                 The Department was asked, along with

         18  all other agencies, to identify ways to contribute

         19  to the City's fiscal stability. Our plan will have

         20  no impact on services and uses a combination of

         21  one-time and recurring funds from a number of

         22  sources, such as projected savings from improved

         23  program efficiency.

         24                 Several such budget actions relate to

         25  previously planned EI spending, however, none will
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          2  impact EI services.

          3                 First, in consultation with OMB, we

          4  performed a detailed reestimate of current year end

          5  projected EI service expenditures. This analysis for

          6  field program growth as flattened considerably in

          7  comparison to previous financial planned

          8  projections.

          9                 Our projection of current year

         10  service costs are estimated to be lower than

         11  budgeted, although it's not in the testimony, I

         12  would emphasize that they are, I understand, about

         13  two percent above previous levels.

         14                 So, there is still a growth in

         15  actually services being provided, the reduction in

         16  the EI budget that you see does not reflect the

         17  reduction in service. In fact, the increase in

         18  services has continued, just at a lower rate.

         19                 The future budget is estimated to

         20  grow at the same rate as that estimated for prior

         21  years, and that results in a cost savings.

         22                 Second, we expect the State

         23  Department of Health will continue to claim past

         24  Medicaid reimbursement resulting in some additional

         25  funding, and we completed a comprehensive
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          2  reconciliation of prior year revenues and expenses.

          3  This identified funds that had been set aside but

          4  were not used. This resulted in substantial savings.

          5                 Fundamentally, what happened was the

          6  program growth was less than what was anticipated.

          7                 These savings can be used to offset

          8  current year service costs. These are one-time

          9  actions that have no impact on current or future EI

         10  service access or availability. Every child found

         11  eligible for the program will continue to be offered

         12  all necessary services as stipulated in the

         13  individualized family service plan.

         14                 Finally, the Executive Budget

         15  includes a transfer of 311, by coincidence 311, EI

         16  staff currently employed by HHC to our Department.

         17  We plan to absorb the Administration funding of

         18  these positions, as well as their associated fringe

         19  benefits, in order to fully integrate the management

         20  and operation of the program within the Department.

         21  We hope that will occur in October.

         22                 None of the above-mentioned actions

         23  will impact EI service or availability, and children

         24  found eligible for the program will continue to

         25  receive all necessary services, as stipulated by the
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          2  individualized family service plan.

          3                 I thank the Council for your

          4  collaboration and partnership. I look forward to

          5  continuing to work together in the coming year, and

          6  I would be happy to discuss your questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'll reserve my

          8  questions until after Chair Koppell goes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you,

         10  Member Weprin. Let me say that we are joined by a

         11  very loyal member of the Committee, Simcha Felder

         12  from Brooklyn, who is always very prompt about his

         13  attendance at these meetings and shows his concern.

         14  I'm sorry that Annabel Palma can't be here today for

         15  reasons beyond her control.

         16                 Let me, since you raised it as a

         17  major element of your testimony, and it is, I know,

         18  a large part of the budget for Mental Health

         19  Services, the Early Intervention Program, let me ask

         20  some questions. First of all, why is it that the

         21  growth has flattened? That's sort of

         22  counter-intuitive; do you have any sense of that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well, if you

         24  look at the proportion of children in New York City

         25  referred to the program, and it has continued to
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          2  increase, and currently fully 20 percent of all

          3  children in New York City are being referred to the

          4  program before age three.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Really, 20

          6  percent.

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Twenty percent.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: That's

          9  remarkable.

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: One in five.

         11  So, you just can't go much more than that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: No, no. That's

         13  very substantial. Surprisingly substantial.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The original

         15  estimate was 2.5 percent would be referred.

         16                 The eligibility criteria is a 25

         17  percent delay in two of five domains, or a 33

         18  percent delay in one domain.

         19                 Frankly, when we began looking at

         20  some of the providers that had been doing

         21  eligibility evaluations and initial evaluations, we

         22  found that their evaluations did not always bear out

         23  that the child was eligible. And as we have begun to

         24  look at that, the proportion of children who are

         25  documented to be eligible has fallen, still above 80
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          2  percent, but it used to be well above 90 percent of

          3  those referred are found eligible. And that is one

          4  of the things that's resulted in that trend.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So, I assume if

          6  they're found ineligible, there is some sort of

          7  appeal process that applies.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: One of the

         10  things that I've personally been curious about is

         11  this program applies to children under three; am I

         12  correct?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And is there any

         15  evidence that you have got that when children reach

         16  age three, they have, if you will, being neglected,

         17  I guess they, at that point if they require further

         18  services, it's up to the Department of Education to

         19  provide it; is that correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We work

         21  closely, this came up in the Preliminary Budget

         22  hearing and then we've looked into it since you

         23  raised the issue more.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is no
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          2  program that couldn't get better. We're looking at

          3  the articulation of services. We will continue

          4  services until they're picked up if they're going to

          5  continue services. Often the family decides not to

          6  continue services, or the child is not eligible for

          7  the three- to five-year-old program, which is run by

          8  the Department of Education.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I think it is

         10  something that is interesting to me because it's

         11  hard for me to imagine that if a child requires

         12  services to age three, all of a sudden they don't

         13  require the services any more, and it doesn't seem

         14  to be the same level of funding that applies to

         15  children over age three.

         16                 I don't want to provide them with

         17  services that they don't need. I'm not looking for

         18  more business, so-to-speak, but I am curious, and we

         19  did hear anecdotally in a couple of cases that kids

         20  over three were coming back to sites where they had

         21  received referrals even though they were no longer

         22  technically eligible and some of these places

         23  continue to provide the families with some support.

         24                 And of course we have this Children

         25  Under Five Initiative, although it's probably a
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          2  somewhat different population.

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right. That's a

          4  very important population. I would comment that we

          5  do hope through these services and through normal

          6  growth and development, some children who have a

          7  delay no longer have that delay as they grow up.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, I think

          9  that's probably true. Even Albert Einstein, I

         10  understand, couldn't do simple arithmetic until the

         11  age 12.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER AMGOT: I'm

         13  Margo Amgot, Assistant Commissioner for Early

         14  Intervention Services, the Department of Health and

         15  Mental Hygiene.

         16                 It is true that children come back to

         17  early intervention. It's actually by design. The

         18  State Health Department in its criteria for how long

         19  a child can stay in this program says that if a

         20  child is eligible for the next set of services, the

         21  three to five services, they can continue to be

         22  served in early intervention until the point in the

         23  year when a new semester starts. So, they would

         24  then, instead of aging out of early intervention at

         25  age three, they would age out as of August 31st or
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          2  December 31st. So, it's within the State regulations

          3  and within our working relationship with the

          4  Department of Education that we do hold children

          5  longer when they're going to move on to the next

          6  system.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you. Since

          8  we are talking about children now and mental health

          9  services for children, one of the issues that we

         10  were looking at, and I know Council Member Brewer,

         11  who is a member of the Committee, although -- oh,

         12  she is here. Okay, I didn't see you before, Gale.

         13  Council Member Gale Brewer is here. One of the

         14  issues, and she might ask this question, I didn't

         15  think she was here, so since I started I'm going to

         16  follow-up on it.

         17                 I noted in your earlier testimony,

         18  Commissioner, you talked about dental services in

         19  schools, and we have a number of schools that have

         20  clinics in them, and yet most of those do not offer

         21  mental health services. And the Council is very

         22  interested, I know Council Member Brewer is

         23  interested, I'm interested, in expanding mental

         24  health services availability in both middle schools

         25  and high schools where there are already clinics. I

                                                            195

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  mean, we would like to have it in every school, but

          3  there are I think approximately 60 schools where

          4  there are clinics, and most of those, only a handful

          5  of those have mental health services, as I

          6  understand it. Do you want to indicate whether

          7  you're doing anything to expand those services, as

          8  you talked about dental services in schools?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I mentioned in

         10  the earlier hearing that we do think that there is a

         11  need for improved mental health services in schools.

         12  It's an often stated need of the school, there are

         13  different models that can be used. Some of the

         14  resources may come from the Department of Education,

         15  some may be from Medicaid. The State Office of

         16  Mental Health has made additional resources

         17  available for contracts that are going to be awarded

         18  shortly to expand school-based mental health

         19  programs. We've hired a coordinator of school-based

         20  mental health programs to try to get some

         21  standardization and more information on what is

         22  going on. There are a number of programs in schools

         23  but there aren't good standards or oversight or even

         24  awareness of what's happening in different programs.

         25  And we're looking as we move forward as what might
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          2  make the most difference, what might be the most

          3  effective, how can we look at increasing, for

          4  example, the mental health capacity of school-based

          5  health centers that are already in the school. These

          6  are all areas that I think we need to look more at.

          7  But I think this is clearly an area of additional

          8  need.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, I'm glad

         10  you recognize that. And I think the Council would be

         11  very supportive of any funding or additional funding

         12  that can be provided there.

         13                 Obviously we can still talk about

         14  that in connection with this year's budget and we

         15  would hope that at the very least in the next year's

         16  budget that this would be a priority for you and for

         17  the Department.

         18                 One other area, and then I'm going to

         19  let my colleagues ask questions, maybe it will come

         20  back. But one other area, we had a hearing recently

         21  on mental health services in our jails, and while it

         22  was gratifying to hear of attention to these issues,

         23  there were considerable number of people who

         24  testified and talked about the failure to provide

         25  inmates with clear statements with what sorts of
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          2  services they were eligible for, both during

          3  incarceration but particularly after. Obviously, all

          4  of the people who are in New York City jails are not

          5  there for very long, incarcerated for long periods

          6  of time. They go to the State. So, I wonder whether

          7  you're, in light of the hearing testimony and some

          8  of the comments, whether you're paying some

          9  additional attention to those issues?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We do look very

         11  carefully at these issues. They are challenging,

         12  because you have people who are in -- a third of

         13  people are gone in 48 hours, and even making a clear

         14  diagnosis and identifying those individuals who are

         15  at greatest risk of having ongoing problems of

         16  falling out of the system is a challenge. We have a

         17  large program. We think it operates well. It can

         18  certainly operate better. We have no doubts about

         19  that. I think the key to that is going to be

         20  prioritizing the most intensive services to people

         21  who need it most, and working on that linkage

         22  between what happens in the jail and what happens

         23  when people get out. In the sense as important

         24  everything we do in the jail is, it's of very little

         25  importance compared to the importance of getting
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          2  someone into a continuous system of care as they get

          3  out, and that's where the focus of our efforts has

          4  been and will continue to be.

          5                 As you probably know, these issues

          6  are under litigation, or have been the subject of

          7  litigation, and we're hopeful that litigation will

          8  serve to improve services to those who need the care

          9  most.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I recognize that

         11  litigation complicates things, but one of the issues

         12  is information, and to make sure that the inmates

         13  receive information. And I believe also, if I

         14  remember the testimony correctly, that there are in

         15  each borough, I think, except maybe Staten Island,

         16  there is a center where they can go to get further

         17  referral and those centers are not heavily utilized.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's been a

         19  model that doesn't work. It's been mandated by the

         20  court. We tried to make it work. It doesn't. So,

         21  we're discussing with the system how to do that. So,

         22  we provide high quality services, high quality

         23  information, we approach and reapproach people who

         24  need services, get them linked to a community

         25  provider to the greatest extent possible, but I
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          2  think some of the aspects that we're mandated to do

          3  by the court with all of the best intentions really

          4  aren't helping the people that are meant to help.

          5  So, we're hopeful, as we move forward, that we feel

          6  that we really have the same goals as all of the

          7  other parties in this discussion and we want to get

          8  this as right as possible.

          9                 We're always going to be faced with

         10  the challenge that people are there for a short

         11  period of time, that some people aren't going to

         12  want to deal with us on the mental health issues,

         13  but this is something that we're committed to trying

         14  to continue to improve.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, we'll come

         16  back to that. I think Chair Weprin has a question

         17  and then other members.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Commissioner, the City Council will,

         21  I expect, renew and/or enhance mental hygiene

         22  funding for a host of agencies for the upcoming

         23  fiscal year. Given that some of the providers who

         24  receive this funding may be the same ones that were

         25  designated by the Council in Fiscal '07, what would
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          2  be the best way to ensure that the new contracts are

          3  registered and dollars begin to flow to the agencies

          4  much sooner in the course of the fiscal year than as

          5  a first-time funder?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The first thing

          7  is, if we can get designations as soon as possible,

          8  we can begin the work. The City contracting process

          9  is very problematic. I am looking very hard at that.

         10  In my current role, as the interim executive

         11  director, to the extent that the designations and

         12  scopes are the same that facilitates moving things

         13  forward, if they were the right designations and

         14  scopes in the past time.

         15                 We're looking at our contracting

         16  process to see how we can shave time out of every

         17  step along the way. Sometimes there are real delays

         18  of the contractor in providing VENDEX or other

         19  information, and that ends up slowing things.

         20  There's an insurance certification, there's labor

         21  certifications, there's other things that were

         22  required for City contracting. And what we can

         23  commit to do is if there are designees that are not

         24  providing that information promptly, we can

         25  immediately contact the Council's office and ask for
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          2  your assistance also in getting that information.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. I

          4  believe Council Member Brewer has a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just want to

          6  thank Council Member Oliver Koppell for mentioning

          7  the high school. I know that your agency has already

          8  been very helpful in meeting with us, and with some

          9  of the high school folks interested in this issue,

         10  and with some of the providers, and I'm just

         11  wondering if you've had some discussions with some

         12  of these models with the Department of Education,

         13  and how you think that we should be structuring

         14  mental health in the schools going forward.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've had a

         16  series of discussions. I have personally discussed

         17  this with Chancellor Klein on multiple occasions.

         18  I've personally gone out to see several of the

         19  programs and different models and talked with the

         20  staff and some of the students. I reviewed some of

         21  the experience there. They are challenging issues.

         22  There are programs that do appear to be having an

         23  impact, and I think the challenge with anything is

         24  to come up with something that is at a funding level

         25  that's going to be replicable and scalable, and then
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          2  to think about not just the funding but the

          3  personnel.

          4                 We have a critical shortage, for

          5  example, of bilingual mental healthy professionals.

          6  So, even if you had the money, you might not be able

          7  to scale up sufficiently in some communities.

          8                 At the same time, through Medicaid,

          9  through the State's initiative, where there's a new

         10  program to provide mental health services in

         11  schools, and potentially through some of the

         12  resources that will be coming into the Department of

         13  Education, there is the possibility that principals

         14  could choose from a menu of services that would

         15  include behavioral health services linked to

         16  clinical services that are available on-site in the

         17  school. And we do see that getting the services

         18  on-site is extremely important.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is the only

         20  way, having gone to a number of high schools, as you

         21  have, if you give the young person an appointment? I

         22  don't go to appointments either, but they don't go

         23  at all. And, so, the question is on site or it's not

         24  worth the money.

         25                 The other question I have, quickly,
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          2  is on the federal level mental health services, what

          3  does the Department do in order to obtain more

          4  federal money for mental health services or what

          5  should the federal government be supporting that

          6  maybe it's not now in terms of mental health

          7  services.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We continue to

          9  compete for federal dollars. We have gotten some

         10  resources. Some of them are actually coming to a

         11  close this year. So, we're looking at federal dollar

         12  sources. We would like to see more resources.

         13                 There is also the need to coordinate

         14  more between mental health, chemical dependency,

         15  physical health services, to try to ensure that the

         16  individual patient gets the best quality and the

         17  best continuity of care, but I think this is an area

         18  where you need to continue to be aggressive in

         19  seeking federal dollars and thinking about what the

         20  federal government should do that it's not doing

         21  already.

         22                 There are some issues in chemical

         23  dependency, where we think the federal government

         24  should loosen what are very restrictive regulations

         25  on both the use of buprenorphine and on the use of
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          2  buprenorphine in methadone maintenance treatment

          3  programs. That might facilitate more progress in

          4  that area.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

          6  you very much, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, Chairman

          8  Koppell.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Thank you.

         10                 Since you just mentioned

         11  buprenorphine, what is the current status of use of

         12  buprenorphine as opposed to methadone?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are

         14  30,000 plus people in New York City on methadone and

         15  about 1,000 on buprenorphine. It's been a slow

         16  growth of buprenorphine use.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And do you

         18  believe that it is something that's worth expanding,

         19  buprenorphine?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: I believe that.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: If you look at

         23  the data from France where they made buprenorphine

         24  widely available, you saw a rapid increase in

         25  buprenorphine use and a rapid decline in deaths from
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          2  overdose.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So why aren't we

          4  doing more? Why only 1,000?

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're

          6  struggling with this. We've worked hard with HHC.

          7  We're providing them with some resources, and we're

          8  hopeful that as we move forward we can identify

          9  models that work. We're looking at primary care

         10  centers, AIDS centers, other places where people who

         11  may be opiate dependent would be able to get care.

         12                 I think stay tuned to see if we're

         13  able to scale this program up more effectively.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But we've got

         15  29,000 methadone users who presumably we know where

         16  they are, or at least we're giving them methadone,

         17  why can't we just have an accelerated program to

         18  convert them?

         19                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm not sure we

         20  want to convert. Our problem isn't so much that

         21  methadone isn't working for people as that there are

         22  many people who are opiate dependent who are not on

         23  any treatment, whether it be methadone or

         24  buprenorphine. So, what we would like to do is

         25  increase the portion of people who use opiates who
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          2  are on replacement therapy, either buprenorphine or

          3  methadone.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But my

          5  understanding is, and I'm by no means an expert on

          6  this, but my understanding is that buprenorphine is

          7  much easier to administer. It's probably less

          8  expensive to administer, also may be more attractive

          9  to the recipient. So, it seems to me that saying,

         10  well, let's keep the methadone users on methadone

         11  but put new people on buprenorphine isn't a

         12  sufficient response.

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I have to

         14  confess that this is an area that we're not

         15  satisfied with. We continue to figure out how we can

         16  do a better job here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, if there's

         18  anything we can do to help in that regard. I don't

         19  know if there is, but I certainly would recommend

         20  that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We did, within

         22  the existing budget we did reprogram about $1.2

         23  million to expand chemical dependency initiatives,

         24  including both buprenorphine and brief intervention

         25  for alcohol use.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Since we're

          3  talking about that right now, perhaps you can give

          4  us an update on what the current situation is in the

          5  City with respect to chemical dependency and illegal

          6  drug use? Are there any trends that we should be

          7  aware of? Changes in usage or addiction?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I can't speak

          9  definitively with respect to trends. There are some

         10  things that are getting better. We announced a

         11  couple of months ago that from our youth survey it

         12  appears that fewer kids are using marijuana and

         13  cocaine. That's good news. At the same time, the

         14  reality is that chemical dependency remains very

         15  much under-recognized as a public health problem.

         16                 One of the leading causes of death

         17  among young people in New York City is drug

         18  overdose. We have 900 deaths a year. That's a lot of

         19  deaths in New York City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Which drugs are

         21  we talking about?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In most cases

         23  it's a mixed overdose. But in about two-thirds that

         24  mix includes opiates. So, either buprenorphine or

         25  methadone would be likely to reduce the risk of
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          2  that.

          3                 We've also worked to expand programs

          4  to reduce the risk associated with drug use. We'd

          5  like people to be off drugs, but in the interim we'd

          6  like them not to die while they're using drugs, or

          7  not to develop a fatal infection. So, we've expanded

          8  Syringe Exchange Programs, and we're working with

          9  Community Partners to expand a program to distribute

         10  naloxone or narcan to drug users as a way of

         11  preventing fatal overdose among people who have

         12  overdosed. This is a program that's been used in

         13  other parts of the country, and has begun to be

         14  scaled up here in New York City, and we're looking

         15  forward to continuing to do that.

         16                 We also recognize that there remains

         17  an enormous burden of disability and lack of

         18  interference with productive workforce issues

         19  related to alcohol use, and we need to try to

         20  continue to do more about that. We respect to

         21  alcohol, our program that we would really like to

         22  expand more is a brief intervention program which

         23  identifies people at risk for problem drinking, and

         24  does a brief counseling intervention. There are

         25  rigorous studies that suggest that substantially
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          2  reduces their likelihood of progressing to

          3  full-blown alcoholism down the line and that that is

          4  a prolonged positive impact of even a brief

          5  intervention. So, that's something that we want to

          6  see more of.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: How about that

          8  crystal meth? Is that --

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've looked at

         10  that. We still are not seeing a big increase. There

         11  is use in some groups and we thank the Council for

         12  their resources, that's allowed us to provide

         13  treatment, also allowed us to try to continue

         14  prevention, because in a sense it's a success story

         15  that is not more widespread here, and we want to

         16  keep it that way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Is there any

         18  secret to that?

         19                 Why is it that it seems to be a

         20  bigger problem in other parts of the country?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well, there are

         22  a lot of theories.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Or even other

         24  parts or the State.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are a lot
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          2  of theories. The fact is that cocaine remains pretty

          3  readily available and inexpensive in New York, and

          4  that's one of the issues. And then some of the

          5  production facilities are easier to do in rural

          6  areas than in urban areas.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Are there any

          8  other new designer drugs? I hope not, but --

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There always

         10  are, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And you have a

         12  group of people who are looking at that, who are

         13  evaluating that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We are. And

         15  expanding our chemical dependency initiatives is an

         16  area that we want to look on as a priority in the

         17  coming year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Changing the

         19  subject a little bit to something you mentioned in

         20  your earlier testimony, and that is a closing or the

         21  transfer of a center in the Bronx in Soundview. The

         22  Gleeb. I think it said Gleeb Avenue.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And apparently

         25  there is a large mental health operation there run
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          2  by I believe Einstein Hospital. What is the effect

          3  of the closing?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, it would

          5  have no impact on them. They would have a different

          6  landlord. In fact, they already have a lease with

          7  DCAS.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And so DCAS is

          9  not planning to sell the unit or evict them?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, not that

         11  I'm aware of.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Because they

         13  expressed some concern to me about that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're aware

         15  it's a large program and serves a large number of

         16  people.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And going back

         18  just for a moment to the early intervention program.

         19  Do you have different -- you mentioned that about 20

         20  percent are found to be ineligible.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, no -- yes,

         22  I did. Sorry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: They are found

         24  to have been ineligible after they've been referred?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Or before

          3  they've been referred?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: After referral.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Is that because

          6  there are different ground rules or because people

          7  who are applying the ground rules are applying --

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We expect that

          9  many of the people referred would not be eligible.

         10  That's what you expect in a program like this. You

         11  should refer a large group of people to identify who

         12  may be at risk, who may have a problem, have them

         13  evaluated systematically, and then of that group

         14  identify those who actually do have a disability

         15  that meets criteria.

         16                 They may be individuals who are just

         17  within the normal developmental range. There may be

         18  individuals who have a lesser level of delay and we

         19  may say, we'd like to see you again in six months or

         20  three months, if things get worse, or don't get

         21  better, let us know. But this is what we would

         22  expect in any program of this type where there are

         23  eligibility criteria. The referral is anyone

         24  suspected to have a delay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Again, changing

                                                            213

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  gears for a moment. On the New York III housing,

          3  what is the current status, in terms of units that

          4  are available? When are units going to become

          5  available? Where are we?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're hoping

          7  that 850 scattered-site units will be under contract

          8  and in operation by the end of Fiscal '08. Siting

          9  congregate housing is going to be challenging. It

         10  always is. And we would appreciate any assistance

         11  from Council as we move forward on that.

         12                 These will be Citywide units and

         13  where they are depends on where the providers bid.

         14  There is an open RFP for the congregate sites.

         15  Locations depend on providers ability to purchase,

         16  renovate land or property.

         17                 We issued two RFPs in February, one

         18  for all of the congregate units for which we're

         19  responsible, about 3,000 units in six different

         20  populations, one for all of the scattered sites,

         21  three different populations, 850 units.

         22                 We have received 31 proposals for the

         23  scattered site, and four for the congregate. We're

         24  evaluating those and hope to have that in contract

         25  in the fall.

                                                            214

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: For the 850

          3  units? Or for all of the units?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: And some of the

          5  congregate.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: But you only got

          7  four proposals on the congregate.

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: So far it's a

          9  rolling RFP, so --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Four, is four

         11  for all 3,000 units? Or for partial number of those

         12  units?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Partial.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So, how many

         15  units do you have bids on?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Oh, the bids

         17  are sealed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: So, they haven't

         19  been opened.

         20                 But when you put it out for bid and

         21  you said you can put for 20 or for 200 or for 600?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Basically any.

         23  Within reason --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And none of them

         25  have been opened yet. So you don't know what you've
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          2  got.

          3                 Well, I think we'd be interested in

          4  knowing how it's, you know, once you start opening

          5  the bids, if, in fact, we don't have -- it sounds

          6  like it might be a problem if there are only four

          7  bids, and it may be something that we need to

          8  address with you. I'm sure you would address it, but

          9  we're very anxious obviously to see these units go

         10  on line and it's probably a two- or three-year

         11  process at the least, between entering into the

         12  contract and opening the apartment, so...

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: People tend not

         14  to bid until they know they've got a site.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Right.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: So, it's a

         17  process of them finding sites. And we did anticipate

         18  that the congregate sites would take longer, so we

         19  had planned to have the scattered site open earlier,

         20  and then congregates as more time goes by. And I

         21  think one of the things we'll have to look at if we

         22  do have troubles is whether the mix between

         23  scattered-site and congregate is the right mix.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Finally, the

         25  Chairman and I both mentioned a couple of the
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          2  initiatives that we thought important, including the

          3  geriatric mental health services, and the Children

          4  Under Five Initiative; do you agree that those

          5  initiatives are worthwhile?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Because we're

          8  looking, at least my committee is seeking to enhance

          9  those initiatives and we don't want to do that if

         10  you don't think these are worthy initiatives.

         11                 But I take it you do.

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I do. And I

         13  didn't put it in the testimony, but I do want to

         14  make something clear. I'd like to make it very clear

         15  on the record, because there is a Charter provision

         16  which requires the Mayor to certify if the Mental

         17  Hygiene part of the division has had a

         18  disproportionate budget change respective to the

         19  rest of the Department that has to be mentioned, and

         20  it's mentioned in this, I want to make very clear

         21  that this is not any reflection of a lesser services

         22  or lesser budget. In fact, if you exclude early

         23  intervention, the services are actually increasing

         24  but the budget is decreasing for the reasons that I

         25  outlined, the mental hygiene part of the Department
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          2  increases by about seven percent, 6.7 percent to be

          3  exact. And the health part of the agency or the rest

          4  of the agency, I would say, decreases by 5.5

          5  percent. So quite in contrast to that official

          6  notification, in fact the mental hygiene area has

          7  done quite well in the overall budget.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: And you have

          9  indicated that no early intervention services are

         10  being -- they're all being provided where the

         11  eligibility has been established.

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And just a

         14  follow-up on the new initiative.  One of the new

         15  initiatives that I'm proposing with the support of

         16  Councilman Koppell, is an initiative for autism,

         17  because as you know, one in 150 children are born

         18  with autism, and some of us feel that there could be

         19  more resources in the City to deal with the issue of

         20  autism. So, assuming this initiative goes through,

         21  one, if you could just state your feelings on if we

         22  can do more on autism, and I'd like to be able to

         23  work with you and your office should we be able to

         24  achieve the funds for that initiative with City

         25  Council funding.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We would be

          3  delighted to work with you. Autism, by all of the

          4  best evidence, is increasing nationally. It accounts

          5  for a subset of our early intervention program. We

          6  think a lot more is needed to understand it. We

          7  don't know what causes it. The treatment of autism

          8  remains somewhat controversial. We do authorize

          9  applied behavioral analysis, which is considered by

         10  many the state-of-the-art treatment for autism

         11  through our early intervention program, and we would

         12  welcome the opportunity to try to understand better

         13  both the patterns of autism within New York City,

         14  the patterns of treatment, accessibility of

         15  treatment, and to try to get a better understanding

         16  of it.

         17                 This is a national problem that New

         18  York City is not immune to and that we have to deal

         19  with.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. I look

         21  forward to the ability to work with you and your

         22  office on that.

         23                 Council Member Felder, did you have a

         24  question?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Council Member

          3  Felder.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          5  much. Just a follow-up, some clarity. Is there any

          6  federal money for children under five for mental

          7  health specifically?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There is a

          9  program which we received funding for from SAMSA on

         10  a coordinated, coordinated continuity of care

         11  program for children. That was a five-year grant

         12  that is ending. So, that's one issue.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So that means

         14  there is none?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're applying

         16  for a small grant that wouldn't replace all of that.

         17  Medicaid funding obviously covers a part. We're

         18  looking at other possible grant opportunities within

         19  the federal government, but what's out there is

         20  quite limited.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So that's a

         22  problem.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can you tell

         25  me how the nurses, how nurses are assigned to public
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          2  schools? Is it one nurse per school? How does it

          3  work?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Basically it's

          5  a nurse per school. We have more trouble in schools

          6  in the inner-city.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, you

          8  mentioned that earlier.

          9                 And guidance counselors. Years ago

         10  there used to be guidance counselors, in the

         11  non-public schools as well. Are there guidance

         12  counselors in schools?

         13                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are a

         14  variety of counseling staff in schools that are

         15  generally under the purview of the Department of

         16  Education. So, I don't want to give you

         17  misinformation about them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, that's why

         19  I'm here to help you. I want to tell you that I know

         20  as a fact that there aren't enough, and with all

         21  that you've discussed, there's a tremendous,

         22  tremendous need. You know, nurses are important, but

         23  really once a child comes to school, if they bring

         24  in the paperwork that's required, it means that they

         25  went to a doctor, the nurse knows there were certain
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          2  inoculations but the nurse there is really basically

          3  crisis intervention. Somebody gets hurt or something

          4  like that, kid comes to office, like me who didn't

          5  want to go to school and says I'm sick every day,

          6  you know, says I think you'll feel better if you go

          7  back to class. But the guidance counselors, you're

          8  talking about long-term help. And that's where I was

          9  very intrigued by something you mentioned about the

         10  ability perhaps of the principals to allow certain

         11  services to be done in the school, even if they're

         12  done by a private provider, that seems like a

         13  wonderful idea. And as Council Member Brewer

         14  mentioned, if it's done in the school, it will be

         15  done, otherwise not. And there's one question that I

         16  never asked you. I wanted to know what your opinion

         17  about medical marijuana is? Because I'm a very, very

         18  strong supporter of it, I wanted to know how you

         19  felt about it.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Now, you said

         21  you had never asked me this question before.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right, I've

         23  never asked you this question before in 2007.

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The issue of

         25  medical marijuana is complicated. There is actually
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          2  I think a right answer to this, which is that the

          3  ideal situation would be that someone, a drug

          4  company, would make the active ingredient available

          5  in an inhaled form. Not smoked but inhaled that

          6  would allow a rapid and high and reliable drug level

          7  of a drug that reduces nausea. That is important,

          8  because if people used marijuana that they buy, the

          9  dose is not reliable in smoking, which has many

         10  negative problems for themselves and people around

         11  them, and there are a lot of problems with that.

         12                 On the other hand, there is as per

         13  the institute of medicine some benefit that some

         14  people will get specifically on the issue of nausea,

         15  intractable nausea and loss of appetite, cancer,

         16  chemotherapy or other problems, that the active

         17  ingredient in marijuana can provide, and marinol,

         18  the medication that's used now, provides a

         19  reasonable level of that, but at a very constant

         20  level, and you might need to have more of a quick

         21  hit. So, that could be achieved by a drug company

         22  developing an inhaled form, not smoke, but inhaled

         23  form of the active ingredient that might be

         24  effective, but they would have to do that. They

         25  would have to get it through the FDA, we would have
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          2  to know it was safe. It's a big challenge to do it,

          3  but that is probably the ideal answer for that

          4  challenging question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: We'll discuss

          6  this at greater length some other time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Oliver Koppell

          8  raised an interesting analogy that former President

          9  Clinton claimed that he smoked but didn't inhale.

         10  You're advocating inhaling but not smoking.

         11                 On that note, we're going to adjourn.

         12  Oh, Council Member Brewer has one last question? No.

         13                 We have a number of people from the

         14  public that have signed up to testify. If anyone

         15  else would like to testify, please fill out a form

         16  with the Sergeant-At-Arms, and we're going to start

         17  immediately the public testimony.

         18                 Thank you, Commissioner, once again,

         19  and we're going to start the public portion. Bear

         20  with us.

         21                 Okay, I'm going to ask members of the

         22  public to come up as a panel. Each one will have two

         23  minutes to testify individually, but just for

         24  purposes of coming and going, I'm going to put you

         25  on a panel. That doesn't mean that you're all

                                                            224

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  similarly situated or with similar interests. So,

          3  I'm going to call the names, if you could just come

          4  up to the table.

          5                 Ralph Palladino. Judith Arroyo.

          6  Darryl Ramsey. David Golden. And Dr. Thomas Betzler.

          7  Also, Luisa Sanchez.

          8                 Since we're short a couple of people,

          9  Dr. Bruce Logan and Kathleen Reichert, if you can

         10  come up? If you're in the house. Okay, no problem.

         11  Take your time.

         12                 Okay, anybody that is testifying, if

         13  you could fill out a slip also, just so we have it

         14  for the record. You can do it after you testify, if

         15  you're up there already.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Why don't

         17  you do it in the order I called you.

         18                 MS. ARROYO: Okay, since my colleague

         19  Ralph Palladino is not here, I will go ahead and

         20  start.

         21                 Good afternoon, Chairman Koppell and

         22  Chairman Weprin and honorable members of the Health

         23  and Finance Committee. I am President Judith Arroyo

         24  of Local 436, District Council 37. We are the union

         25  that represents public health nurses and
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          2  epidemiologists that protect the health of the

          3  citizens of New York.

          4                 I also come here wearing another hat.

          5  I am the Chairperson of District Council 37's

          6  Lesbian and Gay Issues Committee, so wearing those

          7  two hats, I'm going to start wearing first my

          8  president's hat. I come here before you in the

          9  annual budget dance. We've done this before, and a

         10  number of Council initiatives of money that was put

         11  in the budget last year, where it did not make it

         12  into the budget this year, we're here to ask you

         13  that you put them back in the budget again and this

         14  year, starting with the Child Health Clinics, they

         15  are $6 million. Our nurses are there, as you well

         16  know, 600,000 children in New York State are

         17  uninsured and this is a safety net for them.

         18                 The TB clinics, even Commissioner

         19  Frieden in his previous testimony said that part of

         20  the problem was that people let their guard down and

         21  yet they remove $125,000, they're going to close a

         22  TB clinic in Brownsville.

         23                 Summer school. We are your summer

         24  school nurses. We are your public school nurses. 1.9

         25  million dollars. Asthma does not take a vacation.
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          2  Speaking of asthma, if you want to bring down the

          3  asthma rate, you need to restore the $545,000 in the

          4  asthma control program.

          5                 So, all of these are necessary. We

          6  are the nurses in the field. We see the consequences

          7  where you don't put the money in the resources

          8  there, and we've had that with TB, as you well know.

          9                 As for my other hat, as the Chair of

         10  the District Council 37 Lesbian and Gay Issues

         11  Committee, we were very disturbed to see almost $4

         12  million disappear having to do with HIV/AIDS

         13  prevention and education, outreach enhancement,

         14  counseling and the 320,000 that was left from the

         15  Cullen Lord Health Center. All of these programs are

         16  necessary. There has been a backlash in this country

         17  against lesbians, gays, transexuals and bisexual

         18  communities. It seems to be like you can't attack

         19  anybody else, but this is a group you can attack and

         20  get away with it, and more and more programs and our

         21  civil rights have been attacked, and I truly, truly

         22  with New York City, still the epicenter of the AIDS

         23  epidemic, that we should restore these fundings back

         24  into the budget, and thank you for allowing me to

         25  testify. I will be more than happy to answer any
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          2  questions that you may have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, I just want

          4  to say the issues you referred to I think are all

          5  City Council initiatives. And that's certainly a

          6  priority for us, and we obviously are going to be

          7  looking very carefully with an eye towards restoring

          8  and maybe even enhancing some of these programs as

          9  we go through the budget process. So, thank you.

         10                 MR. RAMSEY: Good afternoon. My name

         11  is Darryl Ramsey, the President of Local 768 of DC

         12  37, AFSCME, AFLCIO. I represent over 4,000 City

         13  employees in Allied Health Services including 1,500

         14  in the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         15                 Today, I'm very concerned about three

         16  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene Programs

         17  that are undergoing major changes and having severe

         18  effects on my members. They are the Oral Health

         19  Programs, School Health and the Bureau of Food and

         20  Safety.

         21                 I represent 21 dental assistants

         22  earning between $12 and $14 an hour, who the

         23  Department of Health plans to furlough for the

         24  summer. The Department will save at most $81,200. By

         25  laying them off for two months. But the members will
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          2  lose their health insurance, welfare fund benefits,

          3  pension, credit, not to mention their salaries, and

          4  will probably end up on unemployment insurance.

          5                 I want to thank the City Council and

          6  its Health Committee for helping stop the proposed

          7  oral health layoffs that were scheduled for last

          8  year. But unfortunately, these furloughs are still

          9  on the table to take effect for June 29th.

         10                 Since the hearing you held last year,

         11  we have gotten very few details from the Department

         12  of Health on their plans. All we know is that out of

         13  more than 65 oral health locations in the City, only

         14  11 will be open over the summer. All the

         15  school-based locations will be closed, and patients

         16  will be redirected to the health centers. They claim

         17  they are streamlining services and shutting down

         18  unused dental chairs, but there are hundreds of

         19  backlogged appointments that can be scheduled over

         20  the summer, and there are many complicated dental

         21  procedures that need to be completed.

         22                 Furthermore, there has been

         23  absolutely no follow-up on any other ideas and the

         24  proposals that unions and the City Council Health

         25  Committee made last year. In addition to the
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          2  school-based dental clinics, we need more

          3  information about summer school itself. It is almost

          4  June and we still don't know whether the Department

          5  of Health will be operating a School Health Program

          6  over the summer.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you can try to

          8  sum up. I'm not going to cut you off, but if you can

          9  kind of, you know, skim and summarize some of the

         10  testimony?

         11                 MR. RAMSEY: Yes, well, I want to

         12  testify in particular about the sanitarians that we

         13  have. They are increasing their services, the

         14  Department of Health are increasing their services,

         15  and the responsibilities, but yet, they feel they

         16  need more staff to complete the job.

         17                 Recently we've been meeting with the

         18  Bureau of Food Safety regularly and attempted to

         19  improve labor relations, but we still want to have

         20  certain issues brought to their attention.

         21                 And finally I'd like to say that we

         22  believe this is a time to enhance safety precautions

         23  for our public health sanitarians, and, also,

         24  finally the City is currently enjoying a surplus of

         25  over $4 billion. We are not in a fiscal squeeze, so
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          2  please help us by restoring monies and to get more

          3  monies for the public health assistance, public

          4  health assistance, public health sanitarians and the

          5  school health programs and dental programs. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          8                 MS. SANCHEZ: Good afternoon,

          9  Chairpersons Koppell and Weprin. My name is Luisa

         10  Sanchez. I am Senior Policy Associate for Health and

         11  Mental Health at Citizens' Committee for Children,

         12  CCC. CCC is an independent child advocacy

         13  organization that does not receive government funds

         14  or provide services.

         15                 The Mayor's Executive Budget takes

         16  bold steps towards shaping New York City for the

         17  future. It envisions a City that has a better

         18  development structure, is business friendly and is

         19  greener and cleaner.

         20                 It funds the creation of a New York

         21  City Child Care Tax Credit. It includes new

         22  education funding totaling $2.2 billion over four

         23  years, which when added to the State Education aid,

         24  increases will result in $5.4 billion in additional

         25  resources for schools. It also allocates $10 billion
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          2  over the next five years to support the City

          3  Council's proposal to expand primary care capacity

          4  in high-need communities, and provides City funds of

          5  $1.4 million to support two health initiatives that

          6  would expand reproductive health care, education and

          7  STD testing in selected high-need high schools.

          8                 Yet, despite significant gains in

          9  funding in funding for many essential services and

         10  aspirational plans, the budget does not fund over

         11  100 million in City Council initiatives that have

         12  historically supported community-based services for

         13  children and youth.

         14                 CCC would like to see a negotiated

         15  budget that includes the following restorations:

         16                 - $1.9 million for Summer School

         17  Nurses.

         18                 - $545,000 for the Asthma Control

         19  Initiative.

         20                 - $1.4 million for the Mental Health

         21  Treatment for Children Under Five.

         22                 - $6 million for Child Health

         23  Clinics.

         24                 - $3.6 million -- well, all the

         25  restorations, basically.
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          2                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          3  testify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All City Council

          5  priorities. So, we'll look very carefully at all of

          6  those.

          7                 DR. LOGAN: Hi. My name is Bruce

          8  Logan. I'm presently the Chief of Medicine at New

          9  York Downtown Hospital. I'm a practicing physician,

         10  and I have a great interest in preventive health

         11  care.

         12                 New York Downtown Hospital is the

         13  only hospital in Lower Manhattan, and we're the

         14  largest single provider of health care services to

         15  the Chinese population in New York City, and

         16  probably in the entire country.

         17                 Since its founding as the New York

         18  Infirmary for Indigent Women and Children, by

         19  Elizabeth Blackwell, the country's first female

         20  physician 150 years ago, our hospital has been

         21  committed to health care for women and preventive

         22  health care for women.

         23                 I come to ask you for support for

         24  digital mammography equipment and bone density

         25  equipment for screening for the Lower Manhattan
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          2  population. The reason of supporting this equipment

          3  and providing for this program is it will save

          4  lives.

          5                 There is a real wait now, a real

          6  delay in time for women to get mammographies.

          7                 Many of the City hospitals, when you

          8  call for a mammography, it takes up to three months.

          9  This new equipment is more than twice as fast than

         10  doing the screening as the older equipment, so twice

         11  as many women can be screened. In addition, it's

         12  very much better in terms of finding lesions in

         13  women with small dense breasts, and this is very

         14  much what our population in Lower Manhattan with the

         15  Chinese community falls into this category.

         16                 In addition, probably one of the

         17  biggest health problems in the country, not just the

         18  City, is osteoporosis in older women. And Dex

         19  (phonetic) screening, bone density screening for

         20  this could be truly life-saving because there is

         21  medicine that can prevent older people from having

         22  their bones weakened so that when they fall they

         23  would have fractures. It's very, very important

         24  equipment and we would ask that this could be funded

         25  by the City Council. We would greatly appreciate it.
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          2                 MR. CATALPANO: Hello. My name is

          3  Melinda Catalpano. I'm here representing the New

          4  York Blood Center.

          5                 I'd like to talk to you a little bit

          6  about a program that we're working on to help

          7  diversify the blood supply. In the nation, less than

          8  four percent of our eligible healthy population

          9  donates blood. In New York City it's less than two

         10  percent, and less than  0.2 percent of that number

         11  comes from African Americans and Hispanic donors.

         12  That may not seem like a big deal, unless you suffer

         13  from something like sickle cell disease. Sickle cell

         14  disease is a horrible disease that primarily affects

         15  African-Americans and people from Latino community.

         16  One in 500 African-Americans suffers from sickle

         17  cell disease. Many times in order to prevent stroke

         18  or to alleviate when they're in sickle cell crisis,

         19  they receive blood transfusions. And these blood

         20  transfusions are very, very necessary. Many patients

         21  get transfused twice a month, sometimes once a week.

         22                 When you deal in the African-American

         23  and Hispanic population, many times we don't have

         24  the blood types to match the patient's needs, and we

         25  need donors from the same communities in order to
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          2  help these patients.

          3                 African-Americans become more

          4  sensitized to blood transfusions because they've

          5  been chronically mismatched when they've been

          6  transfused. If they're receiving blood that's not

          7  from African-American, many times they can develop

          8  severe reactions to these transfusions. You may have

          9  to screen 100,000 units of blood from an

         10  African-American in order to find one suitable unit

         11  for an African-American patient suffering from

         12  sickle cell disease.

         13                 So, we're asking for help from the

         14  City Council to develop a task force so that we can

         15  go out in better numbers and work in the communities

         16  and get donors in the communities and explain the

         17  needs for blood donations from these communities.

         18                 They are types of blood that are

         19  found only in the African-American and only in a

         20  Hispanic Latino community. Right now in New York

         21  City, if you say we're in probably a 28 percent

         22  African-American population, currently our blood

         23  donors are only eight and a half percent, so we're

         24  asking for your support and your help. We've never

         25  received money from the City Council and that's why
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          2  we're here today.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. I

          5  believe Council Member Brewer had a question.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For Ms.

          7  Sanchez, I think you heard earlier that we are

          8  working on an initiative that would provide mental

          9  health services in the high schools, and I'm just

         10  wondering if you would be supportive of that

         11  concept? And if so, if you could add your voice to

         12  those who do support this?

         13                 MS. SANCHEZ: I think we're supportive

         14  of it, and I think we would be happy to add our

         15  voice for it in support of it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         17  you. Please do so.

         18                 The second Mr. Mr.

         19  Ramsey. Thank you for your testimony. On the school

         20  health, I know that other locals in DC 37 represent

         21  the actual food preparers and do a great job; do

         22  your members of your local work with them? And

         23  because we're always trying to as much as we can

         24  improve school food on many different levels, and I

         25  just didn't know if that's also part of your
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          2  membership's job?

          3                 MR. RAMSEY: No. The members that

          4  we're talking about are the inspectors for the

          5  restaurants and food vendors and so far and so on,

          6  and also those in day care, not necessarily inside

          7  the school system because they have their own

          8  inspectors there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 So, Ms. Sanchez, you'll follow up?

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you all.

         14  Lorraine Tahise, Judy Wessler, Ngozi Moses, Kate

         15  O'Neil, and Rena John and Sandy Hecker.

         16                 Proceed.

         17                 MR. GOLDEN: First I would like to

         18  thank the Commissioner and the Chair. My name is

         19  David Golden. I missed the first rotation, so,

         20  excuse me. I'm slightly out of order. But my name is

         21  David Golden, and I am a member and an active member

         22  of the New York City AIDS Housing Network. I'm here

         23  to testify on behalf of the 3,600 members of NYCAHN,

         24  all of who low-income people living with HIV and

         25  AIDS. Ninety-six percent of the membership is
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          2  comprised of people of color and are, the majority

          3  are African American.

          4                 Being asymptomatic myself, I am

          5  fortunate that I haven't received the AIDS'

          6  diagnosis yet. I say I'm fortunate because I haven't

          7  gotten sick, but in another way I'm not. For every

          8  night that is spent in a homeless shelter, that is

          9  leading me and others down the road towards an

         10  AIDS-related illness. I know my T cells are dropping

         11  and I can't do anything until I really get sick,

         12  because right now the government requires me to get

         13  sick before I can access rental assistance or get

         14  enough money for food or transportation. There are

         15  thousands of others like me who are spending more

         16  money in the shelter system and in emergency room

         17  visits than it would take for the City to simply

         18  provide me and others with benefits that low-income

         19  people living with AIDS receive.

         20                 As you mentioned, Commissioner, you

         21  are familiar with the HASA 4 campaign, but you know

         22  it's really only serving, you know, half the

         23  population.

         24                 I'll just be one more second. Again,

         25  I want to thank you for this opportunity, and I must
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          2  add that out of these 3,600 members at NYCAHN, ten

          3  to 15 percent are youth and they have no voice at

          4  this time. And we have quite a few that are 16, 17

          5  and will soon be 18 and will soon be able to vote.

          6  So, please, we would really appreciate within the

          7  AIDS community that you help pass the HASA for all

          8  benefits as soon as possible, the legislation. Thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         11                 MS. HECKER: Good afternoon. I'm Sandy

         12  Hecker. Thank you for the opportunity to testify

         13  today. This testimony is presented on behalf of the

         14  Bellevue Hospital Center Community Advisory Board,

         15  and are inclusive of our concerns for the entire

         16  public health care system of New York City, and not

         17  necessarily directly regarding services and programs

         18  at Bellevue Hospital Center.

         19                 Mayor Bloomberg has proposed cuts in

         20  health care that the City Council has in the past

         21  restored. We must again implore our City Council

         22  members to restore these funds and to add additional

         23  funds that will enable us to engage in preventive

         24  health care rather than the treatment of illnesses

         25  that have occurred that could have been prevented.
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          2                 Therefore, we are requesting the City

          3  Council to restore and/or add funding for the

          4  following initiatives:

          5                 1) Restore $5 million funding for our

          6  Child Health Clinics. The Child Health Clinics are

          7  our front line defense for the prevention and

          8  treatment of illnesses, of illness in our children.

          9  We must be able to diagnose and treat the illnesses

         10  before they become life-threatening. We can only do

         11  this if there are Child Health Clinics open and

         12  accessible when it is needed.

         13                 Therefore, we ask you to restore

         14  funding in the full amount of $5 million to our

         15  Child Health Clinics.

         16                 2) Provide $2.4 million in funding

         17  for HHC waivers for outpatient pharmacies. This

         18  affects Bellevue and all the other HHC facilities

         19  that have pharmacies as patients who cannot have

         20  paid for their prescribed drugs, must still be

         21  provided them at a cost to the facility.

         22                 3) Restore $1 million for translation

         23  services and add an additional $1 million to ensure

         24  that patients who cannot speak English or have

         25  limited English proficiencies, will be able to
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          2  communicate effectively with their doctors and

          3  nurses.

          4                 I'm just going to sum up rather

          5  briefly.

          6                 Restore $1.6 million for adolescent

          7  substance abuse clinics; restore $1 million for

          8  mental health treatment for children under five

          9  years of age.

         10                 6) Restore $545,000 for asthma

         11  control initiatives.

         12                 7) provided funding for infant

         13  mortality prevention.

         14                 8) Restore $1.2 million for HIV/AIDS

         15  TB program.

         16                 9) Finally, to support funding for

         17  newly requested by Bellevue to help finance a child

         18  and adolescent CPEP, a sorely needed service.

         19                 I will just end by saying I hope all

         20  of you as members of our City Council will not stay

         21  silent but speak by providing the funding necessary

         22  for the above program. And thus help ensure that

         23  health care is available for all who need it, and

         24  not for just who can afford it. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

                                                            242

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 MS. O'NEILL: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Kate O'Neill, and I am the HIV/AIDS Director at

          4  the Legal Action Center.

          5                 I am testifying this afternoon on

          6  behalf of the HIV Legal Advocacy Coalition, which

          7  consists of 14 different organizations that provide

          8  legal advocacy for people who have HIV and/or are

          9  living with AIDS in all five boroughs of the City.

         10                 We are requesting the Council's and

         11  the Mayor's support this year of $1.7 million to

         12  support the HIV Legal Advocacy Services that we are

         13  providing to our clients in all five boroughs

         14  throughout the City.

         15                 The list of organizations is on the

         16  front page of the testimony that we've submitted and

         17  you will see that each of the organizations, many of

         18  us who work on a Citywide basis, we represent

         19  entities that are located in all five boroughs of

         20  the City as well.

         21                 The reason that we are asking for the

         22  Council's support in part is because there are

         23  100,000 people in New York who are known to be

         24  living with HIV and AIDS, and many of those suffer

         25  both direct and indirect barriers to getting access
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          2  to health care and other critical services that can

          3  best be and often only be overcome with the help of

          4  legal advocates. That is the work that the members

          5  of this coalition do and have done, providing civil

          6  legal assistance to people, especially in helping

          7  them to overcome housing problems and barriers and

          8  to stay in the housing that is critical for them to

          9  be able to gain and maintain access to medical care

         10  and services and also especially to help people who

         11  increasingly need legal assistance to help them deal

         12  with immigration problems of one sort or another.

         13                 The problem in the last two years is

         14  that the legal service providers have suffered

         15  devastated cuts in the amount of funding that's

         16  available, especially with the prohibitions of the

         17  federal Ryan White monies, which some of us get,

         18  against providing representation to people on

         19  housing and immigration issues.

         20                 Last year Speaker Quinn and with the

         21  assistance of Rosie Mendez and others, allocated

         22  $835,000 to the members of this Coalition to help

         23  compensate for some of the cuts that we have

         24  suffered that our clients were suffering.

         25                 This year we are asking for a renewal
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          2  of that 835,000 which was critically important, and

          3  helped us help hundreds of more people who otherwise

          4  would not have gotten services and we were asking

          5  for a doubling of that amount.

          6                 That will help us in all five

          7  boroughs to reach and provide legal advocacy service

          8  to at least 1,300 more individuals with HIV and

          9  AIDS.

         10                 Last comment is that 90 percent of

         11  our clients collectively are African-American or

         12  Hispanic, Latina, Latino, 40 percent more of our

         13  clients or more are women, and most of them are

         14  women of color.

         15                 Your support of these services will

         16  get people the care they need to stay healthy and

         17  remain alive and well.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         20                 MS. JOHN: Good afternoon. My name is

         21  Rena John. I'm the Director of the Women's HIV

         22  Collaborative of New York. The Collaborative is a

         23  network of women living with HIV, organizations that

         24  provide services for women living with HIV and a

         25  range of other social service agencies, research
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          2  institutions and also government agencies within the

          3  Department of Health.

          4                 The Collaborative is sad and alarmed,

          5  but not surprised by the increasing rates of HIV

          6  infection among young women and women of color in

          7  New York. A recent report by the New York State AIDS

          8  Advisory Council entitled "Women in Peril, reports

          9  that among young people, ages 13 to 19 years old,

         10  women comprise 48 percent of newly diagnosed cases

         11  in the State, the majority of those being young

         12  women of color. In New York City, it is estimated by

         13  the Year 2010, women will account for 50 percent of

         14  all AIDS cases.

         15                 It cannot be ignored that some of the

         16  new infections that we're seeing among young people

         17  were likely in New York City public schools a decade

         18  or less ago. Similarly, rates of STDs, including

         19  chlamydia and gonorrhea, have increased in many of

         20  the same neighborhoods hardest hit by HIV and AIDS.

         21                 The Collaborative calls on the City

         22  Council to respond to this emergency and the

         23  deplorable response to this trend by adding $250,000

         24  to the Women and Girls' HIV and AIDS Disability

         25  Initiative.
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          2                 We thank Council Members Albert Vann

          3  and Darlene Mealy for their leadership on this

          4  initiative, which will provide policy and program

          5  advice, technical assistance, research analysis and

          6  community education.

          7                 It is, as far as we know, the only

          8  City Council Initiative focused exclusively on women

          9  and HIV/AIDS in New York City.

         10                 Our research over the last few years

         11  has shown that the City has such fragmented services

         12  for women, especially those at risk from

         13  heterosexual contact, young women -- I'm going to

         14  wrap this up. So, the visibility initiative

         15  basically does three things: We're looking at

         16  developing an ongoing series of community

         17  roundtables on a monthly basis. We're also looking

         18  at undertaking a community mapping project and

         19  meta-analysis of women and HIV in our New York City

         20  neighborhoods.

         21                 We know where HIV exists, but we want

         22  to do a mapping to see where those areas that are

         23  most impact by HIV are also overlapping with other

         24  public health issues, also gender-based violence,

         25  lack of access to health care, immigration status,
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          2  as well as histories of incarceration and substance

          3  abuse.

          4                 Finally, we want to reiterate our

          5  support for the Department of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene Women and AIDS Unit. The role of this unit

          7  is to provide TA to organizations and to identify

          8  strategies to promote cross collaboration and

          9  information sharing, and we think that this

         10  Department is highly underutilized and we need to

         11  continue to support and sustain it.

         12                 Finally, we want to support a City

         13  Council resolution on the Microbicides Development

         14  Act led by, or sponsored by Councilwoman Rosie

         15  Mendez.

         16                 HIV prevention methods that are

         17  solely in the control of women are long overdue and

         18  critically needed as current epi would strongly

         19  suggest.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. Go

         22  ahead.

         23                 MR. FELICIANO: Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Anthony Feliciano. I'm the Education and

         25  Outreach Coordinator for the Commission on the
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          2  Public Health's System, CPHS. I'm actually going to

          3  be speaking instead of Judy Wessler.

          4                 Let me first thank you for having the

          5  opportunity to testify today. Let me first start up

          6  with every year we come to these hearings and ask

          7  the City Council to restore what should already be

          8  in the budget, and here we are again.

          9                 We are pleased that the Mayor did

         10  respond to priority of the City Council's Speaker

         11  and the Council, and has put the first year expense

         12  dollars for planning for primary care into the

         13  budget. We were involved in actually a task force

         14  that worked on this issue, and we hope to continue

         15  the work to ensure that the funds are used for

         16  community needs assessments and those assessments

         17  are responsive to the needs and diversity of this

         18  City.

         19                 In addition to the restorations,

         20  we're requesting as well for new programs, funding

         21  for asthma community coalitions to work on the

         22  triggers of asthma in targeted communities. Asthma

         23  is very prevalent in many communities, particularly

         24  low-income communities of color. Yet, the

         25  Department's only response appears to be to improve
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          2  medical care. But we have to go beyond that. We have

          3  to involve communities in eliminating or reducing

          4  the triggers of asthma in their communities. So,

          5  that's a new area of funding.

          6                 In terms of restoration for the

          7  following, it is 6 million for the child health

          8  clinics, a vital safety net in our City, and 500 for

          9  community based infant mortality prevention, 1

         10  million for HHC translation services, and 2.4

         11  million for HHC outpatient medication waivers.

         12                 Let me add an important point. The

         13  child clinics have been around for 100 years, and

         14  they have been a vital safety net for many children

         15  and families. The problem is that over the years

         16  they have been reduced and closed. And when you

         17  start hearing what the Health Department talks about

         18  in closing certain facilities and saying they're

         19  going to move them or keep them not open or their

         20  looking at changing the building or renovations, our

         21  concern is that that pattern has allowed for these

         22  clinics to close, and I want the City Council to be

         23  very diligent on looking into that, making sure

         24  there are no more further closures of Child Health

         25  Clinics, particularly the Manhattanville and Gleeb
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          2  in the Bronx.

          3                 The other point I want to make is --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sum up, please.

          5                 MR. FELICIANO: The other point I just

          6  want to make is in response to the City Department

          7  of Health questioner about diversity of their upper

          8  and middle management. Their answer to this was just

          9  they can't find enough people from those

         10  communities. And that's been always the case and

         11  it's been always the response from many agencies.

         12  And the fact is that someone here as a Latino and

         13  person of color, that's not enough. It doesn't

         14  suffice for our community. So, I wanted to

         15  reemphasize that as well. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17                 All right, I'm going to call some

         18  names that were called before as well, and if there

         19  is anybody else, this is going to be the last panel.

         20  If there is anybody else that would like to testify,

         21  come up with the names I call.

         22                 Lorraine Tehesi, Judy Wessler, Ngozi

         23  Moses, Anthony Feliciano, Tamara Oyola-Santiago. If

         24  anybody would like to submit testimony, by the way,

         25  we can give extra credit for that.
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          2                 Robert Lederer. Sreenath Chownappa.

          3  Michael Polenberg. Arthur Springer. And we may need

          4  some more chairs.

          5                 Is there anybody else whose name I

          6  didn't call that would like to testify? Come up now.

          7  Come on down.

          8                 Okay, so just the people at the table

          9  are going to testify? Okay. You're just giving moral

         10  support, right? Okay, sounds good. Go ahead.

         11                 MR. SPRINGER: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman. I come here to raise some questions about

         13  a proposal that may or may not be in the budget, but

         14  is certainly lurking in the background.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just identify

         16  your name and group.

         17                 MR. SPRINGER: My name is Arthur

         18  Springer. I'm a lay advocate for people with

         19  disabilities, which means I'm not being paid for

         20  being here.

         21                 The plan was to spend $25 million on

         22  ten so-called primary care clinics in the next five

         23  years, and I have been unable to keep track of that

         24  because with all due respect the Council has not

         25  been particularly forthcoming in response to
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          2  telephone calls and letters about it.

          3                 I've laid out four or five criteria

          4  that I think the Council should build into the plan

          5  if it goes through, so it does not become an

          6  embarrassment.

          7                 They are compliance with the HHC law

          8  requiring comprehensive care rather than primary

          9  care alone, compliance with the managed care

         10  consumers bill of rights, which is something that

         11  the HMOs, New York State, tend to ignore. Compliance

         12  with the Code of Professional Medical Conduct which

         13  prohibits doctors from practicing beyond their

         14  competence, so that "Family Health Practitioners"

         15  don't fill our emergency rooms with people with

         16  heart conditions they don't know how to treat.

         17                 My own experience is not simply

         18  theoretical, it's with the Ryan Center, the New York

         19  Hospital, and Beth Israel Medical Center and Managed

         20  Care Programs, Bellevue Hospital Center's so-called

         21  primary care program, the State's Managed long-term

         22  care program, and several flavors of Medicare

         23  advantage, the outrageous Medicare HMOs.

         24                 I would suggest just two things: A)

         25  set these criteria so that it meets some standards,
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          2  instead of being an etiological popular item.

          3                 Second, disclose who in the Council

          4  is and is not in HMOs as their primary caregiver.

          5                 Third, Council members should divest

          6  themselves of HMO stock. If a Obama and Rudy

          7  Giuliani last night can divest themselves of stock

          8  in Sudan, I think it's perfectly proper for Council

          9  members acting on HMO legislation that profits these

         10  organizations considerably disclose possible

         11  conflicts of interest in that area. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: By the way, we do

         13  file an annual financial disclosure statement as

         14  Council members and we list the stocks that we're

         15  involved in.

         16                 MR. SPRINGER: I would love to see it

         17  on your website, Mr. Chairman. It's not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, that's not

         19  our issue with the website. There is a Board of

         20  Public Disclosure and you can ask for copies through

         21  a Freedom of Information Request. Reporters do it

         22  all the time.

         23                 MR. SPRINGER: I would hope that could

         24  be supplied with a general policy disposition to

         25  divest.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right. Well

          3  taken.

          4                 For the record, I don't own any HMO

          5  stock.

          6                 MS. OYOLA-SANTIAGO: Thank you for the

          7  opportunity to present today. My name is Tamara

          8  Oyola-Santiago, and I am Executive Director of

          9  Citywide Harm Reduction and presenting today on

         10  behalf of the Injecting Drug Users Health Alliance,

         11  of which Citywide is a member.

         12                 I would like to take a moment for the

         13  members of the Alliance to introduce themselves.

         14                 (Participants in the audience

         15  introducing themselves.)

         16                 The Alliance is a coalition of

         17  community-based syringe access providers and allies

         18  advocating for the health of injection drug users in

         19  New York City.

         20                 We are here to ask for your continued

         21  support in addressing the ongoing health crisis in

         22  communities where injection drug use is widespread.

         23                 Research has clearly demonstrated

         24  that injection drug users who are not accessing

         25  syringe exchange programs are about three to four

                                                            255

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  times more likely to contract HIV than those who

          3  utilize this service.

          4                 Since 2004, New York City Council

          5  members have shown tremendous commitment in

          6  confronting mega threats to drug user health,

          7  including HIV/AIDS, Hepatitis C, overdose and

          8  addiction. Over the past three years City funds have

          9  enabled 18 programs to expand in each of the City's

         10  five boroughs, connecting thousands of drug users to

         11  HIV prevention, medical care, substance abuse

         12  treatment and social services.

         13                 With 2006/'07 City Council support,

         14  IDUHA members accomplished a lot of great things.

         15  Among them:

         16                 - 435 outreach encounters, providing

         17  information on buprenorphine treatment.

         18                 - 89 substance users began

         19  buprenorphine treatment and following up on the

         20  previous testimony from Frieden, that's ten percent

         21  of the total that the City reported, New York City

         22  Department of Health reported; and

         23                 - 68,528 syringes were provided to

         24  injection drug users in community-based sterile

         25  syringe distribution.
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          2                 Since March '05, over 2,000 substance

          3  abusers have received naloxone-overdose prevention

          4  kits, and we have reported 200 individuals having

          5  overdose reversals. Again, we're saving lives with

          6  City Council support.

          7                 Your support proves that New York

          8  City is at the forefront of the fight against

          9  HIV/AIDS. We are asking the New York City Council to

         10  continue their ongoing vital support in allocating

         11  $3.65 million in City tax levy dollars in '07/'08 to

         12  support harm reduction health services for injection

         13  drug users.

         14                 These funds will be used to expand

         15  cost effective disease prevention work, to reach

         16  more New Yorkers through new programs to promote

         17  healthy behaviors and to facilitate access to

         18  medical care and treatment among injection drug

         19  users.

         20                 We thank you.

         21                 DR. APPEL: My name is Dr. David

         22  Appel, and I'm representing the New York City

         23  Coalition for School-Based Primary Care.

         24                 New York City has the largest and

         25  most comprehensive network of school-based health
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          2  centers in the country. Every day they provide

          3  services in 118 schools, serving over 120,000

          4  children, last year resulting in over 400,000

          5  clinical visits.

          6                 The programs do an enormous amount of

          7  service stabilizing the schools, calming the

          8  environment, and a number of clinics have expanded

          9  their services to include mental health.

         10                 We are here today, however, to urge

         11  the City Council to support two City Council

         12  initiatives to dramatically expand the mental health

         13  services in school-based health centers, and to

         14  allow for capital expenditures to bring the

         15  school-based health centers up to code.

         16                 Presently many of the clinics are

         17  working in very substandard conditions, often with

         18  no running water, and no privacy. So, very

         19  confidential and private services are done in really

         20  disrespectful environments.

         21                 We did a survey of all the programs

         22  in the City and have a comprehensive list of all of

         23  the needs of the schools and are requesting $10

         24  million of capital funding to bring the clinics up

         25  to code and to make it possible to do greatly
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          2  expanded services.

          3                 In terms of mental health services,

          4  there has been a dramatic increase in suicide in

          5  Latino and Asian girls in the City. It's estimated

          6  at one in 10 teens have a diagnosable problem,

          7  there's a waiting list of almost 100,000 teens for

          8  mental health services.

          9                 In school-based health centers, 90

         10  percent of the children referred actually get to the

         11  mental health care they need and we're requesting $6

         12  million in a City Council Initiative to fund mental

         13  health services in every middle and high school

         14  school-based health center in the City.

         15                 The City presently provides very

         16  limited funding for school-based health centers, and

         17  requested this time that they make a contribution in

         18  those specific areas.

         19                 There is commitment from the New York

         20  City Department of Health that in Fiscal Year 2009

         21  they would continue funding the mental health

         22  services if it's initiated this year by the City

         23  Council, and we greatly hope that you'll take up the

         24  challenge. Thank you.

         25                 MR. LEDERER: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Bob Lederer. I'm the Researcher and Policy

          3  Analyst for the Bronx Health Link, a clearing house

          4  for members of the health and human services

          5  delivery system of the Bronx. We coordinate the

          6  Perinatal Information Network, and work extensively

          7  with community and health care providers to improve

          8  birth outcomes, prenatal care, and the reproductive

          9  health of Bronx women.

         10                 The Bronx rate of infant mortality,

         11  maternal mortality and percentages of prematurity,

         12  low birth weight, teen pregnancy, and late or no

         13  prenatal care exceed in some cases substantially

         14  those of the City and the country.

         15                 Several of our poorest neighborhoods

         16  have been particularly hard it. In addition, a large

         17  racial disparity remains with African-American and

         18  Latino mothers and babies at greatest risk.

         19                 The rate of infants dying before the

         20  age of one year continues to be shockingly high. The

         21  City's infant mortality rate among African Americans

         22  continues to be double that of whites, with Puerto

         23  Ricans close behind.

         24                 The Department of Health is noted, if

         25  the infant mortality among African-Americans
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          2  decreased to that of whites, nearly 200 fewer babies

          3  would die each year.

          4                 Meanwhile, more than ten percent of

          5  infants born in the Bronx have low birth weight

          6  which puts them at higher risk of serious health

          7  problems and even death.

          8                 In addition, the maternal mortality

          9  rate for the Bronx continues to exceed the Citywide

         10  rate.

         11                 Despite severe health challenges

         12  there are thousands of women who survive and do well

         13  in the Borough. Many of the risk factors for

         14  maternal and infant illness and death are well known

         15  in the subject of many workshops, trainings, fact

         16  sheets and newsletters generated by the Bronx Health

         17  Link and other agencies and delivered to pregnant

         18  and nursing women and their care providers.

         19                 Our agency is one of several funded

         20  by the City Council's Infant Mortality Reduction

         21  Initiative administered by the Department of Health.

         22  Still funding remains inadequate to reach all those

         23  in need.

         24                 It's imperative that the budget

         25  include and actually continue this year's level of
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          2  $5 million for this program, and in addition that

          3  the translation services of HHC be restored for all

          4  the non-English-speaking people and finally that the

          5  outpatient medication waivers and the Child Health

          6  Clinics be restored as they have in past years due

          7  to the Council's Initiative. Thank you.

          8                 MR. CHOWDAPPA: Good afternoon,

          9  officers and respected officers and honorable

         10  government executives. Thank you for the

         11  opportunity. My name is Sreenath. I'm a dentist. I'm

         12  a newcomer to U.S., but I've worked in a community

         13  activity for past 12 years back home. During that

         14  time I had wide exposure about dental health

         15  importance in the community, and its role, dental

         16  health role in human life.

         17                 So, out of nine years exposure, after

         18  I came to U.S., out of nine months exposure, I

         19  observed the importance, I tried to pursue the

         20  importance of dental health. I would like to suggest

         21  to you what I pursued. The oral health is a highway

         22  to general health, and meanwhile giving emphasis and

         23  importance to oral health is most important, because

         24  the oral, diagnosing oral health we can explore many

         25  health problems. Say, for example, like AIDS and
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          2  Hepatitis, and fungal diseases, and all these

          3  things. In addition to that, while diagnosing the

          4  dentist problem, usually the dentist have 100

          5  percent attention to the statement what we make,

          6  because dental pain is a very painful thing, so that

          7  makes the individual very much attentive, and that

          8  is a great opportunity to bring a good change about

          9  health care, about how to take the precaution for

         10  the future health.

         11                 And in addition to that, I've been to

         12  few governments, and some institutions, educational

         13  institutions, and there the dental camp is most

         14  important, because the children who don't have much

         15  maturity to understand the consequences of poor oral

         16  health, thereby that is one of the root of cause of

         17  future health problem, it is bringing general health

         18  problem in the future, from it is the children,

         19  because of their lifestyle, that is rare, some of

         20  their nature, some of their immaturity is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you could sum

         22  up?

         23                 MR. CHOWDAPPA: Pardon?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Could you sum up?

         25                 MR. CHOWDAPPA: Oh, yes.
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          2                 So, the dental camp in schools is

          3  most important to bring awareness for the future

          4  health. Thank you very much for the opportunity.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          6                 MR. POLENBERG: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. I'm Michael Polenberg, Director of Policy

          8  and Advocacy for the Coalition of Behavioral Health

          9  Agencies.

         10                 Very quickly, we like to ask for your

         11  continued support for restorations to a range of

         12  mental hygiene programs in neighborhoods throughout

         13  the City, as we ask you every year.

         14                 We also ask you for your continuing

         15  support to enhance two particular initiatives: the

         16  Geriatric Mental Health Initiative, to $3 million;

         17  and the Children Under Five Initiative to two and a

         18  half million dollars, and thank you for your support

         19  so far for those initiatives.

         20                 We're glad that Commissioner Frieden

         21  is taking the issue of contracts so seriously, and

         22  making it a priority over the next few years for the

         23  agency. There's been a long history of problems with

         24  contracting, particularly when contracts either

         25  shift from the State to the City or State dollars

                                                            264

          1  FINANCE, HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  flow down through the City.

          3                 We also thank you for asking the

          4  contract question that you did. It's very important

          5  that designations are made quickly by the Council

          6  and that, in turn, the Division turns the contracts

          7  around so that programs can get up and running and

          8  people who need help can get the help they need.

          9                 And we'd just like to add for the

         10  geriatric mental health contracts in particular, we

         11  hope this year there will be more flexibility for

         12  providers beyond depression screening and alcohol

         13  screening, and while those are important components

         14  of the Initiative, we hope that there will be some

         15  more flexibility for providers to offer the kind of

         16  unique programs they do for seniors with mental

         17  illness.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Polenberg. Thirty-four seconds under, and it's nice

         21  to see you back in the Chamber.

         22                 For the record, Mr. Polenberg used to

         23  work on our Finance Division staff, but he hasn't

         24  worked here for more than a year; so it's perfectly

         25  appropriate for him to come and advocate on behalf
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          2  of very good causes, and it's always a pleasure to

          3  see you.

          4                 This session of the Finance Committee

          5  is now adjourned, and we will reconvene on Monday

          6  morning at 9:00 with the Department of Homeless

          7  Services.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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